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Filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4)

Registration Statement No. 333-11938
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~~1C~, ~fl~~,~ 233, 617,100 A11~ERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES
~ nv,~~•~PRESENTING 2,336,171, 000 ORDINARY SHARES

China, Z7nicom Limited is offerzn~' .fl me~zcan depaaitmry shares representing its ordinary shares. Each ~1DS
represents 10 of our shores. This is our initial public offering'. The initial public offering' price per RDS is
UTS$I9.99, th.E equivalent of HK',~35.6'8 per slw,re baBea~ upon an exchan~'e rate of HIf'$7.79,~0 to US,$'1.00 on
June 15, QOi00.

T'h,is offe~~~~~,~' of .q.DSs is part of mglobal offering of an a.,¢~'rega,te of Q,1~59,1~7,UQ0 shares, iircluding a Song
KorLg pu.t~Eic offerings of I~L,966,000 shares.

The New York Stock Exchange hats approved the li8tirt~ of the .IDSs under the symbol "CHIT". The $one'
.K'on~ Stock Exchange has wanted approval in principle for the listing of the shares on the HKSE.

Inuesting in the A,DSs uevolves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page I3.

PxzCE US$19.99 A1v AD s

u~,a~„~
Dirtounts Proeeedi to

Priee to Publ ic and Conurwaioru China Unicorn

Per .LIDS ................................. ZIS~'19.99 IIS,~ 56' ~5~19./ f1
Per ~1DS to strmtegic investor ............... ZTS,$19.99 tIS$.Q8 tIS,$19.71
Tottil .................................... ~5,~l, 670,006, 8~9 ~S$3.~, 086,6"97 US,~/, 5J~6, 919,,~'Q

The informccti~on in thz above table excludes shires offered in the Song X'on~' public offering, with
ag~'reg'a.te proceeds to us of HK,$1,8/8,S9Q,S8.~. We have granted to the usaderwtzters the iti~'ht to purchase
up to mn additional ~6,886,905.bfDSs to cover over -allotments.

The Securities drzd Exchd»~'e Commission and state securities regulators have not dppnoved or disapproved
these securiLi,~s, or determined if this pro,4pectus is truthful or complete. Any representation, to the contrnry is
a criminal offense.

T)ae uru~ertvriters expect to deliver the .f1DSs in New York, New York on June QQ, Q000. The .gDSs are
expected to commence trading on the NYSE on June Q1, QOOiO. Y'ou rndy not be able to sell or otherwise deal
in these securities prior to the commencement of tra-dingy'.

MORGA~'~' STANLEY DEAN WITTER CHINA INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL CORPORATION
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~~ June 16, QU00
~i,
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Until July 11, 2000, all dealers that buy, sell or trade ADSs or shares, whether or not participating in this offering,
may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obligation to deliver a prospecuis when
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solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

A copy of this prospectus, having attached to it the written consents specified under the section headed "Experts"
on page 135, has been registered by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong under Section 38D of the Companies
Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Hong Kong Registrar of Companies, the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility as to the contents of this document.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

China Unicorn Limited

We are a fast growing integrated provider of telecommunications services in China, offering a wide range
of telecommunications services including cellular, paging, long distance, data and Internet services.

• We had a total of 4.2 million cellular subscribers at the end of 1999, representing a significant increase
from approximately 338,900 at the end of 1997. At the end of 1999 we had a market share of 14.2% in
our service areas. We are the second largest cellular services provider in China after China Mobile,
which had 25.1 million cellular subscribers and a mazket share of 85.8% in our service areas at the end
of 1999.

• We are the largest paging operator in China with 43.5 million paging subscribers at the end of 1999,
representing a mazket share of 59.0%. The rest of the paging services market in China is highly
fragmented, comprising a large number of small operators each having a market share of less than 5%.

• We have sold more than 140 million minutes of Internet protocol telephony services, since we launched
our trial Internet protocol telephony services in June 1999. We also launched our domesuc and
intemaaonal long distance services through the public switched telephone network in. 25 major cities
in China in April 2000.

• We currently offer data services to 50 cities in China. We plan to expand the range of our data services
to include leased line, frame relay, asynchronous transfer mode and virtual private network services.
and Internet services, including Internet access and web hosting services, in 220 cities in China by the
end of 2000.

We operate an advanced telecommunications network system to support our integrated opera[ions. The
system is based on a nationwide broadband fiber optic transmission network. This nationwide broadband fiber
optic transmission network uses a self healing network architecture that allows for instantaneous rerouting of
signals in the event of a fiber cut This fiber optic transmission network also utilizes a technology that can
increase transmission capacity by transmitting signals through multiple wavelengths through a single fiber. This
fiber optic transmission ne[work, together with our core switching network, serves as the common platform to
support our cellulaz, paging, long distance, data and Internet operations. We plan to extend the coverage of our
fiber optic network from 25 cities in China at the end of 1999, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and
other major cities, to 180 cities by the end of 2000.

Business Strategy

Qur key business objective is to become the leading provider of advanced integrated telecommunications
services in China. We have developed the following business strategies to pursue this business objective.

General

• target high growth, high margin areas of China's telecommunications industry,

• build on our strength as an integrated provider of telecommunications services in China,

• deploy a nationwide advanced broadband fiber optic network as the common infrastructure for our
integrated operations,

• re -engineer ourselves as acustomer-oriented organization,
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Cellular

~ further expand capacity and coverage and enhance the quality of our cellular network,

• expand pre -paid services and introduce wireless data and Internet services,

Paging

• increase paging penetration in cents! and western provinces and in rural areas,

• expand wireless data services to paging subscribers using pagers and other wireless handheld devices,

Long Distance, Data and Internet

• target high usage business customers,

• capture a significant share of China's long distance telephony market by providing high qualit}~ and
cost-effective telephony services, and

• rapidly develop our Internet business.

Our principal executive office is located at 10.121E Office Tower 1, Henderson Center, 18 Jian Guo Men
Nei Avenue, Beijing, China, and our telephone number there is (8610) 6518-1800.

4
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'T~ GLOBAL OFFERING

Global Offering .................. 2,459,127,000 shares, including shares represented by ADSs,
consisting of the U.S. offering, the European offering, [he Asia
offering and the Hong Kong public offering. Shares may be
delivered instead of ADSs at the oprion of purchasers in the U.S.
offering, the European offering and the Asia offering.

U.S. Offering .................... 78,697,300 ADSs in the United States and Canada.

European Offering ............... 67,454,700 ADSs in Europe.

Asia Offering ................... 87,465,100 ADSs outside the United States, Canada and Europe,
including to professional and institutional investors in Hong Kong.

Hong Kong Public Offering ........ 122,956,000 shares offered to the public in Hong Kong, conditional
upon the listing committee of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
granting the listing of and permission to deal in the shaves. To the
extent that the Hong Kong public offering is oversubscribed by 15,
50 and 100 times, 61,478,525, 184,434,875 and 368,864,400 shares
will respectively be reallocated from any or all of the U.S.,
European and Asia offerings to the Hong Kong public offering.

ADSs .......................... Each ADS represents 10 shares that will be held by The Bank of
New York, as depositary. The ADSs will be evidenced by American
depositary receipts or ADRs.

Over -allotment Option ............ 36,886,905 ADSs, representing 368,869,050 shares, exercisable by
the joint giobal coordinators on behalf of the U.S. underwriters,
European underwriters and Asia underwriters. Unless we state
otherwise, the information in this prospectus does no[ take into
account the possible sale of these additional ADSs.

Price per ADS or Share in the U.5.,
European and Asia Offerings ....... US$19.99 per ADS or HK$15.58 per share.

Price per share in the Hong Kong
Public Offering .................. The initial public offering price per share in the Hong Kong public

offering, when increased by a I °Jo brokerage fee and a .010% Hong
Kong Stock Exchange transaction levy payable by purchasers, is
effectively equivalent to the initial public offering price per ADS in
the U.S., European and Asia offerings, based on an exchange rate of
HK$7.7940 — US$1.00 and adjusted for the ratio of 10 shares per
ADS.
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Timing of Global Offering ......... The following is a tentative timetable of various events in the €;lobal
offering:

Hong Kong public offering
commences ............ June 13, 2000, Hong Kong time

Hong Kong public offering
closes ................ June 16, 2000, Hong Kong time

Pricing of global offering.... tune 16, 2000, Hong Kong dme
Final allocation of shares

made ................. June 20, 2000, Hong Kong time
Trading of ADSs commences

on the New York Stock
Exchange ............. June 21, 2000, New York time

Trading of shares commences
on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange ............. June 22, 2000, Hong Kong time

Three-day Gap between Pricing and
'h~ading of Shares ................. The shares offered in the global offering will not commence tr~.ding

on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange until all of the conditions
contained in the underwriting agreement for the Hong Kong public
offering have been satisfied, which is expected to be three Fiong
Kong business days after the date of pricing of the shares. The PDSs
offered in the offering are expected to commence trading ors. the
New York Stock Exchange on the business day in New 'York
immediately preceding the day when wading of the shares
commences on [he Hong Kong Stock Exchange. You may nc~t be
able to sell or otherwise deal in the shares or ADSs prior tc the
commencement of trading on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange o.r the
New York Stock Exchange.

Use of Proceeds .................. We estimate that the aggregate net proceeds to us from the gl ~ba]
offering will be approximately US$4,764 million. We intend to
invest these nei proceeds to expand and upgrade our cellular, gong
distance and data networks, as well as our fiber optic transmission
network. To the extent that the net proceeds of the global offering
are not immediately applied for the above purposes, we inten i to
deposit the proceeds into interest bearing bank accounu or to invest
in short term invesanent grade debt securities. See "Use of
Proceeds."

Shares outstanding after the Global
Offering ....................... 12,184,127,020 shares, including shares represented by A.DSs.
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SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table seu forth our summary historical income statement data for the years ended
December 31, 1996, 1997, 1998 and 1999 and our summary historical balance sheet data as of December 31,
1996, 1997, 1998 and 1999. We have derived the summary historical income statement data for the year ended
December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 and the summary historical balance sheet data as of December 31, 1997,
1998 and 1999 from our audited financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong, or Hong Kong GAAP. We have derived the summary historical
income statement data for the yeaz ended December 31, 1996 and the summary historical balance sheet data as
of December 31, 1996 fmm our unaudited financial statements, which have also been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong GAAP. These financial statements and information relate to historical results of operations and
financial positions of the businesses in which Unicorn Group was previously engaged and which we have
assumed under the restructuring of these businesses in contemplation of this offering. For a discussion of material
differences between generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong and in the United States, see Note
31 to the financial statements presented in this prospectus beginning on page F-1.

Year Ended December 31,

19% 1997 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMS RMB US$
(t€naudited)

(in millions, except per share and per ADS information)
Income Statement Data:
Hong Kong GAAP
Revenue

Cellular ................................... 295 810 2,12b 5,314 642
Paging .................... ................ 5,450 7.273 8,423 9,047 1,093
Long distance telephony and data ................  - - - ?9 10

Total services revenue ...... . ...... . ........ 5,745 8,083 10,549 14,440 1.745
Sales of SIM cards, handsets and pagers ...........  5,243 5,291 3,480 3,010 363

Total revenue ............................. 10,988 13,374 14,029 17,450 2,108

Operating income ............................. 1,804 1,616 1,352 2,816 340
Income before minority interests .................. 1,262 851 564 t ,203 145
Netincome ..................................  945 599 372 839 101

-Net income per share(i) .....................  0.10 0.06 0.04 0.09 0.01

-Net income per ADS(2) .....................  0.97 0.62 0.38 0.86 0.10

US GAAP
Revenue .................................... 10,854 13,152 13,598 16,952 2,048
Operating income ............ ....... .... 1,674 1,407 949 2,497 302
Income from continuing operations before extraordinary

items and minority interests .................... 1,134 b93 329 1,252 160
Extraordinary item(3) ........................ - - - 151 27
Income before minority interests .................. 1,134 643 329 1,101 133
Net income .................................  817 441 137 737 89

-Net income per share(1) .....................  0.08 0.05 0.01 0.08 0.01

-Net income per ADS(2) ................... . . 0.84 0.45 0.14 0.76 0.10

(1) Net income per share for the yeaz ended December 31, 1999 set forth above has been computed by dividing
net income by the number of shares outstanding following our restructuring but before this offering.

{2) Net income per ADS for those periods has been computed by multip3ying net income per shaze by l0, which
is the number of shares represented by each ADS.

(3) Loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements.
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As of December 31,

1996 1997 1998 1999 1999

Rl1'!B RMB RMB RMB US$
(unaudited)

(in mDlions)
Balance Sheet Data:

Hong Kong GAAP
Cash and cash equivalents . ............... . ........ 1,164 1,497 4,337 6,002 725
Total assets .................................... 11,943 17,470 30,156 45,366 .1,479
Short-term debt ................................. 169 380 2,276 7,894 953
Long-term debt ................................. 2,680 5,944 9.372 12,234 f ,478
Owner's equity ................................. 4,303 5,176 6,408 8,538 1,031

US GAAP
Total assets .................................... 11,943 17,481 30,206 45,504 :>,496
Owner's equity ............................. . ... 4,143 4,858 5,859 7,904 955

Year Ended December 31,

1996 1997 1998 1999 f999

RMB RMB RMB RMB US$
(unaudited)

(ia millions)
Other Financial Data:

Hong Kong GAAP
Capital expenditures .............................. (4,325) (4,598) (8.290) (12.697) (],534)
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... 2,980 2,152 5,400 6,856 828
Net cash used in return on investments and servicing of

finance ...................................... (84) (552} (1,581) (1.806) (218)
Taxation paid ................................... (499) {550) (365) (538) (65)
Net cash used in investing activities . ................. (4,332) (4,781) (8,402) (13,930) (] ,682)
Net cash provided by financing activities .............. 2,246 4,064 7,788 1 ] ,084 1,339
Adjusted EBITDA(1) ............................. 2,497 2,9]6 3,6]3 6,507 786

US GAAP
Capital expenditures .............................. (4,325) (4,598) (8,290) (12,697) (1,534)
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... 2,397 1,463 4,804 5,474 661
Net cash used in investing activities ................. . (4,332} (4,781) (8,402) (13,930) (1.682)
Net cash provided by financing activities ...... . ....... 2,246 3,652 6,438 10,121 1.222
Adjusted EBI'I'DA{1) ............................. 2,367 2,749 3,339 6,317 763

(1) Adjusted EBITDA set forth above represents our income before net financial charges, other expenses,
taxation, depreciation and amortization and before loss arising from terminations of China-China-Fon:ign
arrangements. Loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements both under Hong Kong
GAAP and US GAAP for the year ended December 31, 1999 was RMB 224 million. There was no ina~me
(loss) from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangemenu for the years prior to the year erded
December 31, 1999. EBITDA is commonly used in the telecommunications industry to analyze companies
on the basis of operating performance. You should not construe it as a substitute for operating income, net
income or cash flows from operating activities for purposes of analyzing our operating performance,
financial position and cash flows. Our adjusted EBITDA as described in this prospectus is not necess~~rily
comparable with similarly titled measures for other companies.
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SUMMARY UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
We have made pro forma adjustments to reflect the significant arrangemenu entered into between Unicorn

Group and us effective as of April 21, 2000, as well as other changes in relation to our restructuring in
contemplation of the global offering. These arrangements and changes include refinancing of the China -China -
Foreign arrangements, as discussed in the section entitled "Restructuring," the effect of changes regarding
taxation of connection fees, and a service agreement relating to the purchase of subscriber identity module cards
used in handsets, commonly known as SIM cards and other telephone calling cards entered into by us and
Unicorn Group.

We expect that these arrangements and changes will have a material impact on our overall results of
operations. Therefore, we have prepared the following summary unaudited pro forma information to supplement
our summary historical financial information.

We derived the following summary unaudited pto forma income statement data for the year ended December 31,
1999 from the unaudited pro forma statements of income included in this prospectus. Although our pm forma financial
information is unaudited, we believe that taus inforniadon c+eflects the significant adjustrnents necessary to show the
effects of the changes described in the paragraphs below as if such changes had been implemented on January 1, 1999.

Year Ended December 31, 1999

Unaudited
Pro forma Pro

Historical Adjustments forma
RMB RMB RMB

(ia mUUons, except per share and per
ADS information)

HK GAAP
Revenue ................................................. 17,450 17,450
Operating expenses ........................................ 14,634 (98) (3} 14.536
Operating income .......................................... 2,816 2.914
Other expense:

Net financial charges ...................................... 703 (535) (4)(a) 755
587 (4)(b)

Loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangemenu .. 224 224
Other expenses,net .......................................  130 130

Income before taxation and minority interests ........... . ......... 1,759 1,805
Ta~cadon ................................................. 556 222 (5) 793

15 (6)
Income before minority interests ............................... I ,203 1,012
Minority interests .... . .....................................  3b4 364
Net income ..............................................  839 648

Net income per share(l) .....................................  0.09 0.07

Net income per ADS(2) .....................................  0.86 0.67

US GAAP ('n
Total c~evenue ........................................... . . 17,450 (498) 16,952
Total operating expenses ..................................... 14,536 (179) 14,357
Operating income .......................................... 2,914 (319) 2,595
Loss from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements ......... 224 (224) —
Other expenses, net ........................................ 130 (130) —
Taxation ................................................. 793 (14) 779
Income from continuing operations (after minority interest) ........... 648 49 697
Income from continuing operations per share(1) .................... 0.07 0.07
Income from continuing operations per ADS(2) .................... 0.67 0.72
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(1) Net income per share for the year ended December 31, 1999 set forth above has been computed by dividing net
income by the number of shares outstanding following our reswcturing but before this offering.

(2) Net income per ADS for those periods has been computed by multiplying net income per share by 10. Nhich is
the number of shares represented by each ADS.

(3) To reflect reduction of purchase costs for SIIvi cards, Internet protocol telephone cards and prepaid rech ~rgeable
cards paid to Unicorn Xingye Science and Technology Trade Co. Ltd., a 90°lo subsidiary of Unicorn Grolp, as if
our current pricing policy with them had been in effect as of January 1, 1999. Under a services agreement entered
into between Unicorn Group and us, charges for the supply of these cards will be based on the actual cost to
Unicorn Xingye of supplying the cards plus a margin over cost The margin shall be agreed between the. parties
from time to time but in any case shall not exceed 20°!0, and is subject to appropria[e volume discounts.

(4) The interest expenses attributable to the funding for China -China -Foreign arrangements would not have been
incurred for the year ended December 31, 1999 if the new bank borrowings bad been in existence on Ja~~uary 1,
1999. Accordingly, we have made the following pro forma adjustments.

(a) To reverse the interest expenses attributable to all the outstanding loans from China-China-Forei;;n joint
ventures, which amounted to approximately RMB 6,200 million.

(b) To record the interest expenses attributable to new bank loans borrowed by us, which amounted to
approximately RMB 9,458 million, as if our new debt structure had been in existence since January '., 1999.
The interest expense attributable to the new borrowings is determined based on the total new debts bc~nowed
by us and the currently prevailing interest rate of 6.21% applicable to long-term debt exceeding five ;€ears in
the People's Republic of China The interest expense would vary by approximately RMB 12 million if there
was a .125% variance in the assumed prevailing interest rate of 6.21%.

(5) To record additional tax expense attributable to connection fees revenue earned from cellulaz services (which
amounted to RMB 674 million for the year ended December 31, 1999} as if the connection fees had been subject
to enterprise income tax since January 1, 1999. Prior to our res~ucturing in contemplation of this offering,
connection fees received from subscribers were not subject to enterprise income ta~c. According to an official
pronouncement of the Ministry of Finance, connection fees received by us after our restructuring will be taxable
at the standard income tax rate of 33% applicable to China Unicorn Corporation Limited.

(6) To record the tax effect of the above pm forma adjustments, where applicable.

(7) To reflect the historical US GAA.P adjustments as described in Note 31 to the Financial Statements.

I~7
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SUMMARY OPERATIIVG AND OTI~R DATA

The following table sets forth Chinese demographic and economic data, Chinese telecommunications
market data and operating and other data relating to our cellular and paging operations as of and for the years
ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999.

As of and for the Year
Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999

Chinese Demographic and Economic Data(1):
Population (in millions} ............................................. 1,236 1,248 1,259
GDP per capita (RMB) ..................... . . ...................... 6,053 6,392 6.517
Combined population of our cellular service areas (in millions)(3? .............. 570 574 578
Chinese Telecommunications Market Data(2):
Fixed line telephony

Subscribers (in millions) ........................................... 70.3 87.4 108.8
Penetration(4) .................................................. 5.7% 7.0% 8.6°l0
Long distance call minutes (in billions):

Domestic .................................................... 44.3 52.1 58.5
Intemational(5) ................................................ 1.6 1.7 1.7

Cellular
Subscribers (in millions)(6) ......................................... 13.7 25.0 43.2
Penetration(4} .................................................. 1.1% 2.0% 3.4%

Paging
Subscribers (in millions) ....... . ................................... 47.2 61.3 73.7
Penetration(4) ............................. . .................... 3.8% 4.9% 5.9%

Internet
Users (in millions) ............... . ............................. 1.4 2.4 3.8
Penetration{4) .................................................. .1% .2% .3%

Cellular Operating Data:
Our cellular subscribers (in thousands) .................................. 338.9 1,188.8 4,154.5
Cellulaz penetration in our service areas(7) ................. . ............. 1.7% 2.9°l0 5.1%
Our estimated market share in our service areas(8) ......................... 3.6% 7.1% 14.2%
Average annual churn rate(9) ......................................... 10.090 11.2% 11.Oao
Average minutes of use per subscriber per month(10) . . ..................... 293.8 211.5 200.2
Average revenue per subscriber per month (RMB)(11) ...................... 317.4 231.9 165.8
Paging Operating Data:
Our paging subscribers (in millions) .................................... 32.5 39.1 43.5
Our market share(12) ............................................... 68.9°l0 63,8°1c 59.0%
Average revenue per subscriber per month(13) (RMB) ...................... 20.9 19.6 18.3

(1) Source: National Statistical Bureau.

(2) Source: Muus~y of Information Industry, except for Internet data, which are sourced from International
Data Corporation.

(3} T'he combined population of our cellulaz services area is determined by adding the population of each of
the twelve provinces or municipalities in our service areas. The population as of December 31, 1949 for
each of the twelve provinces or municipalities is estimated by multiplying that population as of December
31, 1998 by the natural growth rate of that population for 1998 as published by the National Statistical
Bureau.

(4) Determined by dividing the number of subscribers or lsers by the population of China.
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(5) Includes calls to Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

(6) Except for 1999, the number of subscribers are estimated by adding the number of China Mobile's cellular
subscribers as published by the Ministry of Information Industry to the number of Unicorn Group's c~:llulaz
subscribers based on Unicorn Group's records.

(7) Determined by dividing the number of cellular subscribers in our service areas by the combined population
of our service areas.

(8) Determined by dividing the number of our cellular subscribers by the total number of cellular subscribers in
our service areas.

(9) Chum rate is the rate of subscriber disconnections from our cellular network, which we have determined by
dividing the sum of voluntary and involuntary deactivations during the period by the average of the number
of our subscribers on the first and lase days of the period.

(] 0) Average minutes of usage per subscriber per month is calculated by:

• dividing the total minutes of usage during the period by the average of the number of our subsc~bers
on the first and last days of the period and

• dividing the result by the number of months in the relevant period.

(l 1) Average revenue per subscriber per month is calculated by:

• dividing the sum of cellulaz services revenue during the relevant period by the average of the number
of our subscribers on the first and last days of the period; and

• dividing the result by the number of months in the period.

(12) Determined by dividing the number of our paging subscribers by the number of paging subscribers in China.

(13) Average revenge per subscriber per month is calculated by:

• dividing the sum of paging services revenue during the relevant period by the average of the number
of our subscribers on the first and last days of the period and

• dividing the result by the number of months in the period.
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the asks described below before making an investment decision. The trading
price of the ADSs and our shares could decline due to these risks and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Relating to Unicorn

New entrants in the telecommunications industry in China may intensify industry competition and
adversely aJj'ect our results of operations.

Current Chinese government policy concerning the telecommunications sector is to encourage increased
competition. We therefore expect the State Council to approve additional domestic telecommunications service
providers in the future that will compete against us. In addition, China recently concluded negotiations of the
major terms for its envy into the World Trade Organization with a number of countries including the United
States. As a result, we expect the Chinese government to gradually reduce current restrictions on foreign
ownership in the telecommunications industry. This could lead to the eventual opening of the Chinese
telecommunications market to foreign investors and operators and could result in or accelerate the issue of neap
telecommunications service licenses. Increased competition from our existing competitors and the introduction
of additional competition through new entrants in our lines of business could adversely affect our results of
operations through, among other factors, decline in the rate of subscriber growth, decrease in tariff rates and
increase in selling and Qromotional expenses.

Intensified corripetilion from China Mobile and China Telecone niay limit our growth and adversely
impact our profuability.

Our cellulaz business currently faces intense competition from China Mobile. In addition, our long distance,
data and Internet services also face intense competition from China Telecom. China Mobile and China Telecom
have certain competitive advantages over us in their respective businesses in terms of geographic coverage,
financial resources and brand recognition. Intensified competition from China Mobile and China Telecom may
lead to loss of subscribers, lower revenue per subscriber, slower growth in total subscribers or increased new
subscriber acquisition cost, and thus harm our profitability.

Failure or inability to expand our network in a titieely and e,~j`'eclive manner could hinder the grow[h of
our businesses.

The future growth of our businesses depends on whether we can expand capacity and improve the quality
of our networks to accommodate more customers and their additional demands. Failure or inability to implement
our expansion plan in a timely and effective manner could hinder the growth of our businesses. Our network
expansion plan is subject to uncertainties which could delay the introduction of our services in some areas and
increase the cost of our network construction. The principal uncertainties include:

~ our ability to obtain relevant government approvals for major investment projecu,

• our ability to negotiate interconnection arrangements between our new networks and other operators
on a timely basis and on acceptable terms, and

• [he adequacy of supplies of network equipment, including base stations and switches, on reasonable
commercial terms.

All of our major projects, including network expansion projects, require prior approval from the State
Development Planning Commission. Projects with total capital investrnent in excess of RMB 200 million also
require prior approval from the State Council. In the past these approvals have in some cases taken a long period
of time to obtain, and have caused delays in our expansion and development plans. We have also experienced
delays in our cellular expansion plans due to shortages of equipment supplies as well as prolonged negotiations
with China Mobile and China Telecom for interconnection arrangements.

]3
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If the Chinese government terminates or materially reduces its preferential treatment available to ris, we
niay lase some of orer co~rtpetitive advantages in the Chinese telecommunications industry.

As a result of the Chinese government's policy to promote orderly competition in the telecommunications
industry, we currently receive preferential treatment from the Chinese government that are intended to make it
easier for us to compete with China Mobile and China Telecom. For example, we are pernutted to set cf:llular
and long distance telephony service tariffs at levels of up to ld% below the state guidance rates. In 1999, the
regulatory authorities further allowed us to vary our cellular tariffs by up to 20% below the guidance rates in
areas where China Mobile offers local analog cellular services, which have lower basic monthly fees and usage
charges. In February 2000, we also obtained approval from the Chinese government to set various categories of
long distance telephone tariffs at levels between 17% and 25% below the state guidance rates during the initial
four -month period of our long distance telephony operation and up to 10% below such rates after the initial four -
month period. In April 2000, we obtained approval from the Chinese government to set the tariffs cf our
international long distance telephony services at levels 2096 below the state guidance rates for one year. This
preferential treatment has helped us capture a significant number of cellular and long distance subscribers by
allowing us to market our services a[ rates below those of our competitors. We expect that the Ch~.inese
government will terminate this preferential treatment if and when our market share approaches the level of +~hina
Mobile and China Telecom. In that event, we may not be able to offer discounted rates and/or the Crinese
government may require us to provide universal service, each of which in taro could adversely affect our i'uture
revenues and results of operations.

Since our businesses depend on interconnection with other operators' networks, disruption in
interconnections with those networks could jeopardize our operations.

Our cellular and long distance telephony services, like those of other operators, depend on interconnection
with China Telecom's local network and networks of other operators. Any disruption of the interconnection
arrangements as a result of natural evenu, accidents or for regulatory, technological, competitive or otter re;~sons
could seriously jeopazdize our operations and lead to service disruptions.

Adverse changes in the terms of interconnection agreements with China Telecom or failure to reach
agreemenu oR acceptable terms with other operators' networks could result in higher interconnectirn or
other operating expenses and hinder the planned expansion of our businesses.

Adverse changes in the terms of our interconnection agreements with China Telecom or failure to reach
agreemenu on acceptable terms with other operators' networks could result in higher interconnection or ~xher
operating expenses. In addition, the terms of future interconnection agreements may not be commercially
acceptable to us.

In addition, in many cases we do not have direct connectivity with our customers' premises. In these cases
we will need to enter into agreemenu with the owners of telephone and cable lines to obtain access to our
customers' premises. These owners are typically local fixed -line telephony and cable companies. If we are ur..able
[o reach agreement on acceptable terms with those owners, the planned expansion of our businesses wi:l be
hindered and we may not be able tc compete successfully in our businesses.

Our limited spectrum allocations may impose constraints on the expansion of our cellular networks.

Since specuvm allocated to a network operator in China is not transferable without prior government
approvals, the capacity of our cellular network is limited by the amount of spectrum the Chinese government
al]ocates to us. The Chinese government has allocated 6 MHz in the 900 MHz frequency band and 10 MH:z in
the 1800 MHz frequency band to our global system for mobile communication, commonly referred to as GSM,
cellu]ar network. The Chinese government has advised us that it will not make any further allocation in the 900
MHz frequency band. While we believe our spectrum allocations are currently sufficient to accommodate our
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operations and anticipated growth in subscribers in the near future, we may need additional spectrum in the future
to accommodate future subscriber growth or to develop cellular services using third generation cellular
technology. However, in the future, the Chinese government may not allocate additional spectrum to us on
acceptable terms, or at all. Furthermore, any increase in spectrum fees by the Chinese government in Che future
could increase our operating expenses.

We may be unable to obtain adequate financing to fund our sabstaRtial capita! requirements.

We expect to require substantial financing to broaden the existing range of our telecommunications services
and develop new services. We plan to invest approximately RMB 99.8 billion to expand and upgrade our cellular,
long distance and data networks from 2000 to 2002. This capital requirement will substantially exceed the nee
proceeds of this offering. We expect to finance these expenditures with our cash on hand, cash generated from
future operations, the proceeds of this offering, bank borrowings and other external financing. However, adequate
financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If adequate financing is not available, our
business prospecu will be adversely affected.

Our ability to obtain financing mainly depends on a number of factors, including:

• our financial position,

~ the condition of the economy and the telecommunications market in China,

• the cost of financing and conditions in financial markeu, and

• the issuance of retevant government approvals.

Unicorn Group, as our controlling shareholder, can exert inft'uence on us and could cause us to make
decisions ar enter i~tto trartsaclions that may rtot always be in the best interests of our other shareholders.

Assuming the underwriters do not exercise any of their over -allotment options, Unicorn Group wil]
effectively own an aggregate of 79.8% of our share capital upon the completion of the global offering. Assuming
the underwriters exercise their over -allotment options in full, Unicorn Group will effectively own an aggregate
of 77.5% of our share capital. As our largest shareholder, it will be able to influence our major business decisions,
including our expansion and investment decisions, by iu control of our board of directors. The interesu of
Unicorn Group as our majority shareholder could conflict with the interests of the other holders of our shares
and ADSs.

Unicorn Group and some of its branches and subsidiaries provide services to us and our branches and
subsidiaries. These services include leasing of satellite transmission capacity, providing intemationa] gateway
services, supplying SIM cards and calling cards and providing equipment procurement services. There are also
certain services which we provide to each other. These include services relating to interconnection and roaming
arrangements, sales agency and collection services, the leasing of transmission line capacity and the provision of
premises. The interests of Unicorn Group and our interests in these transactions may conflict. See "Relationship
with Unicorn Group."

We compete against another paging company owned by our controlling shareholder. Our controlling
shareholder may use its ability to influence our paging business in a manner that may not be in the best
interests of our other shareholders.

Our controlling shareholder, Unicorn Group, holds a controlling interest in a nationwide paging company
operating under the marketing name Unicorn Paging, which competes directly with our nationwide paging
business operating under the marketing name Unicorn Guoxin. As of the end of 1999, Unicorn Paging had 3.2
million subscribers, compared with 43.5 million subscribers of Guoxin. Unicorn Group has the ability to
influence our business decisions in relation to Guoxin through its control of our board of directors and its votes
as our majority shareholder. Unicorn Group has the abiIiry to cause us to enter into transactions and adopt
business actions that are not in our best interests.
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Our controlling shareholder has the right to provide code division multiple access cellular telephony
services in China. Our controlling shareholder may use its ability to influence our cellular business ire a
manner that may not be in the best interests of our other shareholders.

Our controlling shareholder, Unicorn Group, has the right to operate a nauonwide cellular services b~:siness
using code division multiple access technology. If this business is developed by our parent and we do not or are
unable to exercise our option to purchase this business fmm our parent, this code division multiple access
business of our parent could compete directly with our global system for mobile communication c:liulaz
business. Unicorn Group has the ability to influence oar business decisions in relation to our global system for
mobile communication business through its control of our board of directors and its votes as our m;yority
shazeholder. Unicorn Group has the ability to cause ns to enter into transactions and adopt business actions that
are not in our best interests. See "Relationship with Unicorn Group—Agreements relating to the Restructuring
and this Offering—ttie Reorganizarion Agreement"

Risks Relating to the Telecommunications Industry in China

Extensive government regulation of the telecommunications industry in China may constrain our
flexibility to respond to market coRdilions or competition or changes in our cost structure.

The Chinese government regulates many aspecu of the telecommunications industry in Cliina. The
extensive regulatory structure under which we operate, possible future changes in regulations and policies and
uncertainties with respect to their implementation, could constrain our flexibility to respond to market conditions
and competition or changes in our cost structure, and thereby adversely affect the interests of our shareholders.
For example, the Chinese government encourages purchases of equipment from domestic manufacturers or
through domestic purchasing agents. The cost of purchasing from these manufacturers or agents may be t-.igher
than we could obtain otherwise. Consequently, our results of operations could be adversely affected if we are
required to purchase equipment from these manufacturers or agents. In addition, the telecommunications inclusuy
in China is subject to extensive pricing regulations. The Chinese government sets state guidance rates for various
telecommunications services. If it materially reduces these rates, the required reduction in the rates we c:'iarge
could adversely affect the profitability of our businesses.

The growth of the paging industry has slowed down which in turn may limit the growth of our pcging
business.

In recent years, the growth of the paging industry in China has slowed down, compared to the high growth
rates in the past. This industry trend may limit the growth of our paging business. In addition to competition
from paging service providers, our paging business faces increasing competition from providers of cellulaz
services and other telecommunications services, which has contributed in part to the slower paging subscriber
growth in China in recent years, particularly in wban areas.

Risks Relating to the People's Republic of China

Substantially all of our assets are located in the People's Republic of China and substantially all 01' our
revenue is sourced from China. Accordingly, our results of operations, financial position and prospecu aze su ~jecc
to a significant degree to the economic, political and legal developments of the People's Republic of China.

Devaluation of the Renminbi could adversely afj`'ect our finarteial results and positions.

Although the official exchange rate for the conversion of Renminbi to U.S. dollars has been stable, wit}i the
Renminbi appreciating slightly against the U.S. dollar in recent years, the exchange rate of the Renminbi may
become volatile against the U.S. dollar or other currencies in the future.

Substantially all of our revenues and operating expenses are denominated in Renminbi, while some of our
telecommunications equipment purchases are denominated in foreign cwrencies. Any future Renrr.inbi
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devaluations could increase our equipment acquisition costs. This could in turn raise ow costs of operations and
harm our profitability. Any devaluation of the Renminbi may adversely affect the value of any dividends payable
on our shares and ADSs in foreign currency terms.

If the Chinese govern~neret revues the current regulations allowing a foreign investment enterprise to pay
foreign exchange in current account transactions, our subsidiary's ability to satisfy its foreign exchange
obligations may be restricted

The ability of our wholly owned subsidiary, China Unicorn Corporation Limited, to satisfy its foreign
exchange obligations and to pay dividends to us depends on existing and future exchange control regulavons in
China. The Renminbi is currently convertible under the current account, which includes trade and service related
foreign exchange transactions. Renminbi currently cannot be converted under the capital account, which includes
foreign direct investment. China Unicorn Corporation Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary that holds
substantially all of our assets, is a foreign investment enterprise. This foreign investment enterprise s[atus will
allow it to purchase foreign exchange at designated foreign exchange banks for settlement of current account
transactions without the approval of the State Administration for Foreign Exchange. These cnnent account
transactions include payment of dividends. However, the relevant Chinese government authorities may in the
future limit or eliminate the authorizations for a foreign investment enterprise to retain its foreign exchange to
satisfy iu foreign exchange obligations or to pay dividends in the future. Furthermore, the foreign exchange
vansactions of this subsidiary under the capital account still require approvals from the State Administration for
Foreign Exchange. This requirement affects our subsidiary's ability to obtain foreign exchange through debt or
equity financing, including by means of loans or capital contributions from us.

The Chinese legal system embodies uncertainties which could limit the legal protections available to
foreign investors.

The Chinese legal system is a civil ]aw system based on written statutes. Unlike common law systems, it is
a system in which decided legal cases have little precedential value. The Chinese legal system may not afford
the same legal protection to investors as in the United States or elsewhere. China Unicorn Corporation Limited,
our wholly owned subsidiary operating in China, is generally subject to laws and regulations applicable to foreign
investment in China, as well as laws and regulations applicable to wholly foreign owned enterprises. These laws,
regulations and legal requirements are relatively recent Their interpretation and enforcement involve
uncertainties. These uncertainries could limit the legal protections available to foreign investors.

Risks Relating to the ADSs and the Shares

An active trading market for our shares and ADSs may not develop and their trading prices may fluctuate
significantly.

If an active public market for our shares or ADSs does not develop after the global offering, the market
price and liquidity of our shares and ADSs may be adversely affected. Prior to the global offering there has been
no public market for our shares or ADSs. Although applicable stock exchange rules may require underwriters or
other brokers to make a mazket for our shares or ADSs fot a limited period fallowing the global offering, a liquid
public market for either our shares or ADSs may not develop or be sustained.

Our actruil financial results could vary materially front the prospective financial injormadon contained
in Zhu prospectus.

The financial projections included under the section entitled "Prospecrive Financial Information" represent
our estimate of the results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2000. The projections are based upon
a number of assumptions, some of which may not materialize. Also, unanticipated events could adversely affect
the actual resulu that we achieve in 2000. Consequently, our actual resulu may vary materially from these
projections. You shoald not unduly rely on these projections. Although we will become a reporting company
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after the global offering and have ongoing disclosure obligations under U.S. federal securities laws, we Rio not
intend to update or otherwise revise the projections in this prospectus to reflect events or circumstances after the
date of this prospectus or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. We have prepared the projections in
accordance wish customary practice in securities offerings in Hong Kong but not in compliance with published
guidelines of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the American Institute of Certified ;?ublic
Accountants. Our independent auditors have not audited the projections.

Since there will be athree-day time gap between pricing and trading of the shares aid ADSs offered in
this offering, shareholders acrd ADS holders are subject to the risk that the trading prices of our shares
and ADSs could faU during the period before trading oJthe shares raay begin.

The initial price to the public of the shares and ADSs sold in this offering will be deternuned on the date of
pricing. However, the shares will not commence wading on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange until they are
delivered, which is expected to be three Hong Kong business days after the pricing date. Trading of ADSs on
the NYSE will not commence until one day prior to commencement of trading of the shares on the HKSE. As a
result, investors may not be able to sell or otherwise deal in the shares or ADSs during such period. Accordingly,
shareholders and ADS holders are subject to the risk that the trading prices of our shares and ADSs coald fall
before trading begins.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares or ADSs in the public market, or the perception that such sales
pray occur, could adversely a,~''ect tke prevailing market price of the shares and ADSs.

Upon completion of this offering, the shales and ADSs sold in this offering will be freely tradeable in the
United States without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, except for shazes held by us or
our affiliates, as such term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act In addition, other than the six month
restrictions under Rule 10.07 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the 180-day restrictions under Icckup
agreements with the underwriters after the date of this prospectus, China Unicorn (BVI) Limited can sell its
shares publicly in the United States, Hong Kong or elsewhere by causing us to file a registration statement or
otherwise. Also, in connection with terminations of China-China-Forei~ arrangements, we have agreed to Issue
warrants which are exercisable after six months following the global offering and the shazes issuable ~~pon
exercise of those wazranu will be freely tradeable. While we are not aware of any plans by China Unicorn (3 VI)
Limited or the warrant holders to dispose of significant amounts of shares or ADSs, we cannot provide any
assurance that any of them will not dispose of their shares or ADSs in the future. Sales of substantial amounts of
shares or ADSs in the public mazket, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the
prevailing market price of the shares and ADSs. See "Shares Eligible for Future Sale."
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward -looking statemenu, including statements regarding, among ocher items:

• our business and operating strategy,

• our network expansion plans,

• our operations,

• our financial condition,

• the industry regulawry environment, and

• future developmenu in the telecommunications industry in China.

These forward -looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, some of which are
beyond our control. Actual resulu may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward -
looking statements. Factors that could cause differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed under
"Risk Factors." Although we will become a reporting company after the gioba] offering and have ongoing
disclosure obligations under U.S. federal securities laws, we are not undertaking to publicly update or revise any
forward -looking statements in this prospectus, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Because of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward -looking evenu and circumstances discussed
in this prospectus might not occur in the way we expect, or at all. You should not place undue reliance on any
forward -looking information.
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THE RESTRUCTURING

As used in this prospectus, references to "us," "we" and "Unicorn" are to China Unicorn Limited. L'ntess
the context otherwise requires, these references include all of our subsidiaries. In respect of any ame prior ;o the
incorporation of Unicorn, references to "us," "we" and "Unicorn" are to the telecommunications busines.~es in
which predecessors of Unicorn were engaged and which were subsequently assumed by f/nicom. All references
to "Unicorn Group" are to China United Teleconununications Corporation. Unless the context otherwise
requires, these references include ail of its subsidiaries, including us and our subsidiaries.

History of Unicorn Group

As part of its efforts to introduce orderly comperition to the telecommunications sector in China, the State
Council approved the establishment of Unicorn Group in December 1993 and authorized it to build and oEerate
cellular networks and local and domestic long distance networks. Since then, Unicorn Group, astate-o,vned
enterprise, has developed a nationwide cellular network using global system for mobile communication
technology as well as a long distance telephony network that covers most provincial capitals and other major
cities along the eastern and southeastern coast of China Our global system for mobile communication digital
mobile cellular telephone system operates in the 900 MH7/1800 MHz frequency bands.

Following its formation, Unicorn Group commenced cooperation with foreign companies to deveicp its
nationwide cellular network. A financing structure widely known as China -China -Foreign arrangements, or CCF
arrangements, was developed and used by Unicorn Group and its foreign partners in their cooperation. Urnier a
typical China -China -Foreign structure, the foreign partner would first establish a joint venture with a Ch::nese
enterprise. The joint venture would then provide financing and technical support to a project of Unicorn Group
through a project cooperation conn~acG In return, the joint venture had the right to receive a percentage of the
cash Row generated by the project for a fixed number of years. Altogether, Unicorn Gmup adopted this Cliina-
China-Foreign structure for more than 40 projects.

Unicorn Group also developed a nationwide paging business through its subsidiary, Unicorn Pa;;ing.
Although this paging business was not transferred to us as part of the resuvcturing described below, Uri: corn
Group has granted us an option to acquire its interest in any telecommunications business in China, including iu
interest in Unicorn Paging. See "—Following the Resavcturing,"

In May 1997, the State Council granted approval to Unicorn Group to provide data services.

Recent Developments in the Businesses of Unicorn Group

China Telecom Paging Corp. operates a nationwide and regional paging networks through subsidiaries under
the name Guoxin. Our equity interests in these subsidiaries held by Guoxin range from 58.88% to 100~Io. Gu ~xin
was formed in 1998 to hold all paging assets and businesses of China Telecom. In July 1999, in accordance with
a State Council resolution, the Ministry of Information Industry and the Ministry of Finance approved the trar.,sfer
of all of China Telecom's 99.67% ownership interest in Guoxin to Unicorn Group.

In August 1999, the Ministry of Information Industry officially announced that the China -China -Foreign
financing srrucwre had ~on~vened existing Chinese government policies and regulatiars arsd requited tha: a]!
China -China -Foreign cooperation contracts be rectified and terminated. As of April 2000, Unicorn Group has
terminated all China -China -Foreign contracu related to its global systEm for mobile communicavon cellular
network projects transfe~d to us in the restrucwring in contemplation of the global offering, except with respect to
a global system for mobile communication project in Shanghai in which the relevant joint ventum's right to c laim
for payments equal to a portion of the cash flow generated by the project will not be terminated until the full
termination payment, which has already been paid to the joint venture on April 3, 2000, is remitted by the :oint
venture to its offshore owner. We believe that neither the joint venture nor its owners have any valid claims ag~iinst
the tide to the assets of the project, Furthermore, Unicorn Group has undertaken to indemnify us against any c:.aim
by the joint venture or its owners for payments in respect of cash flow generated by the assets of this project.
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As part of the Unicorn Group's overall termination of China -China -Foreign contracu, other parties to the
China -China -Foreign contracts received cash paymenu in an amount representing their original funding plus an
agreed amount of compensarion. In addition, we have agreed to grant some of these parties or their designees
warrants to purchase shares. The number of shares that the relevant warrant holders may purchase are determined
by dividing the relevant warrants' aggregate exercise price by the initial public offering price per share of the
shares being offered in the global offering. The aggregate exercise price of all of these warrants is approximately
RMB 5.2 billion. These warrants will be exercisable by their holders for a period of six months following the
date that is six months after the daze of the closing of this offering. Tfie aggregate number of shares issuable
upon exercise of these wazrants will be approximately 312,942,000 shares. See "Description of Share Capical—
CCF Warrants."

The Ministry of Information Industry licensed Unicorn Group to begin to provide Internet services in July
1999 and Internet protocol telephony services on a teal basis in 12 cities in April 1999 and on a nationwide
basis in March 2000. In December 1999, Unicorn Group received its license to provide domestic long distance
services. In January 2000, the Ministry of Information Industry further licensed Unicorn Group to operate
international tong distance telephony services nationwide. Unicorn Group has also commenced offering local
telephony services in the municipalities of Chengdu, Chongqing and Tianjin. It also offers satellite transmission
services through its subsidiary, China United Telecommunications Satellite Communication Co. Ltd., or Unisat.
The State Counci] has also granted Unicorn Group approval to conswct and operate a cellular network based on
the code division multiple access, or CDMA, technology. Code division multiple access technology is a digital
transmission technology that accommodates higher throughput by using coding sequences to mix and separate
voice and data. signals for wireless communications.

The Restructuring

We were incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on February 8, 2000.

Under a reorganization agreement between Unicorn Group and our wholly owned subsidiary China Unicorn
Corporation Lunited enuered into in contemplation of the global offering, Unicorn Group transferred to China
Unicorn Corporation Lunited all of its assets, rights and liabilities in connection with the following
telecommunications businesses:

~ its cellular businesses in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Fujian, Liaoning, Shandong, Hebei, Hubei.
Anhui, Beijing, Shanghai and Tianjin,

• .its 99.67°!o shareholding interest in Guoxin,

• its nationwide long distance telephony business, including its Internet protocol telephony business, and

~ its nationwide data and Internet businesses.

Although other cellular networks remain in Unicorn Group, they do not compete with the businesses of our
cellular networks because they operate in different service areas.

Under an equity transfer agreement dated April 21, 2000 among us, Unicorn Group, China Unicorn (Hong
Kong) Group Limited and China Unicorn (BVI) Limited, Unicorn Group transferred to us its 100% equity
interest in China Unicorn Corporation Limited. We issued 9,725 million shares to China Unicorn (BVI) Limited,
which issued 50,000 shares to China Unicorn (Hong Kong) Group Limited, which in turn issued 9,998 shares to
Unicorn Group.

In April 2000, we pwchased the remaining 0.33% interest in Guoxin from its minority shareholders, raising
our ownership interest in Guoxin to 100%.
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Following the Restructuring

The following chart sets forth our corporate organization and our controlling entities immediately following
the restructuring and after giving effect to the global offering, assuming the underwriters do not exercise their
over -allotment option.

China United
Telecommunicatlona

Corporation

100%

China Unicorn
(Mon9 Kong)
Group Limited

100%

Publk China UMeom
Sharoholders (6VI) Limltad

20.2%"~ 79.8% m

China Unlcom Limited

g00%

China Unicorn
Carpo€ation Umited

• Cellular ~0~
• Long Dlatance
• Date ~d internal

Guoxln~

• Pagfng

(1) As part of [he arrangements for the termination of the China -China -Foreign arrangements, we have agreed
to grant some of the parties to the China -China -Foreign contracts or their designees warranu to purch,~se a
number of shares determined by dividing the relevant warrdnu' aggregate exercise price by the initial p~iblic
offering price per share of the shares being offered in the global offering. The aggregate exercise price of
all of these warrants is appro~cimately RMB 5.2 billion. These warranu will be exercisable by their ho Iders
for a period of six months following the dace that is six months after the date of the closing of this offering.
Upon full exercise of those warrants, the percentage of ownership by public shareholders and China Uncom
(BVI) Limited will be 22.2% and 77.8%, respectively. We have also agreed to issue options for shar~;s to
directors and employees. See "Management—Stock Incentive Plans."

(2) Guoxin operates its nationwide paging business through subsidiaries in which it holds equity interests
ranging fmm 58.9% to 100%.
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Following the restructuring, Unicorn Group continues to own and manage the international gateways that
provide international connections to our long distance network. Unicorn Group also continues to operate the
following telecommunications businesses:

• its cellular business outside the service areas covered by the cellulaz business transferred to us,

~ its local telephony networks in Chengdu, Chongqing and Tianjin,

• the satellite transmission business operated through Unisat, and

~ the paging business operated through Unicorn Paging.

Unicorn Group has also retained its interests in iu other subsidiaries which provide specialized services,
including the procurement of telecommunications equipment and the supply of SIM cards and calling cards to
us. Unicorn Group continues to be the holder of the licenses requu~ed for operating our telecommunications
businesses and we derive our rights to operate our businesses from our status as a subsidiary of Unicorn Group.
Under the reorganization agreement referred to above, Unicorn Group has given an undertaking to hold and
maintain all licenses received from the Ministry of Information Industry in connection with our businesses solely
for our benefit during the term of the licenses and at no cost to us. In addition, Unicorn Group has given an
undertaking to take all actions necessary to obtain, maintain, renew and otherwise extend to or for our benefit
such governmental or regulatory licenses, consents, permits or other approvals as we shall require to continue to
operate our businesses. See "Relationship with Unicorn Group."

In connection with the restructuring, we have entered into a number of agreements with Unicorn Group.
These include arrangements for the interconnection between the telecommunications networks owned by us and
Unicorn Group, for the provision or sharing of telecommunications and ancillary services and facilities between
us and Unicorn Group, and other commercial azrangements. See "Relationship with Unicorn Group."

Unicorn Group has also given us an undertaking not to seek au overseas listing for any of its businesses or
the businesses of iu subsidiaries in which we are engaged or may engage in the future, except through us. See
"Relationship with Unicorn Group—Agreemenu Relating to the Restructuring and this Offering."
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the aggregate net proceeds to us from the global offering will be approximately US;~4,764
million. We intend to use these net proceeds to expand and upgrade our cellular, long distance and data nenWorks,
as well as our fiber optic transmission network. More specifically, we cuirendy plan to use:

• appro~cimately US$4,042 million to expand the capacity and coverage of the cellular network inc~!uding
the development of an intelligent network; and

• approximately US$722 million to expand our nationwide fiber optic transmission backbone network
and to expand our data and long distance network and to develop our Internet businesses.

To the extent that the net proceeds of the global offering are not immediately applied for the above purposes,
we intend to deposit the proceeds into interest bearing bank accounts or to invest in short term investment grade
debt securities. We expect to invest approximately RMB 99.8 billion for capital expenditures purposes from 2000
to 2002, through our wholly owned subsidiary, China Unicorn Corporation Limited. In addition to net prc ceeds
from the global offering, we expect to finance such expenditures with our cash on hand, cash generated from
future operations, bank borrowings and other sources of external financings.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We were established on February 8, 2000 and have not declared or paid any dividends sine: our
establishment Also, no dividends were paid to Unicam Group in respect of the period between Decemb~;r 31,
1999 and the date of our establishment We expect that we will retain all available funds for use in the ope:~adon
and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
board of directors will determine the payment of any future dividends, subject to approval by shareholders at an
annual general meeting. The declaration and payment of dividends will depend upon, among other things, future
earnings, capital requirements, our financial condition and general business conditions. We may onl} pay
dividends out of our distnbuiable profits. See "Description of Share Capital—Dividends."

After the adjustment for the number of shazes represented by each ADS, holders of ADSs will receive the
same dividends as holders of the shares, less the fees and expenses payable under the deposit agreement. We
will pay dividends to the depositary in Hong Kong dollars. Except as otherwise described under "Description of
American Depositary Receipts—Share Dividends and Other Distributions," the depositary will convert cash
dividends into U.S. dollars before making payment to holders of ADSs. In the case of stock dividends, we will
distribute the stock dividends to the depositary. Except as otherwise described under "Description of American
Depositary Receipts—Share Dividends and Other Distributions," the depositary will then distribute the .>tock
dividends, in the form of additional ADSs, to holders of the ADSs.
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DII.UTION

As of December 31, 1999, our net tangible book value per share was US$.10. Net tangible book value per
share represenu the amount of total tangible assets, minus [he amount of total liabilities, divided by the total
number of shares outstanding. It was calculated using an exchange rate of RMB 82795 per US$1.00. As of the
same date, our net tangible book value per ADS was US$1.02. We have calculated net tangible book value per
ADS by multiplying the net tangible book value per shaze by the number of shazes represented by each ADS.

After giving effect to the sale of the ADSs and shares offered in this offering and after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and other estimated expenses of the global offering, our net tangible
book value per ADS would increase to US$4.72 per ADS or to US$5.15 per ADS if the underwriters exercise
their over -allotment options in full. This represenu an immediate increase of US$3.70 in net tangible book value
per ADS to China Unicorn (BVI) Limited and an immediate dilution of US$15.27 in net tangible book value per
ADS to new investors purchasing at [he uvtial public offering price. This dilution will be US$14.84 per ADS if
the underwriters fully exercise their over-allo~ent options. The following table illustrates such dilution on the
basis of Hong Kong GAAP:

Assumed initial public offering price per ADS .......................... US$19.99
Net tangible book value per ADS before the global offering ................. US$ ] .02
Increase in net tangible book value per ADS attributable to sale of ADSs and the

shares ......................................................  US$3.70

Pro forma net tangible book value per ADS after the global offering ..........  US$4.72

Dilution in net tangible book value per ADS to purchasers of ADSs or ADS
equivalents to purchasers of shares .................................  US$1527

The following table sets forth for China Unicorn (BVI) Limited and for purchasers of ADSs or shares the
number and percentage of total outstanding shares purchased, the total consideration and percentage of total
consideration paid and the average price per share:

Average
AD55 or AD6 Price per

Equivalents Purchased Total Consideretion  ADS or
ADS

Number Percentage Amount Percentage Equivalent

(US$ million) US$
China Unicorn (BVI) Limited ............ 972,500,002 79.82% 1,032 17.35% 1.06
Purchasers of ADSs or shares ............  245,912,700 20.18 4,916 82.65  19.99

Totsl .............................  1,218,412,702 100.00% 5,948 100.00 %

The above information does not include shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants we have agreed to
issue in connection with terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangemenu, nor the options in respect of up to
77,800,000 shares described under "Management --Mock Incentive Plans."
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CAPTTALIZATION

The following table sets forth our consolidated short-term debt and capitalization as of December 31, 1999.
The table has been adjusted to give effect to the sale of the shares and ADSs offered in the global offering: as if
such sale occurned, and utilizing prevailing exchange rates, on such date. You should read this table together
with our financial statements, including the notes thereto, appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The adjus::ment
is based on an initial offering pace of HK$15.58 per share, or US$19.99 per ADS. The adjustment also includes
the deduction of underwriters' discounts and commissions and other estimated expenses of the global offs;ring.
The information in the following table does not include the shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants we
have agreed to issue in connection with the termination of China -China -Foreign arrangements, nor the opcic~ns in
respect of up to 77,800,000 shares as described under "Management—Stock Incentive Plans."

As of December 31, 1999
Actual As adjusted Actual  As adjusted
RMB RMB US$(2) US 6(2)

(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalent . . ...............................  6,002 6,002 725 .'25

Short-term debt
Short-term bank loans ............................... 1,674 1,674 202 x.02
Current portion of long-term bank loans .................. 20 20 2 2
Payable to China -China -Foreign joint ventures ........ . ....  6,200 6,200 749 i49

Total short-term debt ............................  7,894 7,894 953 5'53

Long-term bank and other loans, net of current portion ...........  12,234 12,234 1,478  1,478

Minority interests ...................................... 2,530 2,530 306 306

Owners' equity(1)
Ordinary shares, HK$0.10 par value, 9,725,000,020 shares issued;

2,459,127,000 shares issued for the global offering ............ 1,031 1,296 125 157
Share premium .............. . .........................  7,507 46,672 907 5,639

Total owners' equity/stockholders' equity . . ...........  8,538 47,968 1,032  5,796

Total capitalization ..............................  23,302 62,732 2,816  7,580

(1) Owner's equity reflects the effects of our establishment including the issuance of 9,725,000,020 shams of
HK$.10 each and the creation of the share premium in exchange for our net assets.

(2) Translations of amounu from Renminbi into United States Dollars for the convenience of the reader 'gave
been made at the noon buying rate in New York for cable transfers payable in foreign currencies as certified
for customs purpose by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on June 15, 2000 of
US$1.00 — RMB 8.2768.
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EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

For your convenience, this prospectus contains translations between Renminbi amounts and U.S. dollars at
RMB 8.2795 - US$1,00, and between Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars at HK$7.7740-US$1.00, the prevailing
rates on December 31, 1999. The translation is not a representation that ttie Renminbi amounu could actually be
converted into U.S. dollars at that rate.

The following tables set forth information concerning the noon buying rates in New York City for cable
transfers in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, for the periods indicated. The average rates represent the average of the noon buying rates on the last
day of each month duriag the relevant period.

Noon Buying Rate for Renminbi

Period

1995 ..........................................
1996 ..........................................
1997 ..........................................
1998 ..........................................
1999 ..........................................
2000 (through June 15, 2000} ....................... .

Noon Buying Rate
Period Eod Average High Low

(RMB per US$1)
8.3374 8.3852 8.5000 8.2916
8.3284 8.3395 8.3549 8.3002
8.3100 8.3193 8.3290 8.29] ]
8.2789 8.3009 8.3100 8.2778
8.2795 8.2785 8.2797 8.2276
8.2758 8.2782 8.2799 82768

Noon Buying Rate for Hong Kong Dollars

Period

1995 ..........................................
1996 ..........................................
1997 ..........................................
1998 ..........................................
1999 ..........................................
2000 (through June 15, 2000) ....................... .

Noon Buying Rate
Period End Average High Low

(HK$ per [;S$1)
7.7323 7.7354 7.7665 7.7300
7.7347 7.7341 7.7440 7.7310
7.7445 7.7440 7.7550 7.7275
7.7476 7.7464 7.7595 7.7355
7.7740 7.7599 7.7814 7.7457
7.7940 7.7878 7.7940 7.7765
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SELECTED HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables present

(1) our selected historical financial data for each of the years in the four-year period ended Decemba~r 31,
1999, and

(2) our selected pm forma income statement data for the year ended December 31, 1999 which give ~;ffec[
to the adjustments described below.

The financial statemenu aad the unaudited pro forma financial information have been prepared as if our
current strucrure had been in existence throughout the relevant periods. These financial statements and
information relate to historical results of operations and financial positions of the businesses in which Unicorn
Group was previously engaged and which we assumed under the restructuring of these businessf:s in
contemplation of this offering. We publish our financial statements in Renminbi. We have derived the sel acted
historical income statement data for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 and the selected
historical balance sheet data as of December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 from our audited financial statements. Our
audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong GAAP. We have derive ,9 the
selected historical income statement data for the yeaz ended December 31, 1996 and the selected historical
balance sheet data as of December 31, 1996 from our unaudited financial statemenu. Our unaudited financial
statements have also been prepared and presented in accordance with Hong Kong GAAP. For a discussion of
material differences between Hong Kong GAAP and US GAAP, see Note 31 to the financial statemenu presented
in this prospectus beginning on page F-1.

We have made pro forma adjustrnents to reflect a number of arrangements that we entered into, as we:l] as
other changes in connection with the restructuring. We expect that these arrangemeau and changes wii] h~~ve a
material impact on our overall results of operations. We therefore believe that the presentation of unaudited pro
forma information is necessary to supplement our historical financial information.

We have derived the selected pro forma income statement data for the year ended December 31, 1999 -from
the unaudited pro forma statements of income, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this prospectus.
You should read the selected unaudited pro forma income statement data together with those unaudited pro forma
statements of income. This selected pro forma financial information is unaudited, but we believe that it reflects
the significant adjustmeau necessary to depict t4~e effects of the changes described in the accompanying rotes
thereto as if the changes had been implemented on January 1, 1999.
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Selected Historical Financial Information

Year Ended December 31,
1996 1997 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMH RMB US$
(unaudited)

(in millions, except per share and per ADS information)
Income Statement Data:

Hong Kong GAAP
Revenue:

Cellular ..............................
Paging ...............................
Long distance telephony and data .......... .

Total services revenue .... . ............ .
Sale of SIM cards, handsets and pagers ........ .

Total revenue ............ . .......... .

Operating expenses:
Leased lines .......................... .
Interconnection charges .................. .
Depreciation and amorrizarion ............. .
Personnel .............................
Selling and marketing ................... .
General, administrative and others .......... .
Cost of SIM cards, handsets and pagers sold .. .

Total operating expenses .... . ....... . .. .

Operating income ........................ .
Net financial charges .................... .
Loss arising from terminations of China -China-

Foreign arrangemenu ................. .
Other expenses, net ..................... .

Income before taxation and minority interests ... .
Taxation ..............................

Income before minority interests ............. .
Minority interests ...................... .

Net income .............................

Net income per share(1) . .................. .

Net income per ADS(2} ...... . ............ .

295 810 2,126 5,314 642
5,450 7,273 8,423 9,047 1,093
- - - 79 10

5,745 8,083 10,549 14,440 1,745
5,243 5,291 3,480 3,010 363

10,988 13,374 14,029 17,450 2.108

828 1,084 1,302 1,099 133
23 112 260 693 84

693 1,300 2,260 3,691 446
797 1,085 1,278 1,713 207
359 693 1,043 1,557 188

1,290 1,709 2,356 2,587 312
5,194 5,775 4,178 3,294 398

9,184 11,758 12,677 14,634 1,768

1,804 1,616 1,352 2,816 340
(18) 267 413 704 85

- - - 224 27
27 29 ba 129 t6

1,795 1,320 875 1,759 212
533 4b9 31l 556 67

1,262 851 564 1,203 145
317 252 192 364 44

945 599 372 839 i01

0.10 0.06 0.44 0.09  0.0 t

0.97 0.62 0.38 0.86 0.10

(1) Net income per share for the year ended December 31, 1999 set fonh above has been computed by dividing
net income by the number of shares outstanding following our restructuring but before this offering.

(2) Net income per ADS has been computed by multiplying net income per share by 10, which is the number
of shares represented by each ADS.
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Year Ended December 31,

Income Statement Data:

US GAAP
Revenue ...............................

Operating expenses

Operating income ........... . ............ .
Net financial charges ..................... .
Other expenses (income), net ............... .

Income from continuing operations before taxation
aad minority interests ................... .

Taxation ...............................

Income from continuing operations before minority
interests ............................. .

Extraordinary item:
Loss arising from terminations of China -China -

Foreign arrangements ................. .

Income before minority interests ............. .
Minority interests ........................ .

Net income .............................

Net income per share(1) ................... .

Net income per ADS(2) .. . ........... . .... .

1996 1997 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMB RMB US5
(unaudited)

(in millions, except per sham and per AIIS informatio>>)

10,854 13,152 13,598 16,952 .2,048

9,180 11,745 12,649 14,455 1,746

1,674 1,407 949 2,497 302
(18) 267 413 704 85
27 (13) (65) — —

1,665 1,153 601 1,793 217
531 46Q 272 541 57

1,134 693 329 1,252 160

— — — ]5]  27

1,134 693 329 1,101 133
317 252 192 364 44

817 441 137 737 89

0.08 0.05 0.01 0.08 0.0 i

0.84 0,45 0.14 0.76 0.10

(1) Net income per share for the year ended December 31, 1999 set forth above has been computed by div; ding
net income by the number of shares outstanding following our restructuring but before this offering.

(2) Net income per ADS has been computed by multiplying net income per share by 10, which is the number
of shares represented by each ADS.
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As of Ilecember 31,

1996 1997 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMB RMB US$
(unaudited)

([o mill[ons)
Balance Sheet Data:
Hong Kong GAAP
Current assets ................................... 3,876 4,951 8,945 ] 0,497 1,268
Cash and cash equivalents ....... . .................. 1,164 1,497 4,337 6,002 725
Accounts receivable ........... . ............... . ... 228 312 639 895 t08
Fixed assets ..................................... 7,878 12,088 19,853 33,227 4,013
Tota] assets ..................................... 11,943 ]7,470 30,156 45,366 5,479
Current liabilities ................................. 3,738 4,885 11,563 21,844 2,638
Short-term debt .................................. 169 380 2,276 7,894 953
Accountspayable ................................. 519 539 1,041 1,675 202
Long-term debt .................................. 2,680 5,944 9,372 12,234 1,478
Total liabilities ................................... 6,709 11,090 21,232 34,297 4,142
Owner's equity ................ . ................. 4,303 5,176 6,408 8,538 1,031
US GAAP
Total assets ..................................... 11,943 17,481 30,206 45,504 5,496
Owner's equity .................................. 4,143 4,858 5,859 7,904 95S

Year Ended December 31,
1996 1997 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMB RMB L'S$
{unaudited}

(in millions)
Other Financial Data:

Hong Kong GAAP
Capital expenditures ............................... (4,325) (4,598) (8,290) (12,697) (1.534)
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... 2,980 2,152 5,400 6,856 828
Net cash used in return on invesunents and servicing of

finance ..................................... . . (84) (552} (1,581) (1,806) (218)
Taxation paid ....................... . ............ (499) (550) (365) (538) (65)
Net cash used in investing activities ................... (4,332) (4,781) (8,402) (13,930) (],682)
Ne[ cash provided by financing activities ................ 2,246 4,064 7,788 11,084 1,339
Adjusted EBI'I'DA(1) .............................. 2,497 2,916 3,613 6,507 786
US GAA.P
Capital expenditures ............. . ................. (4,325) (4,598) (8,290) (12,697) (1,534)
Net cash provided by operating activities ..:............ 2.397 1,463 4,804 5,474 661
Net cash used in investing activities ................... (4,332) (4,781) (8,402) (13,930) (],682)
Net cash provided by financing activities ................ 2,246 3,652 6,438 10,121 1,222
Adjusted EBI'I'DA{1) .............................. 2,367 2,749 3,339 6,317 763

(t) Adjusted EB CI'DA set forth above reQresents income before net 5nancial chazges, other expenses, taxation, depreciation and
amortization aad before loss arising from terminauoas ofChina-China-Foreign arrangements. loss arising from teiminadons of China -
China -Foreign arrangements both under Hong Kong GAAP and US GAAP for the year ended Uacember 3l, 1999 was RMB 224
million. There was ao income poss) from tecmiaarions of China -China -Foreign arrangements for the years prior to she year ended
December 31, 1999. EBI'T~A is commonly used in the ulecommunicadons industry to analyze companies on she basis of operating
performance, leverage and liquidity. Since the telecommunications business is a very capital intensive business, capita! expenditure
anti level of debt and interest expenses may have a signi5cant impact oa net income for companies with similaz operating zesults.
~erefore, we believe that far a growing telecommunications company such as ourselves, EBITDA provides a more accurate reflection
of the company's operating resulu. However, you should not conswe it as a substiwte fm operating income, net income or cash flows
from operating activities for purposes of analyzing our operating performance, financial position and cash flows. Our adjusted EBITD.4
as described in this prospecws is not necessarily comparable with similarly tided measures for other companies. Part of the funds
depicted by adjusted EBITUA are used for repayment of borrowed fiords and related interest cost and payment of income tax. In
addition, we have used anti wIll continue to use a substantial portion of the funds depicted by adjusted EBITDA for capital expenditure
on network conswction. Other than the about, there are no legal or functional requirements that limit our discretionary use of the
funds depicted by adjus~td EBITDA.
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Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

Year Eoded December 31, 19!9

Pro forma Unaudited
Hlswrical Adjustments  Prro  [orme

RMB RMB RMB
(in millions, except per share and peP

ADS information)
HK GAAP
Revenue ................................................ 17,450 17,450
Operating expenses ........................................  14,634  (98) (3) 14,536
Operating income ......................................... 2,816 - 2,914
Net financial charges .. .. .............. • • .. • • • • • • • • • • - . • • 703 (535) (4)(a) 755

587 (4)(b)
Loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements ... 224
Other expenses,net ........................................ 130

Income before taxation and minority interests .......... . .......... 1,759
Taxation ................................................ 556 222

15

Income before minority interests .............................. 1,203
Minority interests ......................................... 364

Net income ..............................................  839

Net income per share(1) ..................................... 0.09

Net income per ADS(2) ..................................... 0.86

224
130

1,805
(5) 793
(6)

1,012
364

648

~).07

x).67
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Y'eac Ended December 31, 1999
Pro Forma Unaudited
ftong Kong US GAAP Pro Forma

GAAP Adjustments US GAAP
RMB RMB RMB

(in millions, except per sham
and per ADS information)

US GAAP('n
Revenue .................................................. 17,450 (498) 16,952
Operating expenses 14,536  (179)  14,357

Operating income ........................................... 2,914 2.595
Net financial charges ......................................... 755 755
Loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign aaangements ..... 224 (224) —
Otherexpenses,net ..........................................  130 (130) —

Income from continuing operations before taxation and minority interests .. 1,805 1,840
Taxation ..................................................  793 (14) 779

Income from continuing operations before minority interests ............ 1.O] 2 1,061
Minority interests ...........................................  364 364

Income from continuing operation (after minority interests) ............  b48 697

Net income from continuing operations per share(1) ..................  0.07 0.07

Net income from continuing operations per ADS(2) ..................  0.67 0.72

(]) Net income per shaze for the year ended December 31, 1999 set fords above has been computed by dividing
net income by the number of shares outstanding following our restructuring but before this offering.

(2) Net income per ADS for those periods has been computed by multiplying net profit per share by 10, which
is the number of shares represented by each ADS.

(3) To reflect reduction of purchase costs for SIM cards, Internet protocol telephone cards and prepaid
rechargeable cards paid to Unicorn Xingye Science and Technology Trade Co. Ltd., a 90% subsidiary of
Unicorn Group, as if our current pricing policy with them had been in effect as of January 1, 1999. Under a
services agreement entered into between Unicorn Group and us, charges for the supply of these cards will be
based on the actual cost to Unicorn Xingye of supplying the cards plus a margin over cost The margin shall
be agreed between the parties from time to time but in any case shall not exceed 20%, and is subject to
appropriate volume discounu.

(4) The interest expenses attributable to the funding for China -China -Foreign arrangements would not have
been incurred for the yeaz ended December 31, 1999 if the new bank borrowings had been in existence on
January 1, 1999. Accordingly, we have made the following pro forma adjustments.
(a) To reverse the interest expenses attributable to all the ouutanding loan from China -China -Foreign joint

ventures which loans amounted to approximately RMB 6,200 million.
(b) To record the interest expenses attributable to new bank loans borrowed by us, which loans amounted to

approximately RMB 9,458 million, as if our new debt structure had been inexistence since January 1, 1999.
'IY~e interest expense attributable to the new borrowings is determined based on the total new debu [o be
borrowed by us and the currently prevailing interest rarE of 6.21 °lo applicable to long-term debt exceeding
five years in the People's Republic of China. The Snr~rest expense would vary by approximately RMB ] 2
million if there was a .125°lo variance in the assumed prevailing interest rate of 6.21 °lo.

(5) To record additional tax expense amibutable to connection fees revenue earned from cellular services (which
amounted to RtviB 674 million for the year ended December 31, 1999) as if the connection fees had been subject
to enterprise income tax since January 1, ]999. Prior to our restructuring in contemplation of this offering,
connection fees received from the subscribers were not subject to enterprise income tax. Acconiing to an official
pronouncement of the Mirnsuy of Finance, connection fees received by us after our restructuring will be taxable
at the standard income tax rate of 33°lo applicable to China Unicorn Corporation Limited.

(6) To record the tax effect of the above pro forma ad}ustments, where applicab3e.
(7) To reflect the historical US GAAP adjustmenu as described in Note 31 to the Financial Statements.

[~I~3
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis together with the financial statements and the unaudited
pro forma financial information and our selected historical consolidated and unaudited pro forma financial information
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The financial statements have been prepaid in accorrlaace with Hong Kong
GAAP, which differs in a number of material respects from US GAAP. Note 31 to the financial statements summarizes
the material diffe~nces between Hong Kong GAAP and US GAAP as they relate to us and provides a reconciliation
to US GAAP of our net income, owner's equity and statement of cash flows. Our financial statements and the
discussion and analysis below assume thaz our curnent strucnu~e had been in existence throughout the relevant periods.

Overview of Our Operations

We are a fast growing integrated provider of telecommunication services in China, offering a wide range of
telecommunications services including cellutar, paging, long distance, data and Internet services. We offer
cellulaz services in nine provinces and the Beijing, Shanghai and Tianjin municipalities, and we had a total of
approximately 4.2 million cellular subscribers as of December 31, 1999. We are also the largest paging operator
in China with 43.5 million paging subscribers as of December 31, 1999. We began offering fixed line long
distance telephony and data services in 1999, and we launched our Internet protocol telephony business on a
trial basis in twelve major cities in China in June 1999.

'The table below shows our services revenue and adjusted EBTTDA by business segment for the periods
indicated.

Year Ended December 31,
1947 1998 1999

As RMB AS RMB As
RMB in percentage in petrentage in percentage
millions of total mIDlons of total millions of total

Total Services Revenue
Ce]]ulaz' ........................... 810 10.0% 2,126 20.2% 5,314 36.8%
Paging .......................... . . 7,273 90.0 8,423 79.8 9,047 62.7
Long distance and data ...............  — 0 — 0 79 .~

Tot21 ...........................  8,083  100% 10,549  100% 14,440  100%

Adjusted EBITDA(1)
Cellular .......... . ................ 231 7.9% 951 26.3% 2,843 43.7%
Paging ............................ 2,685 92.1 2,661 73.7 3,624 55.7
Long distance and data ...............  — 0 — 0 40 .6

Total ...........................  2,916  100% 3,612  1(?0~70  6,507  1009c

Year Ended December 3i

1997 1998 1999

RIVIB RMB RA1B
(in millions)

Net cash inflows from operating activities ................................. 2,152 5,400 6,856
Net cash outflows from retains on invesanenu and servicing of finance and taxation ... 1,102 1,946 2,344
Net cash outflows from investing activities ................................ 4,781 8,402 13,930
Net cash intiows from financing activities .................. •............... 4,064 7,788 11,084

(1) Adjusted EBTTUA set forth above represents our income before net financial charges, other expenses, taxation,
depreciavon and amortization and before loss arising from terminations of.China-China-Foreign arrangemenu.
Loss arising from [erminavons of China -China -Foreign arrangements both under Hong Kong GAAP and US
GAAP for the yeaz ended December 31, 1999 was RMB 224 million. There was no income (loss) from
terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangemenu for the years prior to the year ended December 31, 1999.
EBITDA is commonly used in the telecommunications industry co analyze companies on the basis of operating
performance. Since the telecommunications business is a very capital intensive business, capital expenditure and
level of debt and interest expenses may have a significant impact on net income for companies with similar
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(footnote continued)

operating results. Therefore, we believe that for a growing telecommunications company such as our:;eives,
EBTI'DA provides a more accurate reflection of the company's operating resulu. However, you should not
construe it as a substitute for operating income, net income or cash flows from operating activities for purposes
of analyzing our operating performance, financial position and cash flows. Ow adjusted EBTTDA as described in
this prospectus is not necessarily comparable with similazly titled measures for other companies. Part of the funds
depicted by adjusted EBTTDA are used for repayment of borrowed funds and related interest cost and payment of
income tax. In addition, we have used and will continue to use a substantial portion of the funds depic :ed by
adjusted EBITDA for capital expendidue on network construction. Other than the above, there are no legal or
functional requirements that limit our discretionary use of the funds depicted by adjusted EBITDA.

From 1997 [0 1999, our total services revenue and adjusted EBITDA increased at annual compounc. rates
of 33.7% and 49.4%, respectively. During the same period, our cellular services revenue and adjusted EB [TDA
from our cellular services increased at annual compound rates of 156.1°Ia and 250.8%, respectively.

Revenue

Our revenue consists of services revenue from cellular, paging, long distance and data operations and sales
of SIM cards, handsets and pagers.

Cellular Services. We eazn our cellulaz services revenue principally from airtime usage fees, basic monthly
fees, one-time connection fees charged to new subscribers and interconnection revenue. Airtime usage. fees
include charges for incoming and outgoing calls as well as roaming -out fees for calls made by our subscribers
outside their local service areas. Monthly fees represent fixed amounts charged to cellular subscribers for
maintaining their access to our cellulaz services. Interconnection revenue represenu amounts received from other
operators, including Unicorn Group, for calls from their networks to our networks. It also includes roaming -in
fees received from other operators, including Unicorn Group, far calls made by their subscribers usin;; our
cellular networks. Our other cellular services revenue are from charges for value added services and teleF~hone
number selection fees, which represent additional fees charged to subscribers for selecting their preferred cellular
telephone numbers.

The following table sets forth major components of cellular services revenue for the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31,
1997 1998 1999

As percentage As pe~sentage As pereeutage
RMB of cellular RMB of cellular RMB of cellular

in millions services revenue in millions services revenue in millions services re venue

Cellular services revenue:
Usage fee .............. 388 47.9%a 1,084 51.0% 3,189 60.()%
Monthly fee ............. 136 16.8 427 20. l 1,117 21.0
Connection fee .......... 249 30.7 487 22.9 674 12.''
Interconnection revenue .... 7 .9 66 3.1 208 3.~€
Other revenue ........... 30 3.7 62 2.9 126 2.~ 1

Total........... 810 100.0% 2,126 100.0 % 5,314 100.( €%

~ennection fees, which are a one time charge, have decli:sed as a percentage of our total cellular services
revenue from 30.7% in 1997 to 12.7% in 1999. During this period, our connection fee per cellular subscriber
declined in line with the industry trend in China. During the same period, recurring revenues from usage and
monthly fees and interconnection increased as a percentage of our total cellular services revenue from 65.6'Io to
84.9%. We expect that usage and monthly fees wi11 continue to increase as a percentage of our cellular sen~ices
revenue. We believe that connection fees will continue to decrease due to the competitive market environment.
However, we expect that revenue from cellular services will continue to increase as a percentage of total revenue
as our market coverage and capacity expands. We estimate that our cellular service revenue as a percenta~;e of
total revenue will continue to increase and cellular service will become a major source of revenue in fiiture
periods. We expect that this vend will have a positive effect on our overall results of operations.

36

Case 2:15-cv-07425-RGK-PLA   Document 121-19   Filed 10/26/16   Page 37 of 157   Page ID
 #:3681



Paging Services. Historically, our largest source of revenue has been our paging business. Our paging
services revenue primarily consists of monthly fees. We require our customers to pay service fees at least one
month in advance. Other services revenue from our paging operation includes fees for our wireless messaging
services, number selection fees, pager repair fees and chazges for other value added services.

The following table seu forth major components our paging services revenue for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,
1997 1998 1999

RMB As percentage RM$ Aa percentage RMB As percentage
in of paging in of paging in of paging

mflllons service revenue millions service revenue millions service reven ue

Paging services revenue:
Monthly fee .............. . ..... . . 6,902 94.9% 8,159 96.9°Io 8,901 98.4°l0
Connection fee .................... 295 4.1 179 2.1 94 1.0
Other revenue .....................  76 1.0 85 1.0 52 0.6

Total ........................  7,273 100.0 % 8,423 100.0% 9,047 100.0 %

Connection fees, which are a one time charge, decreased as a percentage of our total paging services revenue
from 4.1 % in 1997 to 1.0% in 1999. During the sazne period, monthly fees increased from 94.9% to 98.4% of
our total paging services revenue. Other revenue as a percentage of total paging services revenue declined from
1.0% in 1997 to 0.6°lo in 1999. In recent years, we have substantially reduced or waived connection fees in most
of our service areas.

Lang Distance and Data Services. We launched our trial Internet protocol telephony services in June 1999.
Substantially al] of our Internet protocol telephony services are sold on a prepaid basis and we recognize revenue
based on actual usage. We have begun offering domestic and international long distance telephony services in 25
cities and plan to extend these services to 220 cities by the end of 2000, along with our network expansion plan.

Sales of SIM Cards, Handsets and Pagers. Sales of SIM cards, handsets and pagers accounted for
approximately 17.2°l0 of our revenue for the yeaz ended December 31, 1999. Sales of pagers as a percentage of
these sales revenues have declined as a result of lower pager prices and our s~ategy to exit the pager sales
business. Pager sales will decrease as we continue to phase out our pager device sales business. Exiting the pager
sales business is expected to reduce our loss from this business. However, we expect that this effect will be
partially offset by an increase in other customer acquisition costs.

Operating Expenses

Our principal operating expenses include leased line expenses, depreciation and amorti2ation, personnel
costs, selling and marketing expenses, interconnection charges, general, administrative and other expenses as
well as cost of SIM cards, handsets and pagers sold.

Leased line expenses are incurred in association with leasing of transmission capacity. We cumendy lease a
large portion of our transmission capacity from third -party networks. We are cuirendy deploying a nacionwide fiber-
optic network and we plan to reduce our leased line expenses in the future by using our own transmission capacity.

Depreciation and amortization expenses mainly relate to our fixed and deferred asseu, respectively. We
depreciate our property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into consideration their estimated residual value. We depreciate most of our telecommunication equipment
over seven years. Selling and marketing expenses include sales commissions paid to sales agents as well as
promotional and advertising expenses. Interconnection expenses represent amounts paid to other operators,
including Unicorn Group, for calls from our networks to their networks. These expenses also include roaming -out
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fees paid [o other operators, including Unicorn Group, for calls made by our subscribers using their net~~orks.
General, administrative and other expenses primarily include rental expenses, repair and maintenance costs, as
well as provision for doubtful accounts. Rental expenses are primarily for sites at which base stations and other
network equipment are located. We provide for all outstanding accounts receivable that are overdue for more
than three months. Other componenu of general, administrative and other expenses include insurance expanses,
general office expenses and travel expenses.

Historically, we have sold pagers at below cost to attract subscribers. Although we plan to largely exit the
pager sales business, we expect that will conrinue to subsidize pager sales, perhaps through increased sales
commissions to attract customers.

Taxation

Our income is subject to enterprise income tax at the statutory rate of 33%. Our historical effective tar rate
was 35.5% in 1997, 35.5% in 1998 and 31.6% in 1999.

Depreciation expense for financial accounting purposes has historically been higher than depreciation
expense for tax purposes because different dates have been used for the two purposes to determine ~~vhen
depreciation of an asset commences. In connection with the establishment of China Unicorn Corporation Limited,
our fixed assets were revalued as of June 30, 1999 to ~8ect their replacement cost as of that date. This
revaluation was not recorded in our financial statement prepared under Hong Kong GAAP. For the year ended
December 31, 2000, depreciation expenses for tax purposes will be based on the revalued amount of the fixed
assets as of June 30, 1999 as adjusted by subsequent additions and disposals.

Net Income

For the year ended December 31, 1999, our cellular business recorded a net loss of RMB 80 million after a
one-time RMB 224 million charge relating to the termination of certasn China-China•Foreign arrangements in
1999. We expect to record an additional RMB 1,194 million one-time charge attributable to addit.onal
terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements in 2000. The charge under US GAAP is expected to be F:MB
800 million net of tax effect, assuming a tax rate of 33%. In addition, in 2000 under US GAAP, we expert to
record an additional RMB 1,151 million one-time charge attributable to the issuance of warrants to former China -
China -Foreign investors. Excluding the effects of terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements, the
profitability of our cellular business has improved over the 3-yeaz period ended December 31, 1999 anti. we
expect our cellular business will continue to benefit over time from scale efficiencies attributable to increas~:s in
total number of subscribers and increased usage of our network.

For the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, our paging business contributed a substantial
portion of our overall net income. Based oa current market conditions, our significant share of the PRC paging
market, and our planned expansion of paging service offerings, we expect our overall paging business reve:~ues
to continue to be a substantial component of our overall revenues. We also plan to reduce costs in our pa;;ing
business over time, including through increased use of our own transmission network.

Our long distance and data businesses constituted only a limited portion of our overall results of operations
for the year ended December 31, I999, We anticipate that our long distance, data and Internet services businesses
will increasingly conaibute to our overall revenues in future periods, based on our current capital expenditure
plans and our planned expansion of these businesses.

The Restructuring

Our current structure was established under a restructuring in contemplation of this offering. See "The
Reswcturing," In the restructuring, we acquired from Unicorn Group its cellular businesses in nine provinces
and three municipalities including Beijing, Shanghai and Tianjin and its long distance, data and Internet
businesses. In the restructuring, we also acquired a 100% shareholding interest in Guoxin. In addition, we knave
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entered into certain arrangements with Unicorn Group. See "Relationship with Unicorn Group." We exQect that
these arrangements, and certain other changes in connection with the restructuring, will have a material impact
on our financial results and operations as described below.

Pro Forma Adjustments

We have made pro forma adjustments to reflect refinancing of the China -China -Foreign arrangements, the
effect of a change in taxation of connection fees, and a service agreement entered into between us and Unicorn
Group relating to purchase of SIM cards and other telephone cards.

Termination of China-China•Foreigri Arrangements

Unicorn Group has [erminated all China -China -Foreign arrangements relating to the cellular businesses
Transferred to us under the restructuring. As part of the agreements for the termination of the China -China -
Foreign arrangements, former China -China -Foreign paroners received cash paymenu in an amount representing
their original funding plus an agreed amount of compensation. We secured loans from Unicorn Group and bank
loans to refinance all outstanding loans from China -China -Foreign joint ventures.

Pro forma ad}ustments have been made to reverse the interest expenses amounting to RMB 535 million
attribu~able to all ouutanding loans from China -China -Foreign joint ventures, to record the RMB 58? million
interest expenses attributable to the aew loans from Unicorn Group and bank loans as if the new debt structure
had been in existence since January 1, 1999.

Taxation of Con~tection Fees

We generally charge a connection fee for each new subscriber to our cellular services. Prior to the
restructuring, connection fees were exempted from enterprise income tax. This tax treatment was part of the
Chinese government's policy to ensure adequate capital was available to finance the development of the cellular
telecommunications sector.

Following the restructuring, connection fee income will also be subject to 33% enterprise income tax. Had
tf~is connection fees income been subject to enterprise income tax in 1999, taxation on a pro forma basis would
have increased by RMB 222 million.

Implementation of New Terncs Relating to Phone Card Supply

We purchase SIM cards, Internet protocol telephone cards and other phone cards from Unicorn Xingye
Science and Technology Trade Co. Ltd., a 90% owned subsidiary of Unicorn Group. Prior to the reswcturing,
Unicorn Xingye Science and Technology Trade Co. Ltd. charged for these cards at fixed prices. Total costs for
these SIM cards, Internet protocol telephone cazds, and phone cazds werc RMB 334 million in 1999. As part of
the restructuring, we entered into a services agreement with Unic~m Group under which Unicorn Group will
supply, through Unicorn Xingye Science and Technology Trade Co., these cards to us. Prices for these cards will
be based on the actual cosu incurred by Unicorn Xingye Science and Technology Trade Co. plus a margin over
cost co be agreed from time to time but in any case not to exceed 20%, and subject to specified volume discounts.
Under the services agreement, the costs of supplying phone cards include the cost of importing the cards, affixing
software on the cards as weU as tabor costs. Applying the pricing schedules as i~ the supp3y agreement had been
in place on January 1, 1999, the total cost of SIM cards, Internet protocol telephone cards and other phone cards
on a pro forma basis would have been RMB 236 million in 1999, reflecting a decrease of RMB 98 million from
the amount on a historical basis.

Summary Impac! of the Pro Forma AdjushneRts

As a result of the pro forma adjustments, in 1999:

• operating income would have increased 3.5% from RMB 2,816 million on a historical basis to RMB
2,914 million on a pro forma basis, and
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• net income would have decreased 22.9~Io from RMB 839 million on a historical basis to RMB 648
million on a pro forma basis.

SAB 101 'il~eatment on Connection Fees

Connection fees represent one-time non-refundable charges to new subscribers for activation. of
telecommunications services. We recognize connection fees as revenue when the fees are paid under Hong Kong
GAAP.

In December 1999, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, "Revenue Recognition in Fina,~cial
Sratements" SAB l01 considers that upfront fees received from customers should be recognised over the
expected service life of the customers unless the fee is in exchange for products delivered or services performed
that represent the culmination of a separate revenue earning process. Under SAB 101, the incremental costs
directly related to the earning of connection fees should also be deferred and amortized to match with the deff:rral
and amoRization of connection fees.

Accordingly, under US GAA.P, we defer and amortize the connection fee, net of the direct incremental a>sts,
over the expected service lives of the customers, which is estimated to be approxunately ten years. This expe:ted
service life is determined based on our historical weighted average churn rates.

Results of Operations

The following table seu forth our selected statement of income data, expressed as percentages of reve~iue,
for the periods indicated.

Total revenue :..............................................
Cellular services ........................................... .
Paging services .............................................
Long distance and data services ................................ .
Total services revenue ....................................... .
Sale of pagers, handsets and SIM cards .......................... .
Operadngexpenses :..........................................

Leased lines ............................................
Interconnection charges .................................. .
Depreciation and amortization .............................. .
Personnel ................................ ..........
Cost of SIM cards, handsets and pager ....................... .
Selling and Marketing ................................... .
General, administrative and others ........................... .

Operating income ...........................................

Recent Developments

Year Ended December 31,
1997 1998 1999

100.0% 100.0% 1()0.0%
6. ] 15.2 :.0.5

54.4 60.0 `, 1.8
- - Q.5

60.5 75.2 f12.8
39.5 24.8 17.2
87.9 90.4 F3.9

8.1 93 6.3
.8 1.9 4.0

9.7 16. t :' 1.2
8.1 9.1 9.8

43.2 29.8 18.9
5.2 7.4 8.9

l 2.8 16.8 14.8
12.1 9.6 16.1

Our total cellulaz subscribers increased from 4.2 million as of December 31, 1999 to approximately 6.5
million as of April 30, 2000. We expect ow total cellulaz services revenues in 2000 to increase from 1~~99
primarily due to continuing increases in total cellular subscribers. Growth in cellular service revenues for the
first quarter of 2000 was partially offset by ]ower average revenues per subscriber per month, as compared to
full -year 1999. This was attributable to price competition in selected markets and the increasing proportion of
our cellular subscribers using prepaid services.
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As of April 30, 2000, we had approximately 43.7 million paging subscribers, as compared to approximately
43.5 million subscribers at the end of 1999. Paging revenues for the first quarter of 2000 were adversely affected
by lower average revenues per subscriber per month. This was attributable to price competition and increased
use of promotional programs to broaden our subscriber base in selected geographic regions and combined service
offerings designed to enhance cellulaz subscriber growth.

Year Ended December 31, 1999 Conepared to Year Ended Deceneber 31, 1998

Revenue

Tots! revenue increased from RMB 14,029 million in 1998 to RMB 17,450 million in 1999. The increase
was due primarily to a 150.0% growth in cellular services revenue, the fastest growing component of our
revenue, from RMB 2,126 million in 1998 to RMB 5,314 million in 1999. The increase in total revenue was
also a result of a 7.44'o increase in paging services revenue from RMB 8,423 million in 1998 to RMB 9.047
million in 1999. The revenue increase was offset to some extent by a 13.5°Io decrease in revenue from sales of
pagers, handsets and SIIv1 cards.

Cellular Services. Revenue from usage fees for cellular services almost tripled from RMB 1,084 million
in 1998 to RMB 3,189 million in 1999. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the number of cellular
subscribers from 1.2 million in 1998 to 4.2 million in 1499, which reflecned the expansion of coverage and the
increase in market share within our service areas. The effect of the increase in cellular subscribers on revenue
from cellular usage fees more than offset the effect of a 5.3% decline in our average minutes of usage per
subscriber per month from 211.5 minutes in 1998 to 200.2 minutes in 1999. The decline in average minutes of
usage per subscriber per month was due primarily to our increased penen-adon into segments with lower usage.

Revenue from monthly fees for cellular services increased 161.6% from RMB 427 million in 1998 to
RMB 1,117 million in 1999, replacing connection fees as the second largest component of cellular services
revenue. Revenue from connection fees for cellular services increased 38.4°lo from RMB 487 million in 1998 to
RMB 674 million in 1999. Our average connection fee per subscriber declined substantially in 1999 in line with
the industry mend in China

Revenue from interconnection fees increased from RMB 66 million in 1998 to RMB 208 million in 1999,
primarily due to an increase in calls from other networks to our networks and in roaming -in Traffic, which in tum
were attributable to the increase in cellular subscribers. In October 1999, the Ministry of Information Industry
enacted a new regulation regarding interconnection settlement, which eliminated interconnection revenue to us
for local calls from China Telecom's local public switched telephone network, commonly known as PSTN. See
"Relationship with Unicorn Group—Inte~onnection Arrangements." This new regulation will adversely affect
our future revenue from interconnecrion fees.

Other cellular services revenue increased by 103.2% from RMB 62 million in 1998 to RMB ] 26 million in
1999. This was primarily am-ibutable to an increase in revenue from value added services.

Paging Services. Paging services revenue increased 7.4% from RMB 8,423 million in 1998 to RMB 9,047
million in 1999, primarily reflecting a RMB 742 million, or 9.1%, increase in revenue from monthly fees.
Revenue from monthly fees increased due to an increase in our paging subscribers by 11.3% from 39.1 million
in 1998 to 43.5 million in 1999. In 1999, we continued to reduce or waive our connection fee in some of our
service areas, leading to a RMB 85 million or 47.5% decline in revenue from connection fees.

Long Distance and Data Services. Revenue from long distance telephony and data services in 1999
comprise primarily of revenue from our Internet protocol telephony service. In the period from June to December
1999, sales of Internet protocol telephony services amounted to RMB 165 million, and we recognized RMB 79
million in revenue from these sales. We expect to recognize [he difference between the sales amount and the
recognized revenue amount in future periods as prepaid minutes are used.
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Sales of SIM Cards, Handsets and Pagers. Sales of SIM cards, handsets and pagers decreased by 13.5%
from RMB 3,480 million in 1998 to RMB 3,OI0 million in 1999. Sales of pagers declined by RMB 681 million,
due to a decline in pager prices and our strategy to exit the pager sales business. We sell pagers at discounted
prices to attract new paging subscribers to our paging services. Sales of SIM cards and handsets increased by
66.8% to RMB 527 million in 1999 from RMB 316 million in 1998. This increase primarily reflects the increase
in sales of SIM cards, which was attributable to the increase in our cellular subscribers.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased 15.43'o from RMB 12,677 million in 1998 to RMB 14,634 million in 1999,
due to increases in depreciation and amortization, interconnection expenses, selling and marketing expenses.
personnel cosu and general, administrative and other expenses, which were partially offset by decreases in ]rased
line expenses and costs of SIM cards, handsets and pagers sold.

Leased Line. Leased line expenses decreased 15.6°70 from RMB 1,302 million in 1998 to RMB 1,099
million in 1999, due primarily to decreases in leased line rates. The state tariff rates for leased lines were reduced
in October 1999. Our leased line rates were even lower than state guidance rates. ?he effect of the reduction in
leased line rates was partially offset by increased use of leased lines as a result of our network expansion.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses increased 63.3% from
RMB 2,260 million in 1998 to RMB 3,691 million in 1999, reflecting an increase in capita] expenditures we
have made to improve and expand our networks.

Personnel Costs. Personnel costs increased 34.0% from RMB 1,278 million in 1998 to RMB 1.713 million
in 1999, due primarily to hiring of additional employees and an increase in salary levels. Approximately 7 Z,0~7o
of the increase in personnel cosu in 1999 was amibutable to the paging operation, resulting from an incre~~se an
salary levels and, to a lesser extent, headcount In addition, part of the increase in personnel costs in 1995' was
attributable to an increase in employee insurance expense.

Cost of SIM Cards and Handsets ared Pagers Sold Cost of SIM cards and handsets and pagers sold
decreased 21.2% from RMB 4,178 million in 1998 to RMB 3,294 million in 1999, reflecting a significant decline
in pager sales, winch was partially offset by an increase in sales of SIM cards and handseu. In certain case:,, we
sold pagers below cost to at~act new customers.

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased 49.3% from RM$ 1,043
million in 1998 to RMB 1,557 million in 1999. Our cellular operation accounted for approximately 88.7% cf the
increase in selling and mazketing expenses in 1999. The increase resulted from an increase in sales agent, and
promotion and advertising activities.

General, Administrative and Other Expenses. General, administrative and other expenses increased !).8%
from RMB 2,356 million in 1998 to RMB 2,5$7 million in 1999 reflecting increases in rental expenses, postal
subsidies and repair and maintenance expense. We will have no further obligation to pay postal subsidies. See
"Note 5 to the Financial Statements~peraring Expenses" for details of postal subsidies. These increases were
partially offset by a decrease in provision for doub~u! accounts. Rental expenses increased 52.3% from RMB~ 30b
million in 1998 to RMB 466 million in 1999, primarily reflecring the increase in rented sites at which our base
stations, switches and other network equipment are located as well as increases in rental rates. Repair and
maintenance costs increased 27.6% from RMB 297 million in 1998 to 379 million in 1999. Provision for doubtful
accounts in our cellular operation increased from RMB 121 million in 1998 to RMB 193 million in 1999 h~ased
on our policy to fully provide for accounts receivables outstanding for more than three months. For such doubtful
accounts, services have already been terminated and the chance of recovering the outstanding amounts is
considered to be low. Provision for doubtful accounts in our paging operations decreased from RMB 174 million
1998 to RMB 93 million in 1999, because Guoxin incurred a significant one-off provision for doubtful deh~ts in
association with ics spin off from China Telecom in 1998. These non-recurring doubtful accounts include: (I )
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certain balances due from the pmvincia) or local branches or subsidiaries of China Telecom in relation to service
fee revenue collected by them on behalf of Guoxin, which is considered uncollectible since the subscribers had
defaulted such payment as a result of not paying close attention to the debt collection process during the
restructuring period of Guoxin in 1998 and (2) balances due from local branches or subsidiaries of China
Telecom in small counties which have financial difficulties in repaying the amounts. This decrease was partially
offset by an increase in provision for doubtful accounts in our cel}ular operation, reflecting an increase in the
number of low quality subscribers as our coverage expanded.

Interconnection Expenses. Interconnection expenses increased 166.5% from RMB 260 million in 1998 to
RMB 693 million in 1999 as a result of an increase in the volume of roaming -oat calls and during 1999 calls
from our networks to other networks.

Financial Charges

Net financial charges increased from RMB 413 million in 1998 to RMB 704 million in 1999, reflecting a
RMB 325 million increase in interest expense, which was partially offset by a RMB 34 million increase in
interest income. Interest expense increased 67.1%from RMB 484 million in 1998 to RMB 809 mi]lion in 1999,
primarily reflecting an increase in total debt from RMB 11,648 million in 1998 to RMB 20,128 million in 1999,
partially offset by lower interest rates. Interest income increased 493% from RMB 71 million in 1998 co RMB
106 million in 1999, pzimarily reflecting an increase in interest on bank deposiu.

Loss Arising From Ternunaliores of China -China -Foreign Arrangements

We incurred a RMB 224 million loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements in
1999. See "Note 9 to the Financial Statements —China-China -Foreign Arrangements and lfieir Terminations."

Other Expenses, net

Other expenses in 1999 amounted to RMB 130 million which primarily reflected awrite-off of obsolete
equipment as a result of the integration and optimization of the nationwide paging networks after the separation
of Guoxin from China Telecom in 1998.

Taxation; Minority Interest

We incurred income tax expense of RMB 311 million in 1998 and RMB 556 million in 1999, reflecting an
effective tax rate of 35.5% and 31.6%, respectively. See "Note 8 to the Financial Statements—Taxation."

Minority interest increased from RMB 192 million in 1998 to RMB 364 million in 1999, reflecting the
increase in pre-tax income of the subsidiaries of Guoxin which have minority shareholders.

Net Income

Nec income increased from RMB 372 million in 1998 to RMB 839 million in 1999. Net income margin, or
net income as a percentage of revenue, increased from 2.7% to 4.8°Ic.

Adjusted EBITDA and Cash Flows

Adjusted EBITDA represents income before net financial charges, other expenses, taxation, depreciation and
amortization and loss arising from terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements. Loss arising from
terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangemenu both under Hong Kong GAAP and US GAAP for the year
ended December 3l , 1999 was RMB 224 million. There was no income Goss) from terminations of China -China -
Foreign arrangements for the years prior to the year ended December 31, 1999. Since the telecommunications
business is a very capital intensive business, capital expenditure and level of debts and interest expenses may
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have a significant impact on net income for companies with similar operating results. Therefore, we believ: that
for a growing telecommunications company such as ourselves, E$I'I'DA provides a more accurate reflection of
the company's operating results. While EBITT)A is commonly used in the telecommunications inc'.ustry
worldwide as an indicator of operating performance, debt capacity and liquidity, it is not presented as a measure
of performance in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and should not be consider:d as
representing net cash flows from operating activities. Our adjusted EBIT'DA as described in this prospectus is
not necessarily comparable with similarly titled measures for other companies. Part of the funds depicted by
adjusted EBTTDA are used for repayment of borrowed funds and related interest cost and payment of in:ome
tax. In addition, we have used and will continue to use a substantial portion of the funds depicted by adjusted
EBITDA for capital expenditure on network construction. Other than the above, there are no legal or functional
requirements that limit our discretionary use of the funds depicted by adjusted EBITDA.

Adjusted EBTIT)A increased 80.0°10 from RMB 3,612 million in 1998 to RMB 6,507 million in 1999.
Adjusted EBI'I'DA as a percentage of revenue, or adjusted EBI'TDA margin, increased from 25.8% in 198 to
37.3% in 1999 primarily due to increased contribution from our cellular operations, which historically has :gad a
higher adjusted EBITDA margin than that of our paging operations. Adjusted EBIT'DA margin for our cellular
operations was 48.7% in 1999, compared to 31.4~'o for our paging operations.

Net cash inflows from operating activities were RMB 6,856 million in 1999, compared to RMB :i,400
million in 1998. Net cash outflows from return on investments and servicing of finance and taxation were RMB
2,344 million in 1999, compared to RMB 1,946 million in 1998. Net cash outflows from investing activities were
RMB 13,930 million in 1999, compared co RMB 8,402 million in 1998. Net cash inflows from fina~icing
activities were RMB 11,084 million in 1999, compared to RMB 7,788 million in 1998.

Year Ended December 3I, 1998 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997

Revenue

Total revenue increased from RMB 13,374 million in 1997 to RMB 14,029 million in 1998. The increase
was due primarily to a 162.590 increase in cellulaz services revenue from RMB 810 million in 1947 to
RMB 2,126 million in 1998 and a 15.8% increase in paging services revenue from RMB 7,273 million in 1997
to RMB 8,423 million in 1998. Sales of pagers decreased by 38.3%, which was partially offset by the increase in
sales of handsets and SIM cards.

Cellular Services. Revenue from usage fees for cellular services increased substantially by 179.4% from
RMB 388 million in 1997 to RMB 1,084 million in 1998. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the
number of cellular subscribers from 338,900 in 1997 to 1.2 million in 1998. The effect of the increase in ce'~ lular
subscribers was partially offset by a 28°Io decline in our average minutes of usage per subscriber per month from
293.8 minutes in 1997 to 211.5 minutes in 1998.

Revenue from monthly fees for cellular services increased 214.0°/0 fmm RMB 136 million in 1997 to FtMB
427 million in 1998 due to an increase in cellular subscribers. Revenue fmm connection fees for cellulaz services
increased from RMB 249 million in 1997 to RMB 487 million in 1998 due to an increase in cellular subscribers,
partially offset by a decline in average connection fee per subscriber.

Revenue from interconnection fees increased by more than eight times from RMB 7 million in 1997 to FtMB
66 million in 1998, due primarily to an increase in calls from other operators' networks to our networks a~~d in
roaming -in traffic as we increased our cellular subscribers and expanded our network.

Other cellular services revenue increased by 106.7°lo from RMB 30 million in 1997 to RMB 62 milli~>n in
1998, primarily due to increases in revenue from value added services.

Paging Services. Paging services revenue increased by 15.8% from RMB 7,273 million in 1997 to FtM~
8,423 million in 1998, primarily due to an increase in monthly fees as our paging subscribers grew by 2i).3%
from 32.5 million in 1997 to 39.1 million in 1998. In 1998, we reduced or waived our connection charg:s in
some of our service areas, thereby contributing to a RMB 116 million, or 39.2°l0, decrease in revenue From
connection fees.
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Sale of SIM Cards, Handsets and Pagers. Revenue from the sale of SIM cards, handsets and pagers
decreased by 34,2~7o from RMB 5,291 million in 1997 to RMB 3,480 million in 1998, due to a RMB 1.963
million decrease in pager sales. The decrease in pager sales was partially offset by a RMB 152 million increase
in handset and SIM card sales. The decline in pager sales was due to lower pager prices and our strategy to exit
the pager sales business. Sales of SIM cards and handseu increased by 92.7°Io to RMB 316 million in 1998 from
RMB 164 million in 1997, primarily reflecting an increase in our cellular subscribers.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased 7.8°Ic from RMB 11,758 million in 1997 to RMB 12,677 million in 1998, due
to increases in depreciation and amortization, leased line expenses, interconnection expenses, personnel costs,
selling and marketing expenses and general, admiaistradve expenses and other expenses, which were partially
offset by a decrease in cost of SIIvI cards, handsets and pagers sold.

Leased Line Expenses. Leased line expenses increased 20.1%a from RMB 1,084 million in 199 to
RMB 1,302 million in 1998, due primarily to increased use of lease lines as a result of network expansion.

Depreciarion and Amomzarion. Depreciation and amomzation expenses increased 73.8% from
RMB 1,300 million in ]997 to RMB 2,260 million in 1998, primarily reflecting an increase in capital
expenditures to improve and expand our networks. Depreciation charge relating to the paging assets increased as
a new nationwide paging network commenced operation in late 1998.

Personnel Costs. Personnel costs increased 17.8% from RMB 1,085 million in 1997 to RMB 1,278 million
in 1998. Our paging operation and cellular operation accounted for apQroximately 65.3% and 34.7%,
respectively, of the RMB 193 million increase in total personnel costs in 1998. The increase in paging personnel
costs in 1998 was primarily due to an increase in salary levels as well as headcoun[s.

Cost of SIM cards and handsets and pages sold. Cost of SIM cards and handsets and pagers sold
decreased 27.7% from RMB 5,775 million in 1997 to RMB 4,178 million in 1998, reflecting a significant decline
in pager sales, which was partially offset by an increase in sales of SIM cards and handsets. In certain cases, we
sold pagers below cost to attract new customers.

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased 50.5% from RMB 693 million
in 1997 to RMB 1,043 million in 1998, due primarily to an increase in number of sales agents, average sales
commission rates and promotion and advertising activities. Our cellular operarion and paging operation
accounted for 51.7% and 48,3%, respecrively, of the RMB 350 million increase in sales and marketing expenses
in 1998.

General, Administrative and Other Expenses. General, administrative and others expenses increased
37.9% from RMB 1,709 million in 1997 to RMB 2,356 million in 1998 dve primarily to an increase in provision
for doubtful accounts from RMB 67 million in 1997 to RMB 295 million in 1998. Our paging operation
accounted for a significant portion of the increase in provision for doubtful accounts in 1998. This was because
Guoxin incurred a significant one off provision for doubtful accounts amounting to RMB 174 million in
connection with its spin off from China Telecom in 1998. We also increased provision for doubtful accounts in
our cellulaz operation due to an increase in the number of low quality subscribers as our coverage areas
expanded. The increase in general, adminisa~ative and other expenses was also due to an increase in rental
expense. Rental expenses increased 21.9% from RMB 251 million in 1997 to RMB 306 million in 1998,
primarily reflecting the increase in rented sites at which our base stations, routers and other network components
are located.

Interconnection Expenses. Interconnection expenses increased 132.1°Io from RMB 112 million in 1997 to
RMB 260 million in 1998, as a result of the general increase roaming out calls and traffic from our networks to
other operations' networks during 1998, reflecting the expansion of our cellular network and the increase in our
cellular subscribers.
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Financial charges, net

Financial charges increased 54.7% from RMB 267 million in 1997 to RMB 413 million in 1998, primarily
reflecting the increase in interest expense related to advances from our parent company as well as in~cerest
expense related to our China -China -Foreign amangemenu.

Other expenses, net

Other expenses in 1998 were RMB 64 million, reflecting a RMB 129 million which primarily comprises a
write-off of our paging equipment which mainly represented the disposal of obsolete equipment as a result of the
integration and optimization of the nationwide paging networks after the separation of Guoxin from (:hina
Telecom in 1998. This was partially offset by a RMB 99 million gain on disposal of interests in subsidi;iries.
This gain arose in the process of establishing Guoxin when the unions of the provincial Posts and
Telecommunications Administrations acquired the minority interests in the provincial subsidiaries of Gu oxin.
T'he excess of the cash consideration over the carrying value of Guoxin's proportionate share of the net asse:u of
Guoxin's subsidiaries was treated as a gain on the disposal by Guoxin of these subsidiaries.

Taxation; Minority Interest

We incurred income tax expense of RMB 468 million in 1997 and RMB 311 million in ] 998, reflecting an
effective tax rate of 35.5% and 35.5°Io, respectively. See "—Taxavon" and "Note 8 to Financial Statemer~u—
Taxation." Minority interest decreased from RMB 252 million in 1997 to RMB 192 million in 1998, reflecrng a
decrease in the pretax income of the subsidiaries of Guoxin which have minority shareholders.

Net Income

Net income decreased from RMB 600 million in 1997 to RMB 372 million in 1998. Net income m;~rgin
decreased from 4.5% to 2.7%.

Adjusted EBITDA and Cash Flows

Adjusted EBITDA increased 23.9°lo fmaz RMB 2,916 million in 1997 to RMB 3,612 million in 1998. This
increase in adjusted EBITDA included a RMB 720 million increase in adjusted EBIT'DA from our cellular
operation and a RMB 24 million decrease in adjusted EBITDA from our paging operation. Adjusted EB~~~A
margin increased from 21.8% in 1997 to 25.8% in 1998. Adjusted EBITDA mazgin for our cellular operations
was 38.9% in 1998, compared to 23.0°lo for our paging operations.

Net cash inflows from operating activities was RMB 5,400 million in 1998, compared to RMB 2,152 mi!Ilion
in 1997. Net cash outflows from returns on investments and servicing of finance and taxation was RMB 1.946
million in 1998, compared to RMB 1,102 million in 1997. Net cash outflows from investing activities was RMB
8,402 million in 1998, compared to RMB 4,781 million in 1997. Net cash inflows from financing activities was
RMB 7,788 million in 1998, compared to RMB 4,064 million in 1997.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to the restructuring, our operations were part of those of Unicorn Group. As a result, a significant
portion of our working capital, capital expenditure and other capital requirements were subject to the ov~:rall
budgetary plans of Unicorn Group. After the restructuring, we became a separate entity operationally and
financially. The historical information contained in this prospectus for periods before the completion of the
restructuring concerning our liquidity and capital resources may not be indicative of our liquidity and ca~,~ital
resources in the future or what the liquidity and capital resources will be or would have been had we be~:n a
separate, stand-alone entity during those periods.
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Working Capital, Cash Flows and Financing

As of December 31, 1999, working capital deficit, defined as current assets minas current liabilities, was
RMB 11,348 million, compared to RMB 2,618 million as of December 31, 1998. The increase in working capital
deficit was primarily attributable to an increase in payables to China -China -Foreign joint ventures from RMB
1,777 million as of December 31, 1998 to RMB 6,200 million as of December 31, 1949 and an increase in
payables to contractors and equipment supplies in connection with the consuvction of telecommunication
network. See "Note 9 to the Financial Statements." Cash and cash equivalents increased from RMB 4,337
million at the end of 1998 to RMB 6,002 million at the end of 1999.

As of December 31, 1997, December 31, 1998 and December 31, 1999, accounu receivable totaled RMB
312 million, RMB 639 million and RMB 896 million, respectively. The increases in accounts receivable were
primarily a result of increased sales of our services. Short-term and long-term bank and other loans, including
loans from Unicorn Group, totaled RMB 6,324 million, RM$ 11,648 million and RMB 20,128 million as at
December 31, 1997, December 31, 1998 and December 31, 1999, respectively. As of December 31, 1997, 1998
and 1999, inventories totalled RMB 1,844 million, RMB 1,118 million and RMB 734 million, respectively. The
decrease in inventories resulting primarily from a decrease in pagers, reflecting our strategy to exit the pagers
sales business.

Year Eflded December 31,
1997 1998 1999
RMB RMB RMB

(in millions)
?~Iet cash inflows from operating activities ... . ............................. 2,152 5,400 6,856
Net cash outflows from returns on invesunents and servicing of finance and

taxation ........................................................ ],102 1,946 2,344
Net cash outflows from investing activities ................................ 4,781 8,402 13,930
Net cash outflows before financing activities ............................... 3,731 4,948 9,418
Net cash inflows from financing activities ................................. 4,064 7,788 11,084
Increase in cash and cash equivalenu .................. . ......... . ....... 333 2,840 1,666

Net cash inflows from operating activities increased from 1997 to 1999, reflecting the growth in operating
activities due to the increase in both our cellular and paging subscribers.

Net cash outflow from return on investments and servicing of finance and taxation was RMB 2,344 million
in 1999, compared to RMB 1,946 million in 1998. This increase in outflow principally reflected increased interest
payments which amounted to RMB 852 million, which was partially offset by increased interest received by us
amounting to RMB 106 million.

Net cash outflow from investing activities was RMB ] 3,930 million in 1999, compared to a net cash outflow
of RMB 8,402 million in 1998. This net cash outflow in 1999 primarily reflected additional purchases of property,
plant and equipment so support our network expansion.

Net cash inflow from financing activities was RMB 11,084 million in 1999, compared to RMB 7,788 million
in 1998. This net cash inflow in 1999 primarily reflected additional proceeds from short term and long term bank
loans from Unicorn Group and banks.

Taking into account the net proceeds of this offering and available financing, we believe that we have access
to sufficient working capital for our present requirements.
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Indebtedness

As of December 31, 1999, our aggregate bank and other loans totaled RMB 20,128 million.

Repayable as of December 31,
1999

Within ARer
one year oee year 'Coral

RMB RMB RMB
(in millions)

Bank loans ..................................................... 1,694 1,732 3.426
Loans from Unicorn Group ......................................... — 10,502 10,502
Loans from China -China -Foreign joint ventures .......................... 6,200 — 5,200

7,894 12,234  2x,128

Interest rates on bank loans ranged from 4.95Ro to 8.40°!o per annum for 1999. Interest rates on loans from
Unicorn Group ranged from 5.85% to 8.64°!o for 1999. Interest rates on loans from China -China -Foreign joint
ventures ranged from 6.21 °lo to 8.01% for 1999.

Subsequent to December 31, 1999, we have:

• restructured the approximately,RMB 10.5 billion in loans from Unicorn Group outstanding as of
December 31, 1999 into direct borrowings of China Unicorn Corporation Limited from a range of
domestic financial insritutions;

• eliminated the approximately RMB 6.2 billion of loans from China -China -Foreign joint ventures
ouutanding as of December 31, 1999 through repayments effected by Unicorn Group upon
termination of the relevant China -China -Foreign joint venture arrangements; we expe~:t to
restructwe approximately RMB 7.4 billion of such repayments into direct borrowings by China
Unicorn Corporation Limited dwing 2000;

• incwred directly through China Unicorn Corporation Limited an additional approximately
RMB 3.0 billion in long-term indebtedness under credit agreemenu entered into with a range of
domestic financial institutions.

Our long-term debt credit agreemenu with domestic financial institutions generally bear interest payab e on
a quarterly basis and have single payment maturities ranging in term up to 5 yeazs. The credit agreements have
generally been extended to China Unicorn Corporation Limited, our principal operating subsidiary, and do not
include financial performance or other covenanu which materially restrict our operations or those of China
Unicorn Corporation Limited. As of April 30, 2000, approximately RMB 14.2 billion of our outstanding long-
term bank loans, including restructured loans from Unicorn Group, were secured by pledges of cellular oper;idng
asseu and fee revenues.
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Capital Expenditr~res

'The following table sets forth our historical and planned capital exQenditure requirements for the periods
indicated. Actual future capital expenditures may differ from the amounts indicated below. Future capital
expenditures relating to our cellular business mainly comprise network expansion projects planned by our
provincial branches. Future capital expenditures relating to our long distance business mainly comprise planned
fiber optic network conswction. Our provincial branches generally enter into preliminary arrangements with
equipment suppliers and consuucdon companies in connection with planned capital expenditure projects. These
arrangements are generally structured on a progressive payment basis with the final payments due upon
completion of projects.

Year Ended December 31,
1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

(in m€lions)
Cellular operation .............................. 2,346 4,222 8,288 33,400 16,000 14,200
Paging operation ................. . ............. 2,199 3.203 3,023 1,5 0 1,000 800
Long distance, data and other .....................  53 865 1,386 8,900 11,100 12,900

Total ....................................  4,598 8,290 12.697 43,800 28, ] 00 27.900

We expect our future capital expenditures will primarily focus on the expansion of our cellular network and
nationwide fiber optic network as well as the development of our data and Internet businesses. We have relied
on a combination of cash generated from operations, short-term and long-term bank and other borrowings and
credit fmm equipment suppliers as a source of funding for ow capital expenditures and othez capital
requirements. We believe that cash in hand, cash generated from future operations and the expected
US$4,764 million from the proceeds of this offering will be sufficient to fund most of our capital expenditures
and working capital necessary for our planned network expansion and continued growth of our operations
through the end of 2000. We curnently expect to finance our planned capital expenditures for 200] and 2002
through a combination of cash generated from operations, bank borrowings, other sources of external financings.
We currently believe that, on an overall basis, 80-90% of our funding requirements for capital expenditure
through 2002 will be fulfilled by the proceeds of this offering and cash generated from operations. We plan to
finance the remaining 10-20% of our funding requiremenu primarily through external bank borrowsngs.
However, we cannot assure you that we will not rely on, or need, other additional sources of financing for our
capital expenditures.

Foreign Exchange

We maintain our accounts in Renminbi and substantially all of our revenue and expenses are denominated
in Renminbi. Under the current foreign exchange system in China, we may not be able to hedge effectively
against curnency risk, including possible future Renminbi devaluations. Future movements in the exchange rate
of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies may adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition. See "Risks Factors—Risks Relating to the People's Republic of China—Devaluation of the
Renminbi ar~d restrictions on currency conversion in China could adversely affect our financial results and
positions."

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

We are currently exposed to the following principal types of mazket risks:

Tariff Rate Risk

We are subject to comprehensive government regulations, including setting and adjustment of tariff levels
for basic telecommunications services. The Ministry of Information Industry is the principal regulator of
telecommunications industry in China. The Ministry of Information Industry and the State Development Planning
Commission set the tariffs of basic telecommunications services.
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Regulated tariffs include connection fees, monthly fees, airtime usage fees, domestic roaming charges for
cellular services, monthly fees and connection fees for paging services, domestic long distance telephony rates
and Internet protocol telephone rates. These tariff levels are subject to periodic review and adjustment. 'Chese
reviews consider the effect of proposed adjustmenu on the revenue and profitability of the service providers, the
effect on customers and their integration into China's macroeconomic planning. Since our revenues are
dependent on tariffs fixed by the government, any future changes in the government's tariffs policies and state
guidance rates could affect our financial condition.

The detailed government guidance tariff rtes by different services are included in the "Regulation" section
of this prospectus.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to our short-term and long-term bank
loans, and loans from Unicorn Group and China -China -Foreign joint ventures, respectively, principall} as a
result of our indebtedness that bears interests at variable rates. Upward fluctuations in interest rates increase
the cost of new debt and the interest cost of outstanding borrowings in the event of adjustment of loan interest
rates undertaken by the People's Bank of Chiaa. We do not conduct hedging and interest rate swaps in
connection with long-term debts. As a result, a significant change in interest rates could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position.

The following cable provides information regarding our interest rate sensitive financial instrumenu, which
consist of short-term and long-term debt obligations, as of December 31, 1999:

Nature of Indebtedness

Renminbi denominated
short-term bank loans

Renminbi denominated
long-term bank loans

Renminbi denominated loans
from Unicorn Group

Loans from China -China -
Foreign joint ventures

Outs[~~ndimg
Interest Rate and Final Maturity Balances

R111B
(in million)

Floating interest rate ranging from 1,674
4.88% to 7.02%.

Floating interest rate ranging from 1,''52
4.95% to 6.30% per annum with
maturity through 2004.

Floating interest rate ranging from 10,`.02
5.85°lo to 8.64% per annum.

Floating interest rate ranging from 6,;!00
6.21% to 8.01%

For the year ended December 31, 1999, if the average interest rates for short-term bank loans, longterm
bank loans, loans from Unicorn Group and loans from China -China -Foreign joint ventures had increased by 10%
and all other variables were held constant, we estimate that we would have incurred additional interest exF~ense
of RMB 9 million on short-term bank loans, RMB 12 million on long-term bank loans, RMB 81 million on roans
from Unicorn Group and RMB 36 million on loans from China -China -Foreign joint ventures.

Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign currency exchange rate risk exists with respect to:

(1) our indebtedness denominated in currencies other than Renminbi and

(2) payables to overseas suppliers in respect of imported equipment.

Fluctuations in exchange rates may lead to significant fluctuations in the exposure of our foreign currency
denominated liabilities. We have not engaged in any foreign currency hedging activities.
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The outstanding amounts as of December 31, ] 999 were as follows:

(1) approximately RMB 434 million of payables to contractors and equipment suppliers were denominated
in US dollars, i.e. US$52 million and

(2) approximately RMB 539 million of capital commitments outstanding was denominated in U.S. dollars,
i.e. US$65 million.

US GAAP Reconciliation

The financial statements of Unicorn and its subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with Hong Kong GAAP,
which differ in a number of material respects from US GAAP. These differences relate primarily to amortizavon
of connection fees, the recognition of deferred income taxes and the non-recognition under Hong Kong GAA~'
of employee housing program costs not borne by us. See "Note 31 to the Financial Statements —Significant
Differences Between HK GAAP and US GAAP."
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PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In accordance with customary practice in securities offerings in Hortg Kong, we have prepared the foil swing
prospective financial information for the year ending December 31, 2000. Although we will become a rep~~rting
company after the global offering and have ongoing disclosure obligations under iI.S. federal securities laws,
we do not intend to update this information prior ro the announcement of our results of operations for than year
or to publish this information in future years.

Our independent auditors lave not examined this prospective financial information.

We did not prepare this information with a view towards compliance with published guidelines ~~f tie
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants regarding forecasts and projections. We prepared this
in accordance with accounting principles and local market practice in Hong Kong. This information is
necessarily based upon a number of assumptions and estimates that, while presented with numerical
specificity and considered reasonable by us, are inherently subject to significant business, economic: and
competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control, and upon assumFrtioms
with respect to future business decisions which are subject to change. Accordingly, we cannot prnvid~ any
assurance that these results will be realized. The prospective financial information may vary materially
from actual results. We make no representadon that these results will be achieved. You should not place
undue reliance on this information.

Profit Forecast

We believe that, on the basis and the assumptions set forth below and in the absence of unfon:seen
circumstances, our total operating revenue for the year ending December 31, 2000 is unlike3y to be less than
RMB 25,044 million under Hong Kong GAAP and less than RMB 24,837 million under US GAAP. On the same
basis, we believe that our net income for the yeaz ending December 31, 2000 is unlikely to be less than :2MB
525 million under Hong Kong GAAP, including a RMB 1,194 million one-time charge attributable t~~ the
termination of China -China -Foreign arrangements in 2000. This charge under US GAAP is expected to be RMB
800 million, net of tax effect, assuming a tax rate of 33 '0, which will be recorded as an extraordinary item. In
addition, under US GAAP, upon the completion of the global offering in 2000, we expect to record an additional
RMB 1,151 million charge to income in respect of the issuance of warranu to former China -China -Foreign
investors. Taking into account the foregoing, under US GAAP, we believe that we are likely to report a ner loss
for the year ending December 31, 2000 of not more than RMB 678 million. We are currently unaware o~' any
other extraordinary items which have arisen or are likely to arise in respect of the year ending December 31,
2000 which would affect the prospective financial information presented.

Basis and Assumptions

The above presentation is based on our audited consolidated financial statemenu for the year ended
December 31, 1999 and a forecast of our results for the year ending December 31, 2000. We have made this
forecast on the basis of accounting policies consistent in all material respects with those adopted for the pur~~oses
of our financial scatemenu and the pro forma financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus.

We have adopted the following bases and assumptions in the preparation of the prospective financial
information:

• there will be no material change in existing political, legal, fiscal, mazket or economic conditio~is in
China, Hong Kong, or any other country or territory in which we currently operate or which are
otherwise material to our revenues;

• there will be no changes in legislation, regulations or rules in China, Hong Kong or any other country
or territory in which we operate or have atrdngements or agreements, which adversely affect our
business;
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• there will be no material change in the basis or rates of taxation in the countries or territories in which
we operate, except as otherwise disclosed in this prospectus; and

• there will be no material changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates from those
currently prevailing;

~ revenue will increase by approximately 44°!0 over that of 1999, mainly attributable to the continued
rapid growth of cellular service revenue and additional revenue from the commercial operations of long
distance service as well as data aad Internet services, which commenced in 2000;

• operating casts will increase approximately 45% over that of 1999 as a result of:

— an increase in depreciation charges on additional fixed assets which will be put into operations to
support the expanding paging and cellulaz service and the newly launched long distance service;

— an increase in personnel and general and administrative expenses in line with the growing
operation scale of the various type of telecommunication services; and

— an increase in selling and marketing expenses in line with the promotion and advertising plans
and the expected increase in commissions paid to agenu in acquiring new subscribers;

~ interest expense will increase by approximately 101% over that of 1999 due to the expected increase
in bank borrowings to finance capital expenditures; and

~ tax expense will increase mainly due to an increase in income before tax and the effects of taxation on
the connection fees revenue effective upon the completion of the global offering.

• Under US GAAP, the fair value of the share warrants to be issued at the completion of the .global
offering is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The major assumptions used
include: no dividend yield, expected volatility of 50% and risk -free interest rate of 6.14%.
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INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

The inforneation presented in this section is derived from various government and private publicanins or
obtained from communications with the Ministry of Information Industry unless indicated otherwise. Neit,ier we
nor the underwriters o~ any of their affiliates or advisers have prepared or independently verified the infonnarion
presented is this section unless indicated otherwise. This information may not be consistent with other
information compiled within or outside the People's Republic of China.

Overview

The telecoavnunications industry in China has experienced significant growth in recent years. Accorc!ing to
the Ministry of Information Industry, the total number of fixed Gne subscribers increased from 70.3 mill ion at
the end of 1997 to 108.8 aullion at the end of 1999 while fixed line penetration increased from 5.7% to 8.610
during the same period. The mazket for cellulaz services in China has grown at an even faster rate as a;llular
subscribers increased from 13.7 million at the end of 1997 to 43.2 million at the end of 1999. The Internet in
China also experienced rapid growth. According to International Data Corporation, or IDC, the number of
Internet users in China increased from 1.4 million at the end of 1997 to 3.8 million at the end of 1999. Acc~~rding
to China Network Information Center, or CNNIC, the number of Internet users in China reached 8.9 million at
the end of 1999.

The following table sets forth information relating to the telecommunications industry and other inforniation
in China as of the dates indicated.

Corc~pound
annual
gr>wth

As of December 31, r ate
IS~97 -

1997 1998 1999 1999

China's population(1) (in millions) .............................. 1,236 1,248 l ,259 .9%
GDP per capita(1) (in RMB) ................................... 6.053 6,392 6,517 3.8

Fixed line subscribers(2) (in millions) ............................ 70.3 87.4 108.8 24.4
Fixed line penetration(3) ............................. . ........ 5.7% 7.0% 8.6% --

Cellular subscribers(2)(4) (in millions) ........................... 13.7 25.0 43.2 77.6
Cellular penetration(3) ....................................... 1.1% 2.0% 3.4% __

Paging subscribers(2) (in millions) ................... . .......... 47.2 61.3 73.7 2.i.0
Paging penetration(3) ........................................ 3.8% 4.9% 5.9% --

Internet users(5) (in millions) .................................. 1.4 2.4 3.8 63.8
Internet penetration(3) ....................................... .1% .2% .3% --

(1) Source: National Statistical Bureau.
(2) Source: Ministry of Information Industry.
(3) Determined by dividing the number of subscribers or users by the population of China,
(4) Except for 1999, the number of subscribers is estimated by adding the number of China Mobile's cellular

subscribers as published by the Ministry of Information Industry to the number of Unicorn Group's cellulaz
subscribers based on Unicorn Group's records.

(5) Source: IDC.
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Long Distance

The following table sets forth information relating to the domestic and international long distance voice
traffic in China through the public switched telephone network for each of the years ended December 31, 1997,
1998 and 1999.

1997 1998 1999

(billion minutes per
year)

Domestic Long Distance ................................................. 44.3 52. ] 58.5
International Long Distance(]) ............................................. 1.6 1.7 1.7

Source: Ministry of Information Industry.
(1) Included calls fmm Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

Lang distance voice Oraffic in terms of minutes of usage has experienced a steady growth along with the
growth of the Chinese economy. Domestic long distance telephony has been the fastest growing sector of fixed
line services. According to the relevant government authorities, total domestic long distance voice traffic through
the public switched telephone network increased from approximately 44.3 billion minutes in 1997 to 58.5 billion
minutes in 1999, representing a compound annual growth rate of 14.9% during that period. International long
distance voice traffic through public switched telephone network was also growing, but at relatively slower rates,
partially due to increasing use of internarional leased lines by high usage customers.

In 1999, we and three other operators in China, China Telecom, Jitong Communications Corp. and China
Netcom Corp., began offering Internet protocol telephony service on a trial basis. Internet protocol telephony
service offers significant pricing advantages over traditional telephony service through public switched telephone
network. For example, a caller pays RMB 15 per minute for an IDD cal] to the United States asing public
switched telephone network whereas he needs to pay only RMB 4.8 per minute using Internet protocol telephony
service.

Cellular

According to the Muustry of Information Industry, the number of cellular subscribers in China totalled 13.7
million at the end of 1997 and 43.2 million at the end of 1999, representing a comQound annual growth rage of
77.6% during that period. Despite this rapid growth, the cellulaz penetration rate in China, at 3.4% at the end of
1999, is still relatively low compared to many other Asian and international markets. Our service areas, which
cover China's economically more developed coastal azeas, represent approximately 67.7°!0 of China's total
number of cellular subscribers. Cellular penetration in these areas was at 5.1% at the end of 1999 compared to
the national average of 3.4%.

Currently, the majority of cellular subscribers in China use digital global system for mobile communication
standard. Some operators, are also exploring code division multiple access cellular technology and third
generation cellular technology. In addition, the latest wireless data technologies, such as wireless application
protocol, commonly known as WAP, and general packet radio service, commonly known as GPRS, are being
introduced to China Wireless application protocol technology will enable Internet access througfi cellular
handseu. GPRS is the packet data service for the global system for mobile communication standard.

Paging

China has the world's largest paging population with a total of 73.7 million at the end of 1999. The paging
sector grew rapidly after its introduction to China in 1984. The growth rate of paging services has declined in
recent years primarily due to competivon from cellular services. However, paging services offer several
advantages compared to cellular services, including lower tariff rates, wider geographic coverage, deeper in -
building penetration and longer battery life. We believe paging services still offer growth potential, particularly
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in rural areas and among low income consumers. In addition, we and other paging operators are also ex~~loring
using pagers and other wireless devices for wireless data applications, such as e-mail and e-commerce.

Data Communications

The data communications sector in China has grown rapidly in recent years. According to IDC, total
revenue from data communications in China increased from RMB4.9 billion in 1997 to RMB 13.1 billion in 1999,
representing a compound annual growth rate of 63.5% during that period. The table below sets forth sf:lected
information about sales of data services in China.

Year Endetl
December 3 f ,

1997 1998 1499

RMB RMB RMB
(in millions

Leased Line ........................................................ 2,843 4,326 7,355
Digital Data Network ....................... ......................... 1,090 1,812 2,645
[ntegrated Service Digital Network ....................................... 3 309 1,297
x.25 ............................................................. 760 937 1,034
Frame relay ........................................................ 202 368 802

Source: IDC, January 2000.

Historically, data services in China primarily comprised narrow bandwidth leased line services, x.25 service,
digital data network service and integrated service digital network service. Digital data network servio:s are
digital leased line services for data transmission. Integrated service digital network is a protocol which offers
high capacity dial -in access to public networks. This protocol allows simultaneous handling of digitalized voice
and data traffic on the same digital links via integrated switches across the public network. x.25 is an open
standard packet switching protocol that allows low to medium speed terminals to have either dial -in or perrr:anent
access to a network from the user's premises and operate on a network. Charges for these services have been
declining in recent years. However, the rise of the Internet and the wider adoption of multimedia applications are
expected to increase demand for sophisticated broadband data services. We and other operators in ('hina,
including China Telecom, are deploying advanced broadband networks to provide high -end data services such as
frame relay, asynchronous transfer mode and Internet protocol services. In particulaz, we believe virtual private
network services, utilizing asynchronous transfer mode and Internet protocol technologies, have significant
growth potential as they provide a reliable, cost effective alternative to private networks that rely on ded; Gated
leased lines. Only operators that can directly route traffic over their own networks with broad geographic
coverage are able to provide reliable and high performance virtual private network services.
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Internet

The Internet in China has grown rapidly due to increased access to telecommunications services and the
declining price of Internet access devices, primarily personal computers. In addition, online usage chazges have
been falling. The chart below sets forth IDC's estimates of historical and projected numbers of Internet users in
China.

Millions
of users
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Source: IDC, November 1999.

The business Iaternet service provider market is relatively undeveloped in China However, we and several
other operators are building customer access networks using fiber optic cables and fixed wireless networks to
provide high speed Internet access to large volume business customers. Other Internet related services, such as
e-commerce and online advertising, are also being developed rapidly in China.

Industry Restructuring

The Chinese government has taken a number of measures to restructure the telecommunications industry
and introduce competition since 1993. Up to 1994, China Telecom was [he sole provider of telecommunications
services in China In June 1994, Unicorn Group was established in accordance with the State Council's approval
to introduce competition to the telecommunications industry. Since then, the Chinese government has approved
Jitong Communications and China Netcom to provide Internet protocol telephony and Internet services.

In February 1994, the State Council approved a plan to restructure the former China Telecom along four
business lines: fixed line, cellular, paging and satellite communications. As a result of the resv€~cturing, China
Telecom currently operates fixed line, data and Internet businesses. China Mobile has assumed the cellular
business previously operated by China Telecom. As a result of the Chinese government's efforts to introduce
competition to the telecommunications industry, there are more than one service provider in almost all sectors
within the telecommunications industry. Unicorn Group is currently the only telecommunications provider in
China that operates the full range of telecommunication services, including long distance, cellular, paging,
satellite, data and Internet services.
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All references io "China Telecom" in this prospectus are to the telecommunications businesses owned and
operated by the Directorate General of Telecommunications and its provincial Posts and Telecommuni~:ations
Administrations and local Posts and Telecommunications Bureaus prior to the restructuring in 1999 of its
businesses and operations along four business lines: fixed line, cellular, paging and satellite services. The term
"China Telecom" also refers to that fixed line business following the reshvcturing. All references to "China
Mobile" are to China Mobile Communications Corporation, a cellular service provider that operates the cellular
business of China Telecom following that restructuring, and its subsidiaries.

To stimulate industry competition, the government transfered the paging business formerly operated by
China Telecom, known as Guoxin, to Unicorn Group. In addition, the Ministry of Finance injected RMB i billion
and RMB 4.l billion in 1999 into Unicorn Group.

Industry Trends

We believe that the telecommunications industry in China will be driven by several important trends in the
future, which present major opportunities for modem integrated telecommunications service providers. These
trends include:

Continued strong growth in the telecommunications industry ar~d Internet in China

We believe the telecommunicarions industry will continue to grow strongly, as continued development and
modernization of China's economy are expected to increase demand for communications services. With relatively
low fixed line telephony penetration at 8.6% and cellular penetration at 3,4°lo at the end of 1999, Caina's
telecommunications industry offers strong potential for growth. Moreover, we believe that the Internet will drive
future industry growth. China's Internet penetration is expected to increase rapidly due to increasing personal
computer penetration, availability of low cost Internet access devices and a decline in online usage ch irges.
According to IDC, the number of Internet subscribers in China will increase from 3.8 million at the end of 1999
to 33.1 million at the ead of 2004, representing a compound annual growth rate of 54%.

Migration of voice and data traffic from fried to wireless networks

We anticipate that wireless services will become increasingly popular as a result of improving wi:•eless
network quality and further reduction in wireless services tariffs. At current growth rates, we believe wireless
penetration will in the fume surpass fixed line telephony penetration in China. In addition, we believe that once
wireless networks offer broadband capability, data vaffic in addition to voice traffic will be rerouted from fixed
to wireless networks, creating more demand for wireless data services. Moreover, as wireless operators address
bandwidth constraints, we believe mone users will use wireless handheld devices, including cellular phoney and
pagers, to access the Internet.

Demand fog broadband, integrated telecommunications services

The wider application of the Internet for commercial and consumer purposes has led to the demani for
integrated telecommunications services which combine voice, data, video and Internet services using Int~met
protocol technology. The demand for integrated telecommunications services is particularly strong from high
usage business customers with sophisricated communications needs. In order to meet their requirement, we
believe that telecommunications service providers will have to be able to provide a wide range of integrated
telecommunications services with quality customer care and support. In addition, a high performance reliable
broadband network is crucial to providing integrated telecommunications services due to high bandy+idth
requirements.
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An increasingly open and transparent regulatory environnsenr

We believe that an open and transparent regulatory environment is pivotal to the healthy development of
the telecommunications industry in China. We expect the Chinese government to continue to reform the
telecommunications industry, improve its regulatory environment and promote orderly competition. China's
pending entry into the World Trade Organization is expected to open the domestic telecommunications market to
external competition, further encouraging progress toward a more open and transparent regulatory environment.
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BUSIIv~SS

We are a fast growing integrated provider of telecommunications services in China, offering a wide range
of telecommunications services, including cellulaz, paging, long distance, data and Internet services,

• We had a total of 4.2 million cellulaz subscribers at the end of 1999, representing a significant ir:crease
from approximately 339,000 at the end of 1997. During 1999, our cellular subscribers increased by
250°lo and we doubled our market share from 7.1% to 14.2% in our service areas. We are the second
largest cellular services provider in China after China Mobile, which tsad 25.1 million cellular
subscribers and a market share of 85.8°!o in our service areas at the end of 1999.

• We are the largest paging operator in China with 43.5 million paging subscribers at the end of 1999,
representing a market share of 59.0°/0. The rest of the paging services market in China is highly
fragmented, comprising a large number of small operators each with market share of less than 5 70. We
are actively exploring new opportunities to offer wireless data services to our paging subscribers and
to increase our penetration in central and western provinces and in rural areas.

• We commenced offering domestic and international long distance telephony services in 1999. W° have
sold more than 140 million minutes of Internet protocol telephony services since we launched oiir vial
Internet protocol telephony services in June 1999. Internet protocol telephony services use Facket-
switched network to exchange voice and other form of information. We believe that we are one ~~f five
current providers of Internet protocol telephony services in China We also launched our domestic and
international long distance services through the public switched telephone network in 25 major cities
in China in April 2000. We are currently the only operator other than China Telecom licen red to
provide domestic and international long distance telephony services in China. We plan to expuid our
long distance telephony services significantly to cover 220 cities by the end of 2000.

• We currently offer data services to 50 cities in China We plan to expand the range of our data services
to include leased line, frame relay, asynchronous transfer mode and virtual private networks, or VPN,
services, and launch our Internet services, including Internet access and web hosting services, in 220
cities in China by the end of 2000. Prior to the launch of our services, China Telecom was chi sole
provider of such services in China and other providers are pursuing this business in China. Our frame
relay service provides high speed, cost effective data transmission services linking different business
sites for high volume data traffic. Our asynchronous transfer mode service is a data transmission s~:rvice
using a high speed open protocol that has been developed for very high data rates. Our virtual private
network service is based on a shared network structure, allowing a customer to substantially reduce
communications cost, while enabling branch offices and a mobile work force to stay in touch with the
home office.

We operate an advanced telecommunications network system to support our integrated operations. The
system is based on a nationwide broadband fiber optic transmission network using synchronous digital hier;uchy,
architecture, and dense wave division multiplexing technology. Synchronous digital hierarchy architectur. is a
self healing network azclutecture that allows for instantaneous rerouting of signals in the event of a fiber cut.
Dense wave division multiplexing technology is a means of increasing transmission capacity by trans~ritting
signals through multiple wavelengths through a single fiber. In addition, our network system is based on << core
switching network employing asynchronous transfer mode and Internet protocol architecture. This fiber optic
vansmission network and the core switching network serve as the common platform to support cellular, paging,
long distance, data and Internet operations. We plan to extend the coverage of our fiber optic network frcm 25
cities in China at the end of 1999, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and other major cities, to 180 cities
by the end of 2000.

Business Strategy

Our growth strategy is to expand our network capacity and coverage area. We expect to achieve this through
a combination of organic growth and external expansion, including acquisivon of quality assets from Ur icom
Group and third parties. At present, we do not have a detailed plan as to the timing, targeu, terms and financing
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of any acquisitions. Our key business objective is to become the leading provider of advanced integrated
telecommunications services in China. We have developed the following business strategies to pursue our key
business objective.

General

• Target high growth, high margin areas oJChina's telecommunications industry

We will focus our resources on high growth, high margin areas of China's telecommunications industry to
maximize our return on investment. We have identified cellulaz, long distance telephony, data and Internet
services as our principal target businesses and we seek to become a market leader in these sectors.

• Build on our strength as an integrated provider of telecommunications services in China

We currently offer the broadest range of telecommunications services among all operators in China. We seek
to build on this unique position to maximize revenue opportunities by bundling and cross -selling our services.
For example, we bundle cellular and Internet protocol telephony services as a means to attract and retain our
customers. We also seek to achieve cost savings by integating the operations of our different businesses. For
example, our cellular and paging operations cuzrently lease a portion of their transmission capacity from third -
party networks. We piasi to reduce our leased line expenses related to our cellular and paging operations by
sharing the same transmission network used by our data and long distance operations. We will continue to
integrate our marketing efforts by utilizing the extensive sales outlets of our paging business to distribute other
sen~ices.

~ Deploy a nationwide advanced broadband fiber optic network as the common infrastructure for our
integrated operations

We expect that demand in China for multimedia (voice, data and video) and other high -bandwidth
applications, such as the Internet, corporate inttanet and wireless data applications, will increase significantly in
the next several years. We believe that an advanced broadband communicarions network is essential to providing
high quality, reliable and timely services to meet our customers' increasingly sophisticated communications
requirements. Consequently, we are deploying a nationwide advanced broadband fiber optic network to support
our integrated operations. Our network is designed and constructed with a single, uniform configuration and
utilizes advanced technologies including synchronous digital hierachy architecture, dense wave division
multiplexing technology, and asynchronous transfer mode, and Internet protocol technology. The advanced
features and uniform configuration of our network enable us to offer secure and reliable end-to -end
communications solutions to our customers in a cost effective manner.

• Re-engineer ourselves as a customer•oriented organization

We believe that operators in China will increasingly compete on the basis of customer service and support
in the future, and that it is therefore crucial [hat we re -engineer ourselves as acustomer-oriented organization.
We have designed and are in the process of implementing a new organizational and management structure with
assistance from leading international management consultanu and domestic management consultanu. We believe
[hat the new structure will allow us to more effectively manage our integrated operations and respond to customer
needs. In addition, we are also introducing a new incentive system including performance bonuses for our
employees as well as stock options for our senior managers and key personnel in order to align their interests
with those of our shareholders. We are also in the process of setting up nationwide customer care and service
centers which are centrally managed and can be accessed by our customers by dialing a single hotline number.

Cellular

• Further expand capacity and coverage and enhance the quality of our cellular network

We plan to further expand capacity and coverage and enhance the quality of our existing cellular networks.
Beginning in November 1999, we started deploying a DCS i 800 system based on global system for mobile
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communication technology to supplement our existing global system for mobile communication netw~~rk in
metropolitan service areas with heavy traffic and spectrum constraints. We have installed an intelligent network
on our cellular infrastructure, which enables us to provide pre -paid services and more sophisticated value .added
services. In 2000, we plan to invest approximately RMB 33.4 billion in our cellular network and bring the total
installed capacity of ow cellular network to enable us to serve up to approximately 18.6 million subscribers.

• Expand pre paid services and introduce wireless data and Internet services

We have started to offer pre -paid cellular services in selected cities aad plan to expand these services to all
of our service areas by June 2000. We believe that the pre -paid services will significantly increase penetration in
the low usage mazket because of the elimination of connection and monthly fees. We also expect prc:-paid
services to reduce our bad debt expenses. Additionally, we intend to offer wireless data and Internet servi~:es to
attract high usage customers and inc~nease overall airtime usage. In particular, we are focusing on proti iding
wireless Internet services, as well as high speed wireless data transmission based on general packet radio service,
or GPRS.

Paging

• Expand wireless data services to paging subscribers using pagers and other wireless handheld
deveces

We believe that demand for wireless information services will increase rapidly in China We plan to tailor
our wireless messaging services to the requirements of different customer segments and provide custor~lized
information on stock market, weather, agriculture, job market end freight transportarion management. We seek
to build on our strength in the paging business and offer a wide range of wireless data services to our p;iging
subscribers, including Internet access, e-mail and e-commerce, using pagers and other handheld devices
including personal data assistanu, or PDAs. We plan to invest in networks and software, including two-way
wireless messaging systems, that support wireless data applications. We have already introduced two-way
wireless messaging in Shanghai.

• Increase paging penetration in central and western provinces and in rural areas

We believe that paging services have significant growth potential in nual areas of China, in central and
western provinces and among mid to low income groups in cities. We plan to achieve sustainable subscriber
growth by increasing paging penetration within these geographical areas and demographic groups. To imple Went
this strategy, we plan to increase our promotional efforts and expand our sales network to central and western
provinces and nirai areas. We plan to utilize mobile customer service stations to serve customers who li~~e in
areas far away from our regulaz customer service centers.

Long Distance, Data and Internet

• Target high usage business customers

We focus on providing our long distance, data and Internet services to business customers and seek to
maximize our share of this rapidly expanding market. We believe our unique position as an integrated
telecommunications services provider in China allows us to meet the sophisticated needs of business customers
by offering them total communications solutions integrating voice, data, video and Internet services. We currently
target customers in business sectors which require a range of integrated communications services with national
coverage. ~'e plan to establish dircct sales teams that target lazge business accounts with packaged or customized
service offerings, innovative communications solutions and dedscated customer support. In order to ensure
reliable, high speed connectivity with ow business customers, we plan to build customer access networks i~~~ 31
major cities in China by the end of 2000.
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• Capture a signifuant share ojChina's long distance telephony market by providing high quality and
cost e,/j''ective telephony services

We plan to capture a significant share of the growing market for domestic and international long distance
telephony services. Our Tntemet protocol telephony network is based on a manageable Internet protocol network
configuration to ensure quality service. This network provides security and reliability and minimizes time delays
and traffic congestion compared with other Internet protocol telephony network designs. Our advanced high
performance network enables us to provide telephony services of comparable quality to, but at substantially
lower tariff rates than, those offered through traditional public switched telephone networks. In addition, we also
launched our domestic and international long distance services through the public switched telephone network in
25 major cities in China in April 2000 and plan to extend these services to 220 cities by the end of the year.
Also, under an interconnection agreement with China Telecom, users can access our circuit switched long
distance services by simply dialing a three digit prefix to take advantage of the discount we have been authorized
to offer from the state guidance rates. Since our Internet protocol telephony network is integrated with our circuit
switching telephony network, we can optimize the voice Uraffic between the two networks to ensure the quality
and reliability of telephony services to our customers.

• Rapidly develop our Internet business

We believe the development of the Internet in China presents major business opportunities for us. We plan
to rapidly grow our Internet business and become an industry leader in Internet protocol -related communications
services. By the end of 2000, we plan to launch dial -up Internet access services in 220 cities and offer high speed,
dedicated Internet access, co-location and web-hosting services to business customers. Given our strength in
wireless communications, including cellular and paging, we focus on offering Internet and related services using
wireless access to our cellular and paging subscribers.

Cellular

We offer cellular services in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Fujian, Liaoning, Shandong, Anhui, Hebei and
Hubei provinces and the Beijing, Shanghai and Tianjin municipalities. We are the second largest cellular services
provider in China after China Mobile, which had 25.1 million cellular subscribers and a market share of 85.8%
in our service areas at the end of 1999. Our service azeas cover most of the coastal areas in China. These areas
hosted approximately 67.7% of China's total cellular population at the end of 1999 and aze economically more
developed and generally more prosperous than other areas in China We also offer domestic and international
roaming services to our cellular subscribers, which allow them to make and receive calls throughout China and
abroad.
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The diagram below illustrates our cellular service areas in China and the size of the population, the cellular
penevation rate and the number of our cellular subscribers as of the end of 1999 in each of these areas.

BeiJing T1anJtn Uaoning

Ham' Populatbn 12.5 mlllio~ Population 9.8 million Population 41.8 million
Population 88.1 million Cellular penetratlon 1a.7~6 Cellular penetration 7.8% Cellular penetration 6.0°~
Cellular penetratlon 2.2% ~r aubacribera 288,844 Our subsuibera 62,650 Our subscribers 434,853
Our subscrlbera 92,058 ~_

Shandon Mhui —~

Population 8b.9 million ~~ Population 62.d mil
Cellular penetratbn 2.8% ,~'§~`~u, ?~^~~' - Cellular penetration 1.6

'~ ..:,

Our subscribes 393,471 (. N ^.^..~ ~ . ~ s M - - Our suDscnbers 140.023

Population 59.4 mlllbn ~"ii~~~"" t ~ ~< "' ~° ti~~~.,{ P lotion 72.1 million
Cellular penetration 2.0% ~ ~~# ~~ ~^ Cellular penetraDor 4.0°/
Our subscribers 88,800 ~' ,~ =" ~ ~ Our subscribers 542.967

,.. ~ 
. ,, ~ _ ~.. JP

Po uletion 332 million - P Iatlon 14.5 millionp Population 722 miWon p ulatlon 44.8 millbn ~Cellular penetration 8.576 ~~~ular penetration 9.56 °p Cellular penetration 14.0
Our subscribers 308,382 pur subacrlbera 876,831 ~~uiar penetration 7.7% Our subscribers 339,159

Our subscribers 595,627

Our Service
China Areas

Population (in millions)(1) ................................................ I ,259 578
1999 GDP per capita (RMB)(2) ............................................ 6,SI7 9,808
1997-99 GDP per capita compound annual growth rate ........................... 3.8°l0 7.6%
Cellular Penetracion(3) .................................................. 3.4°l0 5.1 is

(1) Populavon as of December 31, 1999. The combined population of our cellular services area is detemun:d
by adding the population of each of the twelve provinces or municipalities in our cellular service areas. Tie
population as of December 31, 1999 for each of the twelve provinces or municipalities is estimated ~y
multiplying the population as of December 31, 1998 of that service area by the natural growth rate of tie
population of that area for 1998 as published by the National Statistical Bureau.

(2) The 1999 GDP per capita for each of the twelve provinces or municipalities is estima[ed by multiplying tie
1998 GDP per capita for that service area by the rate of increase in GDP per capita from 1997 to 1998 for
that area as published by the National Statistical Bureau.

(3) Cellular penetration for an area is determined b}' dividing the number of cellular subscribers in such area as
of December 31, 1999 by the population of such area as of December 31, 1999.
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Subscribers and Usage

The following table seu forth selected historical information about our cellular service operations and our
subscriber base for the periods indicated.

As of or for the
Year Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999

Number of our subscribers (in thousands) ......................... 338.9 1,188.8 4,154.5
Our estimated market share in our service areas{1) .................. 3.6% 7.1% 14.2°Io
Avenge annual churn rate(2) .................................. 10.0% 11.2% 11.0%
Average minutes of usage per subscriber per month(3) ................ 293.8 211.5 200.2
Average revenue per subscriber per month (in RMB)(4) ............... 317.4 231.9 165.8

(i) Market share in a given area is determined by dividing the number of our subscribers in the area by the
total number of cellular subscrsbers in the area.

(2) Average annual churn rate is the rate of subscriber disconnections from our celiuiaz network, which we have
determined by dividing the sum of voluntary and involuntary deactivations during the period by the average
of the number of our subscribers on the first and last days of the period.

(3) Average minutes of usage per subscriber per month is calculated by:
~ dividing the total minutes of usage dwing the period by the average of the number of our subscribers

on the first and last days of the period and
• dividing the result by the number of months in the relevant period.

(4) Average revenue per subscriber per month is calculated by:
• dividing the sum of cellulaz services revenue during the relevant period by the average of the number

of our subscribers on the first and last days of the period; and r
• dividing the result by the number of months in the period.

During the three years in the period ended December 31, ]999, our market share grew significantly. We
believe that this growth is attributable to a number of factors, including:

~ expansion in the service areas of our networks and improvement in network quality,

• the competitive pricing of our services,

• our effective marketing strategy, and

• our focus on customer service.

As the connection fees for cellular services in China declined in recent years, the cost of cellular users to
switch between cellular networks also decreased, which contributed to the increase in our churn rates for the
three years from 1997.

When cellular telecommunications services first became available in China, cellular subscribers consisted
primarily of high income individuals and business customers including government entities. As connection fees
and the price of handsets declined and cellular technology improved, cellular services have become increasingly
affordable and much more popular with the broader middle income market for both business and social uses.
These subscribers generally have lower average monthly usage and are generally more price -sensitive.
Accordingly, as is typical in many countries with developing cellular markets, the average usage and revenue
per subscriber have declined in cEcent years as cellular telephone penetration has increased. Notwithstanding
these declines, total minutes used by our customers grew from approximately 754.3 million minutes in ]997 to
approximately 6,600 million minutes in 1999.
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Tariffs

Generally we charge our cellular subscribers the following categories of tariffs:

• connection fees,

• basic monthly fees,

• usage charges for both incoming and outgoing calls,

• roaming charges, and

• monthly charges for value-added services, if applicable.

We charge our new cellular subscribers a connection fee for service activation. After initial connecticm, we
charge a fixed monthly fee. Subscribers incur base usage charges on a per minute basis for both incomir:g and
outgoing calls. For calls made or ~ceived by our subscribers who are roaming outside of their local servicc: area,
roaming charges plus applicable long distance charges. Subscribers may also have to pay local surcharges. In
addition, we collect fees for value-added services. We offer varied service plans tailored to meet the different
needs of our customers.

We also offer pre -paid services. Pre -paid customers do not pay connection or monthly fees but pay a }uglier
usage charge on aper-minute basis. Once the pre -payment is utilized, apre-paid customer can make additional
prepayments to continue services.

Our tariffs are subject to regulation by various government authorities, including:

• the Ministry of Informarion Industry,

• the State Development Planning Commission, and

• the relevant provincial price regulatory authority.

The connection fee is based on guidance rates set by the Ministry of Information Industry in consultation
with the State Development Planning Commission, with the actual tariffs determined by the provincial Post and
Telecommunications Administrations and price regulatory authorities. In general, the Ministry of Information
Industry determines base usage charges, domestic roaming charges anti tariffs for all domestic and international
long distance calls in consultation with the State Development Planning Commission. International roaming
charges are set by agreements with the relevant foreign operators.

The following table summarizes the state guidance rates for various charges for cellular services .0 of
December 31, 1999.

St~~ce
Guidance

Ra>:es

RI~LB
Connection fee .............................................................. 500-],500
Basic monthly fee ............................................................ 50
Base usage charge (per minute) .................................................. .4
Domestic roaming charge (per minute) ............................................. .6

(1) Source: Ministry of Information Industry.

In 1997, the Chinese government granted us preferential treatment by allowing us to vary our tariffs by up
to 10°lo below the state guidance rates. In 1999, the Chinese government authorities further allowed us to vary
our tariffs by up to 20% below the state guidance rates in areas where China Mobile operates local analog cellular
networks. This preferential treatment helped us capture a significant number of cellular subscribers by allo~~ving
us to market our cellular services at discountcd rates.
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The state guidance rates for connection fees have declined from a range of RMB 3,000 to RMB 5,000 in
1993 to the current range of RMB 500 to RMB 1,500. We expect that the government will further reduce or
even eliminate the state guidance rates for connecrion fees in the future. We believe, as in the case of lower
handset prices, lower connection fees generally amact more subscribers to cellular services.

Ya[ue•Added Services

We offer a number of value-added services to our cellular subscribers. These services include:

~ short messaging service (which provides information such as stock prices, weather and traffic
conditions),

• data and fax services, and

• voice mail services.

We have recently installed an intelligent network on our cellular infrastructure which allows us to offer pre-
paid cellular services and sophisticated value-added services. We provide these services to our customers either
free of charge or at a mi~timal monthly fee. These value-added services enable us to differentiate our services,
atvact new customers and increase airtime usage.

In addition, we are conducting trial programs to offer wireless Internet access using wireless application
protocol and high speed wireless data transmission using general packet radio service.

Recent Agreement weth Vodafo~ee AirTouch

On June 12, 2000, we entered into an agreement with Vodafone AirTouch plc in relation to possible co-
operation in the areas of roaming and mobile technology.

Pursuant to this agreement

• Vodafone AirTouch plc agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its controlled affiliate
companies to consider and evaluate the merits of entering into standard non-exclusive roaming
agreemenu with us.

• We agreed to consider and evaluate the meats of entering into standard roaming agreements with
Vodafone AirTouch plc's affiliate companies.

• We and Vodafone AirTouch plc have agreed to engage in future discussions regarding possible
collaboration and cooperation in the areas of mobile technology and operations. Our proposed
collaboration and ca-operation is expected to be carried out within the regulatory framework of China
and in accordance with the market opening schedules in China's accession to the World Trade
Organization. The parties further agreed to consider establishing possible future mutually acceptable
joint venture or partnership relationships in China.

• Neither Vodafone AirTouch plc nor us is restricted under the agreement from entering into similar
agreements with other entities or persons nor does the agreement commit the parties to enter into
future convactual arrangements.

Paging

Through our subsidiary, Guoxin, we offer local, provincial and nationwide paging services in China. Guoxin
is the largest paging company in China with 43.5 million paging subscribers as of December 3 I , 1999.
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Subscribers

The following table sets forth selected information about the paging market in China and our p,iging
subscribers for the periods indicated. References to our paging subscribers prior to Guoxin's establishment in
1998 are to subscribers of the paging networks operated by Cfiina Telecom which were subsequently assumed
by Guoxin.

Year Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999

Total paging subscribers in China(1) (in millions) ......................... 47.2 613 73.7
Total penetration rate in China(2) ..................................... 3.8% 4.9% 5.9%
Our paging subscribers (in millions) ................................... 32.5 39.1 43.5
Our market share(3) ........................... . ................... 68.9% 63.8% 59.0%

(1) Source: Ministry of Information Industry.
(2) Determined by dividing the number of subscribers by the population of China
(3) Determined by dividing the number of our paging subscribers by the number of paging subscribers in Gina.

The number of our paging subscribers increased from approximately 32.5 million at the end of 1957 to
approximately 43.5 million at the end of 1999, representing a compound annual growth rate of 15.7% during
this period. We believe that our paging subscriber growth has been attributable to a number of factors, including:

• the adoption of advanced paging technologies,

• the broad geographical coverage of our paging network, and

• the introduction of nationwide and infra -province roaming services and value-added services.

Our estimated nationwide paging mazket share has declined from 63.8% at the end of 1998 to 59.0% a: the
end of 1999, reflecting the increased competition in the mazket and our strategy to balance subscriber growth
and overall profitability of our operations.

Our paging subscribers currently consist primarily of the urban population. Although the growth rate of our
paging subscriber numbers in urban areas has slowed down in the past two years, we believe significant growth
opportunities still exist in central and western provinces and in rural areas. We will target our efforts accordingly
to develop the paging mazket in these areas.

Basic and Value -Added Paging Services

We provide our paging services at the local, provincial and national levels. At the local level, the
geographical coverage of our paging service is limited to a city and the nual areas under its administration.
Services at the provincial or national level involve intra-province or nationwide interconnection, allowing our
paging subscribers to receive messages while travelling outside their local service areas.

We provide the following basic types of paging services:

~ numeric paging, and

• alphanumeric paging.

Numeric paging allows a subscriber to receive a numeric message that may consist of a telephone nurr ber
and other coded information. Alphanumeric paging allows subscribers to receive and store messages consisting
of numbers, letters and Chinese characters.

In addition, we offer a range of wireless information services, including stock quotes, weather information,
entertainment news and agricultural information. We plan to continue to refine and personalize our wire: ess
information services to meet the different needs of our paging subscribers.
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The table below sets forth the number of subscribers for each type of our paging services as of
December 31, 1999.

As of
December 31, 1999

(iv millions)
Numeric ............................................. 32.5 74.7%
Alphanumeric .............:.........:................. 10.3 23.7/0
Others .............................................. .7 1.6%

Total ................. ........................... 43.5 100%

We also provide Internet -based wireless messaging services, which allows our subscribers co receive paging
messages, e-mail and other information from the Internet.

In 1999, we introduced two-way wireless messaging service in Shanghai and had approximately 3,900
subscribers at the end of 1999. We plan to expand the offering of this service to other cities during 2000. Two-
way wireless messaging technology, compared with the traditional one-way paging technology, offers the
potential to significantly expand the scope of wireless data services. Using the two-way technologies, subscribers
can:

• send e-mail,

• send messages fmm their pagers to other paging subscribers, and

• search and re~ -isve information from the IntemeL

Tari, f,~s

We charge our paging subscribers the following categories of tariffs:

~ service connection fees,

• basic local monthly service fees,

~ provincial and national roaming surcharges, and

• additional monthly fees for value-added services.

The following table summarizes guidance rates for the principal charges of our paging services at local,
provincial and national levels as of the date indicated.

As of December 31, 1999

Numeric Alphanumeric

R111B RMB

Connection fee .................. ................ 100 100
Maximum Local Monthly Service Fee ................... 15 35
Ma~cimum Provincial Service Surcharge . ................ 10 10
Maximum National Service Surcharge ................... 20 20

The Ministry of Information Industry is responsible for determining the state guidance rates for our services.
The local price regulatory authorities and local telecommunications regulators are responsible for implementing
the state guidance pricing scheme.

Currently we waive or significantly discount our connection fees for most of our new paging subscribers.

Long Distance

We have approvals from the Chinese government to offer a variery of long distance services in China. We
commenced offering Internet protocol telephony, long distance telephony and .leased line service in June 1999.
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Circuit Switched Telephony

We offer our domestic and international long distance telephony services with our circuit switched network
to both residential and business customers. Our current offerings are focused in cities undergoing rapid eco;~omic
development in China. We have introduced these services in 25 major cities and plan to extend these services to
220 cities by the end of 2000. We also offer long distance services through pre -paid phone cards. We off:r our
international long distance service through Unicorn Group's existing international gateways in Shangh~ii and
Guangzhou, and the proposed international gateway in Beijing, the construction of which is expected to be
completed by the end of 2000. International gateways connect domestic and foreign carriers. Our long di;;tance
network connects with foreign operators and operators in Hong Kong.

Tariff rates for domestic and international tong distance telephony services are determined by the relevant
government authorities. Rates for domestic long distance calls are charged on a per minute basis and vary
depending on the time of day and day of the week a call is placed, its duration and the distance covered try the
call. See "Regulation—Tariff Setting and Price Controls." We receive preferential regulatory treatment that
enables us to set our circuit switched long distance tariffs below the state guidance rates, which are the rates
generally charged by China Telecom. We are permitted to set our rates from 17% to 25% below the state
guidance rates during the initial four -month period of our operation and up to 10% after the initial four -month
period. Our customers will be able to make calls to most major countries and regions of the world. In April
2000, we obtained approval from the Chinese government to set the tariffs of our international long distance
telephony services at levels 20~'o below the State guidance rates for one yeaz. We expect to derive revenuc;s for
outbound calls made to foreign counti -ies as well as from foreign cazriers for connection of inbound calls to ovr
subscribers. The settlement rates under our agreemenu with foreign carriers are negotiated with each carrier.

Internet Protocol Telephony

We commenced offering domesric and international long distance telephony services using Internet protocol
technology in June 1999. We offer our Internet protocol telephony services based on a manageable Internet
protocol network configuration to ensure the quality of service. We intend to develop various value-z~.dded
services on our Internet protocol telephony network, including unified messaging services which integrate
voicernail, e-mail and fax services.

As of December 31, 1999, our trial Internet protocol telephony service covered 12 major cities including
Beijing, Guangzhou and Shanghai. We plan to expand our Internet protocol telephony network to cover 220 cities
by the end of 2000. We plan to extend our Internet protocol international long distance service to cover most
countries and regions of the world. Our trial Internet protocol telephony service has been well received b:y the
market. Since we launched our Internet protocol telephony service in June 1999, we have sold more that. t 40
million minutes of Internet protocol telephony services and developed approximately 4,100 business customers.
As an integrated services provider, we offer Internet protocol telephony services to our cellular subscribers. Tfiis
service allows our cellular customers to reduce their tong distance charges by more than 50%.

Leased Line

We lease transmission lines to large business customers and other carriers in China. Our leased line services
also provide customers with non-switched, dedicated, digital links directly connecting customer sites. We pn~vide
leased line services of different bandwidths and allow customers to increase their bandwidth as required.
Guidance rates for leased lines are determined by the Ministry of Information Industry and the State
Development Planning Commission. See "Regulation—Tariff Settings and Price Control—Leased Line
Services."

Data and Internet

We are approved by the Chinese government to provide data and Internet services.
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Data Services

We provide a wide range of data services to respond to the growing demand in China for high speed data
transmission and communications between customers' sites. We plan to rapidly develop our data services
businesses. Our data services include:

• Frnme relay services that provide high speed, cost effective data communications services linking
remote business sites using frame relay technology, and

• Asynchronous transfer mode services that employ asynchronous transfer mode technology to handle
high bandwidth, integrated voice, video, data and Internet traffic between customer sites.

In addition, we provide virtual private network services which we believe present fast-growing new business
opportunities. Based on a shared network savcture, a customer is able to substantially reduce communications
costs, while enabling an increasing number of branch offices and an increasingly mobile workforce to stay in
constant touch with the home office. Our nationwide advanced broadband fiber optic communications network
with uniform design and configurations will enable us to provide services with the following features:

• end-to-end quality service with nationwide scope,

• high performance service with quality of service guarantee, particulazly for real-time applications such
as voice and video,

• high network security, and

• centralized network management capability.

We have launched data services in 50 cities and plan to provide data services in 220 cities by the end of
2000. VVe target high volume business asers of voice, data and video communications.

Internet

In response to the growing demand for Internet related services in China, we plan to offer the following
services:

• Dedicated Internet Access. We will offer business customers high speed Internet access through
dedicated lines. We seek to bundle this service with voice and data services to provide integrated
communications solutions to our business customers. We plan to provide dedicated Internet access
services in 31 major cities in China by the end of 2000.

• Dial -up Internet Access. We have commenced offering dial -up Internet access services to consumers
in 50 cities in China and plan to expand our coverage to 220 rides by the end of 2000. We have already
obtained a nationwide dial -up number, 165, and will market our dial -up Internet access either through
our own distribuCion channels or reseilers under the brand name "CNiJniNET."

• Web Hosting and Data Center Services. We will provide Web hosting and data center services to mid-
sized and small businesses.

In addition, we are also actively developing ocher opportunities in the Internet sector, including Internet
content services and e-commerce.

Interconnection and Roaming Arrangements

1 reterconnection

In accordance with regulations issued by the former Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications in 1995,
our provincial subsidiaries and branches have entered into interconnection agreements with subsidiaries or
branches of China Telecom in the same provinces, allowing our networks to interconnect with China Telecom's
public switched telephone network. This in turn allows our cellular subscribers to communicate with fixed line
telephony subscribers and cellular subscribers of other telecommunications operators.
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In August 1999, the Ministry of Information Industry issued new regu]ations relating to settlement of call
charges for interconnection between telecommunication networks. These new regulations contain provisions
regarding revenue sharing methods and settlement mechanisms for interconnection arrangements between us and
other operators. These new regulations became effecrive in October 1999. We plan to renegotiate all of our
existing interconnection agreemenu for our cellular operations with China Telecom in order to comply with the
new regulations. We have entered into an interconnection agreement under the new regulations to intercc}nnect
our long distance network with China Telecom's public switched telephone network. These interconn~;ction
arrangements under the new regulations are described in "Regulation—Interconnection Arrangements."

We have also entered into a services agreement with Unicorn Group which contains, among other things,
the terms we have agreed with Unicorn Group with respect to interconnection charges, revenue sharin,; and
related settlement arrangements between our networks and Unicorn Group's networks. Under these azranger,.~ents,
settlement for calls between cellular subscribers is different provinces is conducted on the basis of an internal
settlement standard applied by Unicorn Gmup prior to the restructuring and based on the respective internal costs
of the relevant networks or the standard applicable between third -party operators under the new regulations,
whichever is the more favorable to us. This internal settlement standard is currently more favorable ro u, than
the settlement standards set out in the 1999 regularions.

We have established interconnection of our Internet network to other Internet networks in China.

Roaming

We offer roaming services to our cellular subscribers, wtuch permit them to make and receive calls •Nhile
they are not in their local service areas, but are inside another service area of our networks. We have entered into
roaming arrangements with Unicorn Group to allow our cellular subscribers to roam on al] of Unicorn Gn~up's
networks and to allow Unicorn Group's cellular subscribers to roam on our networks. Under a recent decisi~~n of
the Ministry of Information Industry, our cellular subscribers will have access to roaming services on China
Mobile's cellular network in seven western provinces not covered by our cellular networks. In addition, our
subscribers can roam on cellular networks in Europe, North America and other Asian countries and re ;ions
through Unicorn Group's international roaming agreements with operators in those areas. Unicorn Grou~~ has
agreed to arrange for us to participate in its future international roaming arrangements.

A cellular subscriber using roaming services is charged at our roaming usage rate for both incoming and
outgoing calls, plus applicable long distance canffs. Under our roaming agreement with Unicorn Group.. our
subscriber who roams in a service area of Uaicom Group is charged for each call made or received at the roaming
tariff of RMB .60 per minute. This roaming charge is collected by us and allocated as follows:

• RMB .40 is paid to Unicorn Group; and

~ R'vIB .20 is retained by us.

Conversely, where a Unicorn Group's subscriber roams in one of our service areas, the roaming char;e is
collected by Unicorn Group and the tariff is allocated as follows:

~ RMB .56 is paid to us; and

• ~vig .04 is retained by Unicorn Group.

With respect to international roaming, we settle roaming revenues with other international operators thrcwgh
Unicorn Group in accordance with roaming agreements between Unicorn Group and relevant international
operators.

Networks

We operate an advanced communications system to support our integrated operations. The system is based
on a nationwide advanced broadband fiber optic transmission network, which serves as the common platforni for
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our cellular, paging, long distance and data and Internet networks. We believe that the convergence of voice,
data, video and Internet protocol services is an important industry trend. Consequently, our network strategy is
to converge the different networks using a common infrastructure to rationalize our €etwork resources and
provide integrated, cost effective communications services to our customers.

In addition, we are developing a complete set of management and network support systems to ensure the
superiority and reliability of our networks and improve our operating efficiency, such as a network management
system, a billing and operation support system, a customer care system and a management information system.
The following diagram illustrates the structure of our network system.

Cwtortw Pnmisa Network
s~rvlos~

Acgas Network ~\
V1MWu Aocw TertnmW

Slnitehlnp Wetvrork

/i~ / 7Yansmis~Jon rMNvork\ \innr.~.\.
AaoM~ GIWyr ~.

/ Synchrenoua Digital Hiearchy \ ~

Dense Wave Dlviebn MulUplezlnp ~~

Transmission Neework

We are deploying an advanced nationwide broadband fiber optic network that is designed to provide the high
quality, reliable bandwidth required by our integrated operations. By the end of 1999, the network consisted of a
total of approximately 90,000 kilometers of fiber optic cables, including approximately 15,000 kilometers of inter -
province fiber optic cables connecting 25 major cities in China including Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. We
have installed fiber optic cables in polyet}•ylene conduiu bwied alongside railways and, to a lesser extent, alongside
highways and on telephone poles. We plan to expand our inter -province and in~a-province long distance fiber optic
transmission network to over 47,000 kilometers covering 180 cities in China by the end of 2000.

Our fiber optic transmission network is designed for broadband capacity and superior security and reliability.
based on:

• Bi-directional synchronous digital hierarchy architecture with four -fiber ring, aself-healing system
that allows for instantaneous rerouting and eliminates downtime in the event of a fiber cut,

• Dense wave division multiplexing technology, a means of increasing transmission capacity by
transmit[ing signals through multiple wavelengths through a single fiber, and

• Digita] cross connect system, a specialized type of high-speed data channel switch that enables us
[o manage the routing of traffic and loading of switches more efficiently.

Our synchronous digital iuerarchy fiber rings have a ~ansmission capacity of 2.5 Gbs in most routes and 10
Gbs for the ring covering the southern coastal areas of China. Our system capacity can be increased by up to 16
times using dense wave division multiplexing technology. The relevant transmission equipment and technology
was procured mainly from Lucent, Nortel and Alcatel.

Long Distance, Data and Internet Protocol Networks

Currently, our long distance networks consist of 23 circuit switches from Lucent and our data and Internet
protocol networks consist of 90 asynchronous transfer mode switches from Lucent and routers and other Internet
protocol equipment from Cisco. In addition, we built a network for our trial Internet protocol telephony services
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in l2 cities in China. By the end of 2000, we plan to expand our long distance telephony network to cover 220
cities in China and increase the number of circuit switches to 30.

We have launched broadband data and Internet protocol services in 50 cities and plan to further expand
these services to 220 cities in China by the end of 2000. Our broadband data and Internet protocol networks
utilize a unified Internet protocol and asynchronous transfer mode design, which is particularly well suio;d for
real-time, multimedia applications such as video and voice that require high quality of service. Our synchronous
digital hierachy-based transmission network provides reliable bandwidth for bandwidth -intensive applic<<tions.
Asynchronous transfer mode switches perform high-speed switching of voice and data traffic using fixed -(length
packets technology, therefore minimizing time delay and congestion. Furthermore, our asynchronous transfer
mode switches can prioritize applications that least tolerate time delay, such as telephony and video, over less
time -sensitive applications such as e-mails and file transfer. Finally, our long distance telephony and Internet
protocol telephony networks are integrated such that we can oprimize voice traffic between those two net~Norks
to balance the traffic load, avoid network congestion and ensure service quality.

A customer typically accesses our long distance telephony, Internet protocol telephony and Internet se -vices
through China Telecom's public switched telephone network. Our cellular subscribers are able to access all these
services directly through our cellular networks. Customers using our data services are typically conr;ected
through dedicated connectivity provided by us or leased from third parties.

However, for high usage business customers who require broadband access for integrated voice, data and
Internet protocol services, we plan to connect them dic+ecdy to our core network either by installing a fiber cable
connecting their premises or through local multipoint distribution systems, also commonly known as L1vIDS.
This system generally consists of a pair of digital radio transceivers, one on our switching office and oiie oi€
customer premises, providing high-speed data connecaviry. It offers several advantages including rapid
deployment and configuration, and avoidance of the high costs of installing fiber cables in urban areas. We plan
to develop high speed access networks in 31 major cities in China by the end of 2000.

Cellular Network

Our cellular network consists of:

• cell sites, which are physical locations equipped with a base station consisting of transmitters,
receivers and other equipment used to communicate through radio channels with subscribers' cei`fvlar
telephone handsets within the range of a cell,

• base station controllers, which connect to, and control, the base station within each cell site,

• mobile switching centers, which in tum control the base station controllers and the routing of
telephone calls, and

• transmission lines, which link the mobile switching centers, base station controllers, base stations and
the public switched telephone network. See "Technology."

While we own most of the cellular transmission network at the local and regional level, we lease a portion
of our national transmission capacity. In the future, we plan to use our own fiber optic transmission network to
provide vansmission capacity for our cellular network.

The following table sets forth selected information regarding our cellular networks as of the dates indicated.
As of December 31,

1997 1998 1999

Network subscriber capacity (in thousands of subscribers) ......... . ........ 729 2,084 t~,642
Base stations ................................................... 838 2,321 "',480
Mobile switching centers ............................ . ............. 26 53 126
Base station controllers ........................................... 62 120 3l 4
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Currently our cellular network is based on global system for mobile communication technology that
operates at 900 MHz. We have begun deploying global system for mobile communication technology that
operates at 1800 MHz in some major metropolitan areas to augment the capacity of our existing cellular network.
Our cellular network uses SS7, an advanced signaling system, which fosters efficient use of network capacity,
reduces call set up dme and enhances transmission capabilities. We have also installed an intelligent network on
our cellular network infrasWcture to enable us to provide prepaid services as well as a wide range of advanced
cal] features and value-added services.

We have the authorization to use 6 MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz frequency band and 10 MHz in the
1800 MHz frequency band for an indefinite term for our global system for mobile communication network.

We plan to bring the total system capacity of our cellular network to approximately 18.b million subscribers
by the end of 2000. We have increased the capacity of our intelligent network to more than 3.5 million
subscribers to accommodate anticipated growth in ow pre -paid services. Additionally, we have installed Internet
protocol gateways on our cellular network to provide wireless application protocol services.

We source cellular equipment primarily from Motorola, Siemeas, Ericsson, Nortel Networks and Nokia.

Paging Network

The primary components of our paging network are:

• Paging control system, which receives an incoming message for a paging subscriber and encodes the
message with an encoder, and

• Base station, which transmits the message to the subscriber's pager.

Some of our paging control systems are manual and some are automatic. A manual paging control system
requires the caller to leave with the control system voice messages which will be processed and transmitted to
the pager. An automatic paging control system transmits the caller's telephone number automatically to the pager
and also allows the caller to key in coded messages to be ~ansmitted to the pager.

Our paging network can be sub-divided into a national paging network, provincial paging networks and
local paging networks. Our paging network uses FLEX encoding technology and post office code standardization
advisory group encoding technology. Of these two types of encoding technology, FLEX encoding technology
provides higher data rate, larger content capacity, longer battery life and better error correction capabilities.
FLEX encoding technology has an encoding rate of up to 6,400 bits Qer second. We source our paging equipment
mainly from Glenayre and Motorola.

As of December 31, 1999, the total network capacity of our paging network was 123 million subscribers.
We believe our existing system capacity is adequate to provide for subscriber growth in the next several years.
We cucrentty lease transmission lines from China Telecom for a portion of our transmission capacity. In the
future, we expect to use our own fiber optic transmission necworic. We have recently completed atwo-way paging
network in Shanghai using GWCom equipment. We also plan to upgrade our existing one-way FLEX paging
system in se3ected cities to a wireless data system based on ReFI.EX technology, a communication protocol ghat
supports two-way radio applications.

The Ministry of Information Industry allocates spectrum for our national paging network. We have received
seven frequency points for our narional network and various provincial and local network spectrum usage rights,
al] in the l50 MHz and 280 MHz frequency bands. We believe our spectrum resources are sufficient to
accommodate anticipated subscriber growth for the next several years.
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Marketing, Sales and Distribution

Marketing Strategy

We mazket our cellulu, long distance telephony and data services under the China Unicorn brand nan€e and
our paging services under the Unicorn Guoxin brand name. We have pursued a marketing strategy to actively
3promote our image as an integrated telecommunications service provider and advertise our products, services
and brand names. For example, one of our key strategies is to cross -sell our other services to encourage our
paging subscribers to use our cellulaz services.

With respect to our cellular services, we actively pursue a segmented marketing strategy to tailor our
services to meet the needs of individual customers and different market segments. To implement this mar:ceting
strategy, we offer discounted rates from time to time based on seasonal calling patterns of specific customer
groups, subject to relevant government approvals. We also offer flexible long distance service plans that
distinguish between peak and off-peak call periods.

With respect to our paging service, we apply a two-level segmented marketing and distribution strategy. In
the southeastern coastal areas of China where the paging service market is intensely competitive and relatively
saturated, we focus our marketing effort on retaining existing subscribers through the provision of a wide range
of value added services such as information services, and adding new subscribers at a steady pace. ]n the
economically less developed central and western provinces aztd rural areas that have significant paging market
growth potential, we plan to increase our subscribers through expanding our sales network and adopting flexible
sales methods. Although we plan to largely exit the pager sales business, we expect that we will contir•ue to
subsidize pager sales, perhaps through increased sales commissions, to attract customers.

To promote our data and long distance services, we target high usage customers, such as fin;incial
institutions, large domestic and multinational corporations and government entities as well as the fast growing
sector of Internet service providers and Internet content providers in China. We emphasize our advanced nei:work
and our ability to provide data and long distance services as well as cellular services as a bundled solution.

Sales and Distribution

We divide our customers into three categories: carriers, business customers and retail customers. For
carriers, we conduct our sales through our own direct sales teams by visiting the customers in order to understand
their needs and provide them with services that satisfy their particular needs. For business customers, we conduct
our sales through our own direct sales teams as well as independent sales agents who receive a commission:. For
retail customers, we conduct our sales through our branches and the retail sales offices of our subsidi cries,
including those of Guoxin, as well as the sales outlets of post offices and third party retail chains.

We distribute our cellular and paging services to consumer subscribers through two distribution networks:

• sales outlets owned and operated by agents, including post offices, and

• our own sales offices.

The sales outlets operated by our agents originated a majority of our new cellular subscribers and a
significant portion of our new paging subscribers in 1999. We have approximately 8,000 sales outlets iii the
cellular business and approximately 19,000 sales outlets in the paging business. We have integrated our sales
and marketing operations by utilizing the large nationwide network of our paging sales outlets to distribute and
market our cellular, long distance and Internet protocol telephony services. We offer training to sales agent; and
our own sales employees with respect to our network system, products and services and require them to take
examinations from time to time. We pay the sales agents commissions ranging from RMB 100 to RMB 36~) per
cellular subscriber and from RMB 50 to RMB 100 per paging subscriber, depending on the service area. 'It~ese
sales agenu are not our exclusive agents and may provide services to other tamers. Our own sales net~Nork
provides a variety of services including addressing customer inquiries and complaints, accepting payment~~ and
providing after -sale and pager repair services.
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We have set up dedicated direct sales teams and customer service groups for high usage business customers
both at our headquarters and at our provincial and local branches. These sales personnel focus on selling our
cellular, data and long distance services as an integrated package to their targeted customer segment We plan to
offer these customers priority services, price discounts and other incentives.

Customer Care and Customer Service

We believe that the quality of customer service is critical to attracting and retaining customers. We focus on
the following key processes for effective delivery of our services: the initial and continued provision of services,
receiving and resolving customer queries and billing and collection. We have historically invested, and will
continue to invest, heavily in the equipment and information systems associated with customer services.

In our cellular operations, we provide a full range of services that emphasize customer care from the point of
sale and onward. We are able to activate new subscriber connections promptly upon completion of ail application
procedures. We operate customer care hotlines in our service areas that provide customers with billing and service
information and receive customer reports of network problems. We also have a customer care and service unit in
each of our service areas which provides customer service guidelines, handle customer complaints and sets customer
credit policy. We provide itemized monthly statements for our cellular subscribers in selected clues.

We have established paging customer care centers across the country to handle inquiries and complaints
from its paging customers, and each of our local paging service areas has its own customer care and service
hotline.

Currently, customer service networks for our ce]]u2ar and paging businesses are separated. To capitalize on
our unique position as an integrated telecommunications services provider in China, we are in the process of
setting up customer care and service centers which are centrally managed and can be accessed by our customers
by dialing a single hotline number. We will provide one-stop shopping for all service requirements across
different service categories, including cellular, paging, long distance, data and Internet.

We maintain a variety of customez records and analyze customer behavior. This analysis helps us target
different customer segments with different service offerings, develop and retain high usage customers, develop
new services and ultimately increase our market share.

Billing and Collection

Cellular

Generally, we require individual subscribers to settle their accounts on a monthly basis. Subscribers may
pay in [he following ways:

• in person at outlets owned and operated by us,

• in person or by direct debit at banks designated by us,

• in person or by direct debit at post offices designated by us, and

~ in person at offices of our sales agents.

We charge a late payment fee on subscriber accounts that are not paid by the monthly due date. When
subscriber accounts become overdue, we contact subscribers by telephone to remind them to settle their accounts.
We generally disable a subscriber from making outgoing calls if the account is more than 30 days overdue. These
subscribers whose services have been deactivated must pay all overdue amounts, including applicable late
payment fees, to reactivate their services. We will terminate a subscriber's service and will remove him from the
subscriber list if his account is overdue for more than three months. We then send representatives to collect the
outstanding amounts in person. If this effort proves unsuccessful, we initiate legal proceedings against the
delinquent subscribers. We have implemented subscriber registration procedures including credit and background
checking for corporate cellulaz customers to assist in credit control.
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We plan to actively promote our prepaid phone services as a means of controlling bad debu. We organize
our settlement system on a centralized basis to settle roaming charges, which facilitates our ability to offer
roaming services.

Paging

Before we activate paging services for a new subscriber, we require the paging subscriber to pre -pay the
fees for all requested services for at least one month. Prior to the expiration of the pre -paid period, we contact
the subscriber by telephone or pager to remind the subscriber to renew his services by making addition<i] pre-
payments. We deactivate a subscriber's service immediately if the subscriber does not renew the service upon
the expiration of the prepaid period and we will remove a subscriber from our subscriber list if no renewa: takes
place within the next three months. This pre -payment program has helped us minimize collection risk and i educe
unpaid receivables. Customers may initiate paging services or make payments at our retail outlets or retail
agencies or at banks and post offices we designate. Through arrangements with designated banks, we als~~ plan
to allow customers in some service areas to make payments by telephone or via the Internet.

Long Distance, Data and Internet

With respect to customer billing procedures for long distance services, we have established a national
settlement center and three regional billing centers located in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. These re;;ional
billing centers coordinate with local customer service and billing centers to generate monthly statements. We
also provide pre -paid long distance services. With respect to our leased line services, lease payments aze made
on a monthly basis in accordance with our standazd leased tine agreement

We have adopted different payment methods tailored to the different needs of users of our Internet pr~>tocol
telephony services. We set up accounts for high usage business customers who have bank accounts v~ith a
verifiable credit history. We establish credit limits for these customers and require them to settle their account
balances on a monthly basis. We also sell rechazgeable and non-rechargeable pre -paid cards for our Internet
protocol telephony services.

Competition

Cellular Competition

At the end of 1999, we had a market share of 142% and China Mobile had a market share of 85.8% in our
service areas. China Mobile has a competitive advantage over us in terms of financial resources, geogra~~hical
coverage, experience in the cellular business and brand name. To compete against China Mobile, we have -elied
on more advanced technology, better network quality, better customer service and our unique position as the only
integrated telecommunications provider in China as well as preferential treatment from the Chinese government
that has allowed us to offer discount rates. We were the first to build global system for mobile communication
networks in China and have introduced various value added services based on intelligent cellular nets orks.
According to recent press reports, an official from the Ministry of Fnformation Industry indicated th~.t the
Ministry of Information Industry does not have any current plans to issue additional licenses to conduct cellular
operations in China.

Paging Competition

In recent years, competition in the paging industry in China has been very intense. At the end of 199'), we
had a nationwide paging market share of 590. The rest of the paging services market in China is comprised of
approximately 1,520 paging service providers with insignificant individual market shares. In addition, future
technological developments in the wireless telecommunications indusay and enhancements of current technology
may create new products and services which could compete with the paging services we currently offer: We
believe that we have a competitive advantage over our competitors in the paging industry because we hive a
dominant market position, an advanced paging network, the broadest coverage in China, a well recognized brand
name, comprehensive customer services coverage and strong financial resources. In addition, as a result of our
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having achieved a large scale of paging operations, we have become more cost efficient. We are actively pursuing
new paging technologies and services such as twaway paging and Internet access. We also focus on improving
customer service.

Long Distance Telephony Coripetition

Ow primary competitor in the long distance telephony business is China Telecom. China Telecom has
advantages over us in terms of financial resources, service area coverage and size of customer base. Since our
network has been constructed recently, we believe that it is equipped with more technologically advanced
features as compared to other existing networks in China. These features not only produce a cost advantage over
our competitors, but also enable us to provide better services. For example, our recently installed nationwide
intelligent network allows us to offer pre -paid services and expands the scope of our value-added services. We
also have a competitive advantage derived from our centralized billing system for our long distance telephony
service, which allows as more flexibility in setting our tariff plans, subject to government regulations.

Our Internet protocol telephony service faces competition from China Telecom, China Mobile, China
Netcom Corp. and Jitong Communicarions. We offer our Internet protocol telephony services based on a
manageable Internet protocol network configuration to ensure the quality of service. As an integrated service
provider, we are able to offer our Internet protocol telephony services to our cellular subscribers.

We have not yet acquired any significant market share in the long distance telephony business.

Data and Internet Services Competition

Companies in the data and Internet services businesses compete primarily on transmission quality, network
bandwidth, scope of services and price. In the data services business, our major competitor is China Telecom.
While there are many Internet service provider in China, China Telecom has a leading position in the consumer
Internet service provider market. We plan to enhance the competitiveness of our data and Internet services
businesses by utilizing advanced nationwide uniform network technologies and equipment and leveraging our
position as an integrated service provider as well as our unique ability to vary our tariffs by up to 10% below
state guidance rates. Our nationwide unified Internet pmtoco] and asynchronous transfer mode network enables
us to provide nationwide virtual private network services, which we believe will provide us with many new
business opportunities. In addition, as an integrated services provider, we plan to offer wireless lnternet access to
our cellular and paging subscribers.

We have not yet acquired any significant market share in the data or Internet services businesses.

Employees

As of December 31, 1999, we had 33,088 employees, These employees are classified by function as follows:

Data and
Long Internet

Headquarters Cellular Paging Distance Services Total

Management ........................... 47 529 9 Z 8 63 3? 1,594
Technical and engineering ................. 96 3,467 5,375 239 255 9,432
Sales and marketing ...................... 28 5,012 9,968 102 74 15,184
Financial and accounting .................. 27 597 ],201 30 24 1,879
General administration .................... 60 714 4, ] 49 37 39 4,999

Total ............................. 258 10,319 21,611  471 429 33,088

In addition, our paging operation employs more than 35,000 temporary paging operators, most of whom are
temporary workers.
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The average age of our employees is appmximaiely 29.8 and approximately 52% of our employees have
college or graduate degrees. We have developed numerous training programs for ovr employees at different
levels. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Legal Proceedings

We are not involved in any material iitigadon, arbitration or administrative proceedings. So faz as eve are
aware, no such litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings are pending or threatened.

Properties

Executive D,~`eces

Our principal executive offices are located in Beijing and are leased from Unicorn Xingye pursuaz~t to a
lease agreement renewable at our option. We also maintain initial executive offices in Hong Kong, whi~:h are
leased from China United Telecommunication Corp. (HK) Limited for a nominal rent of HK$1.00 per ~.nonth
pursuant to an agreement te~ninable at any time by either party giving one month's notice.

Owned Properties

We own approximately 1,245 parcels of land and approximately 811 premises throughout China whi~~h we
use as offices, retail outlets, machine rooms and base stations. In respect of the approximately 872 owned
properties, representing approximately RMB 636 million or 30% in value of our owned properties on a market
value basis, we have not obtained relevant land use rights certificates or building ownership certificates. Ui~icom
Group has agreed to indemnify us against any loss or damage incurred by us caused by or arising from any
challenge of, or interference with, our right to use these properties. We have also undectaicen to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange to use our best endeavours to obtain atl such title certificates within two years of the completion
of this offering and to inform our shareholders of the status of these title certificates on a semi-annual basis by
way of announcement until we have obtained all such title certificates.

Leased Properties

We lease from Unicorn Group and third parties approximately 5,120 properties throughout China which we
use as offices, retail outlets, machine rooms and base stations. In respect of approximately an additional 530
properties leased from Unicorn Group and third parties, we have not entered into formal lease agreements with
the lessor or the lessor does not possess requisite tide certificates. We and Haiwen &Partners, our Chinese
counsel, are of the opinion that these properties have defective tide. Sallmans (Faz East) Limited, an indepe adent
valuer, is of the opinion that these properties have no commercial value and have not valued them. We believe
chat had there been a valuation of these properties as at March 31, 2000, there would not have been any material
impact on our financial position or net asset value as at March 31, 2000 as a result of a valuation of these
properties. Most of these properties are base stations which are compazatively small in size, easily reloc~.table
and highly scattered in location. We believe that it is unlikely that we would be denied access to a large number
of these properties at the same time. Unicorn Group bas undertaken to China Unicorn Corporation Limited that
China Unicorn Corporation Limited will be able to use these properties for the remainder of the relevant lases
and will indemnify China Unicorn Corporation Limited against any loss or damage caused by or arising from
any challenge to, or interference with, such right.

Sallmans (Far East) Limited has valued our property interests (other than those leased properties in respect
of which we have not entered into forma] lease agreements or the lessor does not have requisite title certificates)
as at March 31, 2000 at RMB 2,064,310,000, including the 872 owned properties for which we have not yet
obtained formal title certificates. The text of the letter and the valuation certificate issued by Sallmans (Far East)
Limited are set out in Appendix A to this prospectus.

80

Case 2:15-cv-07425-RGK-PLA   Document 121-19   Filed 10/26/16   Page 81 of 157   Page ID
 #:3725



We have obtained a legal opinion from Haiwen &Partners on title matters relating to these properties. We
have not obtained a valuation for those ]eased properties in respect of which we have not entered into formal
lease agreemenu or the lessor does not have requisite tide certificates. To our knowledge, during the one year
immediately prior to our nesWcturing, we did not appoint any independent surveyors for the purpose of preparing
valuation reports for these properties. We believe that had there been a valuation of these properties as at
March 31, 2000, there would not have been any material impact on our financial position or net asset value as at
March 31, 2000 as a result of a valuation of these properties. Since March 31, 2000, there have been no material
adverse changes affecting these properties.

'h~ademarks

People's Republic of China

Except for our paging business, we conduct our businesses under the Unicorn name and logo. Unicorn
Group is the registered proprietor in the PRC of the "Unicorn" trademark in English and the trademark bearing
the Unicorn logo. Under an exclusive trademark license agreement, Unicorn Group granted China Unicorn
Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries the right to use these trademarks on a royalty -free basis for a period of
flue years.

The word Unicorn in Chinese has previously been registered as a trademark in the People's Republic of
China by an unrelated party. In April 2000, the Trademark Examination Committee of the State Administration
of Industry and Commerce approved Unicorn Group's application to revoke the registration of the unrelated
party. Unicorn Group has applied to become the registered proprietor of the trademark of the word Unicorn in
Chinese. Under the terms of the trademark license agreement, Unicorn Group has agreed to license to us this
trademark if Unicorn Group becomes the registered proprietor of the trademark.

Previously, we conducted our paging business in each service area under the name of the subsidiary which
carried on the paging business in that service area After the offering, we intend gradually to cease using those
names and to conduct our paging business nationwide using the Unicorn Guoxin name and logo.

The word Guoxin in Chinese has previously been registered as a trademark in the People's Republic of
China by an unrelated party. We intend to conduct our paging business under the Unicorn Guoxin name and
logo, and we have successfully applied to the Trademark Office of the State Administration of Industry and
Commerce to cancel this trademark registration on [he basis of non-use by that party. We have applied to become
the registered proprietor of that trademark.

Unicorn Group has agreed to indemnify us against any claims and liabilities brought by third parties arising
from our use of both the Unicorn and Guoxin ttademazks.

International

Under the terms of our Equity Transfer Agreement, Unicorn Group and we have agreed that we will be
entitled to apply in Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and in all places outside of China for all trademarks
incorporating the word Unicorn in English and Chinese and the Unicorn logo. Once these trademarks have been
registered, we will sublicense these trademarks to our affiliates on a royalty -free basis.
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REGULATION

The telecommunications industry in China 'is subject to a high degree of government regulation:. The
primary regulatory authority of the Chinese telecommunications industry is the Ministry of Information Industry,
which since March 1998 has assumed responsibility for the telecommunications regulatory functions previously
performed by the former Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications and the State Radio Regulatory Commission.
1fie State Council, the State Economic and Trade Commission, the State Development Planning Commission,
the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation and other governmental authorities also maintain
regulatory responsibilities over certain specific aspects of the Chinese telecommunications industry. The Ministry
of Information Indusay is supervised by the State Council.

The Ministry of Information Industry, under the leadership of the State Council, is responsible for:

• formulating overall industry policy and regulations,

~ developiag and enforcing uniform industry technology standards,

• regulating the telecommunications market and service providers,

• allocating telecommunications resources such as spectrum and numbers, and

• setting guidance tariff levels for basic telecommunications services.

Draft Telecommunications Law and Market Regulations

The telecommunications industry is regulated by a number of existing administrative regulation:; and
policies, which we describe in more detail below. The industry currently lacks a comprehensive
telecommunications law. The Ministry of Information Industry is in the process of drafting a telecommunic~;tions
law which, once adopted by the National People's Congress, will become the basic telecommunications statute
and the principal legal framework for telecommunications ~gulations in China The legislative process ca~~ last
a prolonged period of time and it is uncertain when the law wilt take effect The government has stated th<i[ the
telecommunications law will be designed to achieve a number of general objectives, including:

~ defining the role of the government in the telecommunications industry,

• allowing managed tariff deregulation in some market segments,

• outlining clearly the rules by which new service providers may enter the market, and

~ fostering orderly competition in the industry.

The Ministry of Information Industry is currently preparing draft telecommunications market regulations
which are intended to clarify the regulatory rules and guidelines for the telecommunications industry iii the
interim period prior to the adoption of the telecommunications law. We expect that the telecommunicauon~, law
and the market regulations should positively affect the overall development of the telecommunications industry
in China.

Licensing

Until 1993, China's telecommunications regulations and policies did not permit entities other than China
Telecom to engage in public telecommunications operations in China. In August 1993, the government opened a
limited number of sectors of the telecommunications industry that are not considered basic telecommunications
services, including paging. In December 1993, the State Council approved the establishment of Unicorn Group
and, in 1994, Unicorn Group was approved to provide basic telecommunications services. The Ministry of
Information Industry, as the main regulator of China's telecommunications industry, issues telecommunicarions
licenses. In formulating its licensing policy, the Ministry of Information Industry classifies enterprises into t~asic
service and non-basic service operations, based on whether the operation requires capital -intensive infrasavccure.
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The government exercises more stringent control over the number of licenses granted to basic service providers.
The Ministry of Information Indusay determines the number of licenses according to business category and
based on market demand.

Curnent laws and. regulations in China prohibit foreign entities, foreign -invested enterprises and foreign
individuals from owning, operating or participating in the operation of telecommunications services in China
without approval from the State Council. The State Council has granted us special exemption from this regulation
to effect the global offering. In November 1999, China and the United States reached an agreement regarding
China's entry into the World Trade Organization. As a result, we expect that the Chinese government will
gradually reduce the restrictions on foreign ownership within the telecommunications industry in the future.

Spectrum Resources

'The Ministry of Information Industry allocates all telecommunications related frequencies including those
used in cellular, paging and microwave operations. The 800 MHz, 900 MHz and 1,800 MHz frequency bands
have been reserved for mobile cellular applications and parts of the 150 MHz and 280 MHz frequency bands
have been reserved for paging applications. The frequency assigned to a licensee may not be leased or transferred
without obtaining the approval of the Ministry of Information Industry. Specavm usage fees are determined in
accordance with the following standards. Annual spectrum usage fees for the use of each MHz of frequency band
for a cellular network are RMB 1 million for a nationwide network and RMB 500,000 for a provincial network.
Annual usage fees for the use of each frequency point for a paging network are RMB 2 million for a nationwide
network, RMB 200,000 for a provincial network and RMB 40,000 for a local network. Each cellular operator
also collects on behalf of the Ministry of Information Industry from each cellular customer an annual usage
charge of RMB 50. The Ministry of Information Indus~y is in the process of revising the Radio Administration
Regulations of the People's Republic of China. The revised regulations may include changes relating to
frequency allocation and usage fees.

Tariff Setting and Price Controls

Cellular Services

The Minis~y of Information Industry and the State Development Planning Commission set the guidance
tariff rates for basic telecommunications services. Cellular telephone tariff levels are subject to periodic review
and adjustment. See "Business—Cellular—Tariffs" for details regarding the state guidance rates for cellular
telephone tariffs.

In 1997, the Chinese government granted us preferential treatment by allowing us to vary our tariffs by up
to 10% from the guidance rates. In 1999, the Chinese government authorities further allowed us to vary our tariffs
by up to 20% from the guidance rates in areas where China Mobile operates local analog cellular networks. In
addition, some of our value added cellular telephone services are subject to guidance rates.

Paging Services

The Ministry of Information Industry is responsible for determining the state guidance rates. The local price
regulatory authorises and local telecommunications regulators are responsible for implementing the state
guidance pricing scheme. See "Business—Paging—Tariffs" for details regarding paging services state guidance
rates.
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Long Distance Telephony Services

The following table summarizes the current state guidance rates for domestic long distance telephony
services as determined by the Ministry of Information Industry.

Domestic Long Distance Telephone State Guidance Tariffs

State Guidance Rate
RMB

(per minute)
Intra-province:

less than 300 kilometers .................................... . ......... .5
more than 300 kilometers ............................................. .6

Inter -province:
less than 800 kilometers .............................................. .S
more than S00 kilometers ....................................... . ..... 1.0

Source: Ministry of Information Industry.

Internet protocol Telephony Services

Chazges for Internet protocol telephony services are fixed by the Ministry of Information Indus~ry as
follows:

Internet Protocol Telephone Tariff Rates

State Guidance Rate
RMB

(per minute)
Domestic long distance call ............................................... 3
International long distance call ............................................. 4.8
Mainland China {except Zhongshan and Zhuhai) to Macau ......................... 2.5
Mainland China (except Shenzhen) to Hong Kong ............. . ................. 2.5
Mainland China to Taiwan ................................................ 2.5
Shenzhen to Hong Kong or Zhongshan, Zhuhai to Macau ..... . ................... 1.5

Source: Ministry of Information Indus~y.
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Leased Line Services

The Ministry of Information Industry also sets fee levels for leased line services. The leased line rates were
reduced significantly in March and September 1999.

T1~e leased line rates vary depending on the type of lines leased. For example, the following table
summarizes certain lease line state guidance rates in accordance with the latest regulations promulgated in
September 1999.

Monthly Lease Line State Guidance Rate:

Long Distance

Voice Line (64 Kbps) ........... .
E1 Line (2 MbQs) .............. .
Frame relay (2 Mbps) ........... .
DDN (2 Mbps) ................ .

II1fCItiPfOVI~CE ILLEM1YI'OVIIICE
over 800 Km 800 Km or below Intra-Province

RMB RMB Rl~'IB
3,150 2,800 2,250

31,710 25,340 14,180
40,000 32,760 18,640
50,000 42,590 27,960

Source: Ministry of Information Indus~ry.

Local
intet~Service Intrs-Service
Area Arta

RMB RMB
1,600 200

10,000 5,810
10,800 6,288
18,900 14,360

Rates for leased tine services based on asynchronous a-ansfer mode are yet to be set by the Ministry of
Information Industry.

Interconnection Arrangements

In 1999, the Ministry of Information Industry issued new provisional regulations on interconnection and
settlement arrangemenu. These new regulations contain specific provisions regarding, among other things,
interconnection obligations of China Telecom, interconnection technical standards, revenue sharing methods and
settlement mechanisms and interconnection agreements between telecommunications service providers. The new
regulations also address settlement of interconnection related disputes and limit potential delay in negotiating
interconnection agreements. We have reached an intercocutection agreement with China Telecom to interconnect
our long distance network with the public switched telephone network of China Telecom.
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The following table seu forth the interconnection revenue sharing and settlement arrangements with China
Telecom and China Mobile for local calls under our existing interconnection agreements and under new
provisional regulations on interconnection arrangements effective October 1, 1999.

Network from which Network at w6tch
calls originated calls terminated F.~cisting Interconnection Agreements

Unicorn's cellular China'felecom's (1) Unicorn collects basic usage charge
network public fixod line (basic usage tariff — RMB .40 per

network in cities minutc) from its subscribers
(2) Unicorn pays to China Telecom 809b

of the local fixed line charge (local
fined line tariff — RMB .12 per 3
minutes)

Unicorn's cellular China Telecom's (i) Unicorn collects basic usage charge
network public fined line (bazic usage tariff ~ RMB .40 per

network is rural areas minutt) and a surcharge of RMB .10
per minuu from iu subscribers

(2) Unicorn pays to China Telecom RMB
,10 per minute

Unicorn's cellular China Mobile's (I) No revenue sharing or uttlement
network global system for arrangement is required or in place

mobile
communicadoa
cellular ne[work

Unicorn's cellular China Mobile's (1) Unicorn collects basic usage charge
network analog cellular (basic usagt tariff — RMB .40 per

network minuu) from i[s subscribers
(2) Unicorn pays 5096 of the local fixed

line chazge (local Sued line
tariff — RMB . ] 2 per 3 minutes) co
China Telecom

China Telecom's Unicorn's cellular (l) Unitom receives IO~h of the local
public fined line network fined fine chazge poca! fined line
network in cities tariff — RMB .12 per 3 minutes) from

China Telecom

China Telecom's Unicorn's celtulaz (i) No revenue sharing or xalement
public fixed line network arrangemwt is required or in place
ne[work in rural areas

China Mobile's Unicorn's cellular (1) No revenue sharing or settlement
global system for ae[work aznagement is required or in place
mobile
communication
celluiaz network

China Mobile's Unicorn's cellular (1) Unicorn pays to China Telecom 50%
analog cellular network of the local toed lose chazge Qocal
network fixed line tariff — RMB .12 per

3 minutes)

Settlement Arrangement
under New Reguletloes

(1) Unicorn collects RMB .40 per
minute from its subscribers

(2) Unicorn pays RMB .OS per minute to
Chiaa Telecom

(I) Uaicom collects RMB .4Q pec
minute from its subscribers

(2) Unicorn pays RMB .OS per m~,nute to
China Telecom

(1) No Tevenue sharing or setUem:nt
arrangement is required or in ~>lace

(1) No revenue sharing or setUemcnt
arrangement is required or in dace

(I) No revenue sharing or setdemc nt
arrangement is required or in Flace

(() No revenue sharing or settlement
arrangement is required or in place

(I) No revenue sharing or settlement
airangemeni is required or in p'.ace

(i) No revenue sbazing or set[leme zt
arrangement is required or in place
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The following table sets forth the interconnection revenue sharing and settlement arrangement with China
Telecom and China Mobile for domestic long distance calls under the existing interconnection agreements and
under new provisional regulations on interconnection arrangements effective October 1, 1999.

Network from which
calls originated

Unicorn's celiulaz
network at area A

Unicorn's cellular
network at area A

China 'telecom's
public fixed line
network at area A

China Mobile's
cellulaz network at
area A

Network at which
calls terminated

China Telecom's
public fixed line
network at area B, if
through the long
distance artwork of
China Tclxom

China Mobile's
cellular network at
area S

Unicorn's cellular
network at area 8

Unicorn's cellulaz
network at azea B

Existing Locerconnectioo Agreemenu

(1) Unicorn collecu the domestic long
distance tariff from its subscribers

(2) 92% of chc domestic long distance
tariffs is paid to China Telccom

(3) 896 of the domestic tong distance
tariff is kept by Unicorn

(f) Unicorn collects the domestic long
distance tariff from its subscribers

(2) 9296 of the domestic long distance
tariff is paid to the cellular network
operator of (7iiaa Mobile

(3) 8% of the domestic long distance
tariff is kept by Unicorn

(1) Unicorn receives 92% of the
domestic long distance tariff from
China Telecom

(2) 8% of the domestic long distance
tariff is kept by China Telecom

(1) Unicorn receives 92`Ya of the
domestic long distance tariffs from
China Mobile

(2) 84b of the domestic long distance
tariffs is kep[ by China Mobile

Settlement Arrangemenu under
New Provisional Regulations

(1} Unicorn collecu the domestic long
distance tariff from iu subscribers

(2) Unicorn kceps RMB .14 per minute
and pays over the res~ to China
Telecom

(t) Unicorn coliec[s the domestic long
distance tariff from iu subscribers

(2} Unicorn keeps RMB .14 per minute
and pays over the rest to China Mobile

(1) China Telecom collects the domestic
tong distance wriff from iu
subscribers.

(2) China Telecom keeps RMB .14 per
minute and pay over the rest to
Unicorn

China Telecom's
public fixed line
network at area A

China Telecom's
public 5xed line
network at ama 8
through the long
distance network of
Unicorn

(1) China Mobile collects the domesuc
long distance tariff from its
subscribers.

(2) China Mobile keeps RMB .14 per
mina~e and pays over the res€ to
Unicorn

(1) As set forth in ehe interconnection agreement dated January 12, 2000 betweenh
Unicorn Group and China Telxom under the new regulations, if the domestic cal]
passes ttwugh Unicorn's long distance network, Unicorn collects the domesric long
distance tariff and pays a RMB .14 per minute to China Telecom

87

Case 2:15-cv-07425-RGK-PLA   Document 121-19   Filed 10/26/16   Page 88 of 157   Page ID
 #:3732



The following table seu forth the interconnection revenue sharing and settlement arrangement with China
Telecom for international long distance calls through China Telecom's international gateways under the existing
interconnection agreements and under new provisional regulations on interconnection arrangements eff:ctive
October 1, 1949.

'type otcalls Existjng Interconnection Agreements

Outgoing calls from Unicorn's network (1) Unicorn collecu the int~fnational long
distance tariff from its subscribers

(2) Unicorn pays W China Telecom 10096 of
the intemationa] long distance tariff

Incoming calls to Unicorn's cellutar
network at area B [hroug6 Unicorn's
long distance network ac area A

Incoming calls to Unicorn's cellular
network at area A through China
Telecom's fixed line network at area A

(1) Unicorn receives 92% of the domestic
long distance tariffs from China Telxom

(2) 890 of the domestic long distance tariffs
is kept by China Telecom

(i) No rovenue sharing or settlement
airangeaient is required or in place

Technical Standards

Settlement Arrangements und:r
New Pmvisiooal Regina[ion!;

(l) Unicorn collects the international long
distance tariff from iu subscribers

(2) Unicorn kceps RMB .20 per mirute
and pays to China Teluom the rest of
the international long distance Tariff

(I) Unicorn receives RMB .63 per minu~e
from China Telecom

(1) Unicorn receives RMB .07 per minute
of the domestic long distance tariffs
from China Telecom

The Ministry of Information Industry sets industry technical standards for the Chinese telecommunications
industry. Most of the standards set by the Ministry of Information Industry conform to standards recommend~.d by
the International Telecommunications Union and other international telecommunications standards organizations.
In cases where the Ministry of Information Industry has not set certain industry technical standards, we set our own
enterprise technical standards. The Ministry of Informarion Industry also wires all network operators in Chna to
purchase only telecommunications equipment certified by the Ministry of Information Industry, including cellular
and paging equipment, radio equipment and interconnection terminal equipment. The Ministry of Inforrration
Industry is also actively monitoring the development of the third generation cellulaz technology.

Capital Investment

To ensure the orderly development of telecommunications infrastructure and services, the Scare Count:] has
empowered the State Development Planning Commission with authority over the approval of all major
investment projects, including cellular network development projects, involving total capital investment ber~een
RMB 50 million and RMB 200 million. Any investment projects with total capital investment in excess of
RMB 200 million must obtain approval from the State Council. We are authorized to approve any project u ith a
total investment of less than RMB SO million, which is equivalent to the approval level delegated to provincial
government, and ministry authorities.
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TECHNOLOGY

Cellular Technology

Cellular telecommunications systems can provide voice and data communications to and from cellular
handsets. The radio frequency spectrum utilized by cellular telecommunications networks is divided into a
number of bands, each of which is sub -divided into radio channels. First generation cellular telephone systems
employ analog technology, while newer systems employ digital technology. Digital cellular technology multiplies
the number of users that can be served by the same band of spectrum using analog technology.

Network Infrastructure

Cellular telecommunications systems divide service areas into smaller geographic areas or cells. Cells vary
in size, from 200 meters to 35 kilometers in diameter, depending upon terrain and physical obswctions to radio
transmission, and are generally smaller in urban areas and larger in rural areas. Radio frequencies used for a call
in one cell can be used simultaneously in other cells. Cellular technology can thereby multiply the number of
users that can be served by the same range of radio frequencies.

The principal components of ouz cetlulaz systems are:

• subscriber temunals, including mobile and vehicle mounted handsets,

• cell sites, which are physical locations within each cell, each equipped with a base station containing
transmitters, receivers and other equipment that communicate through radio channels with cellular
telephone handsets within the coverage area of the cell,

• base station controllers, which connect to, and control, a certain number of base stations,

• mobile switching centers, which in turn control the base station controllers and the routing of calls,
and

• vansmission lines that connect the mobile switching centers, base station controllers, base stations
and the fixed line public switched telephone network, so that cellular telephone users can access
public fixed line networks and make and receive long distance calls.

When a cellular subscriber makes a call, the handset transmits a radio signal to the nearest available base
station, which directs the call to the base station controller to which the base station is connected. From the base
station controller, the call is directed to a mobile switching center. For calls between our cellulaz subscribers, the
signal is then routed by the mobile switching center to the base station serving the cell in which the intended
recipient is located, for transmission by that base station to the recipient. For calls that require interconnection
with the public switched telephone network, the signal is delivered by the mobile switching center to the public
switched telephone network.

The capacity of cellular systems is dependent on a number of factors, including:

• the amount of frequency spectrum available for use,

• the total number of cells in the network system, and

~ the coding and modulation method used in air -interface.

Network systems are generally designed with a sufficient number of cells, and radio frequencies assigned to
each cell, to serve the estimated number of subscribers and network traffic in each service area. As the capacity
requirements within a cell increase, additional radio frequencies may be used in the cell up to the designed
capacity of the cellular system. Increased capacity requiremenu may also be accommodated by a process known
as cell -splitting, in which a single cell is divided into a number of new smaller cells, thus allowing the re -use of
frequencies.
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Network Standards

Currently, there are several different cellular standards which operate at different frequencies with: both
analog and digital radio signals. The particular standard used varies from country to country, as well as within a
counuy, depending on the allocation of frequencies and choice of technology by the government or opei ators.
The frequencies and technologies most relevant in China currently include:

(1) 900 MHz: Total access communications systems, commonly known as TACS>

(2) 900 MHz: Global system for mobile communications, commonly known as GSM,

(3) 1800 MHz: DCS-1800, a GSM standard used on the 1800 MHa frequency band,

(4) 800 MHz: Advanced mobile phone system, commonly known as AMPS, and

(5) 800 MHz: Code division multiple access, commonly known as CDMA.

Analog Stanriurds. China Mobile's networks in some provinces are currently based on the total access
communications systems standard, which was the most common standazd used in cellular systems in China prior
to the introduction of the global system for mobile communication standard. The total access communic.icions
systems standazd was originally introduced as a European standard. Networks for advanced mobile phone s:!scem
are also operated on a limited scale in China in the 800 MHz freyuency band. The advanced mobile phone s~~stem
standard has been developed and employed primarily in the United States.

GSM and DCS 1800. Global system for mobile communication standard was initially developed in order
to facilitate unification and integration of telecommunications .within the European Union. In 1987, the
telecommunications administrations in 13 countries signed a memorandum of understanding adopting the g lobal
system for mobile communication standard throughout Europe. As of December 31, 1999, more than 200
operators from over 100 countries and territories, including Unicorn Group and operators in most Asian countries
with digital cellular services, have signed the memorandum of understanding to become participating members.
In addition, the widespread adoption of the global system for mobile communication standard facilitates
international roaming.

Existing global system for mobile communication systems in China use the 900 MHz frequency band 'The
higher frequency band and the greater amount of spectrum available for DCS 1800 result in significantly more
capacity than is available for 900 MHz global system for mobile communication network. Since the maximum
radius of a DCS 1800 cell is less than that of a global system for mobile communication 900 cell, DCS 1800
increases the opportunity for frequency re -use and, therefore creates additional capacity. Because of its technical
characteristics, DCS 1800 is better suited for an urban setting.

CDMA Standard. Code division multiple access is a digital cellulaz technology standard based on the IS -
95 standard which has been used by more than 40 operators in over 30 countries and regions, including Fong
Kong, South Korea, Canada and the United States. Unlike global system for mobile communication technology,
which breaks audio signals into sequential pieces of data of a defined length, places each such piece into an
information conduit at specific intervals and then reconstructs the pieces at the end of the conduit, code division
multiple access technology uses a coding system to mix discrete audio signals together during transmission. and
then separate such signals at the end of transmission. The CDMA Development Group coordinates the
development of the code division multiple access standard worldwide. In March 1999, the State Council grmted
Unicorn Group the approval to utilize code division multiple access technology for commercial cellulaz
telecommunications operations.

Third Generation Mobile Communications Technology. The International Telecommunications Union is in
the process of developing technical standazds known as the third generation cellular communications techno~ogy.
To date, the International Telecommunications Union has finalized the portion of the third generation cellular
communications technology standards, governing wireless transmission, and is expected to finalize the potion
governing networks by the end of 2000.

90

Case 2:15-cv-07425-RGK-PLA   Document 121-19   Filed 10/26/16   Page 91 of 157   Page ID
 #:3735



Standards regazding wideband code division mulriple access were proposed by the European
Telecommunications Standazds Institute and Japan and other countries. Wideband code division multiple access
standard supports both packet- and circuit -switched communications such as Internet browsing and traditional
telephony services. Wideband code division multiple access standard has been designed for high-speed data
services, in particular, Internet -based packet -data transmission up to 2 Mbps,

Code division multiple access -2000 is a multi -carrier wideband code division multiple access technology.
Like wideband code division multiple access, it supports both packet- and circuit -switched communications such
as Internet browsing and traditional telephony services. This technology has also been designed for high-speed
data services and enables the smooth migration of a cellular network from second generation cellular standards
to third generation cellular standards.

A third type of code division multiple access standard has been proposed by China and is based on a digital
transmission technology that breaks voice and data signals into sequential pieces of a defined length, places each
piece into an information conduit at specific intervals and then reconstrucu the pieces at the end of conduits.
This type of code division multiple access standard is especially suitable for wireless Internet access.

Paging Technology

The primary ~omponenu of a paging network are:

~ paging control system, which receives an incoming message for a paging subscriber and encodes the
message with an encoder, and

• base station, which u~ansmits the message to the subscriber's pager.

The most important paging standards are the air -interface standards and paging network communications
standards. The two main air -interface standards, also known as encoding standards, used in China are the post
office code standization advisory group encoding standard and FLEX encoding standards. The former enable data
rates of 512-2,400 bps while the latter enables data rates of 1,600-6,400 bps.

Paging network communications standards are also known as paging interconnection standards and enable
roaming between paging networks. The most common paging interconnection standards include telocator
network paging protocol and wireless message transfer protocol.

In recent years, the two-way paging technologies have been widely adopted in North America and other
areas. It allows an operator to provide two-way wireless data services on existing paging networks with some
network modification. At present, the air -interface standards for two-way paging systems include ReFLEX
developed by Motorola, Planet by GWCOM and Nexus ISM by Nexus.

Broadband Fiber Optic 'IY~ansmission Technology

Transmission networks are essential to the development of modern telecommunications services. The
introduction of many new telecommunications services in recent years has placed greater demands on the quality,
capacity and reliability of sansmission networks. Currently the only technology capable of meeting these
demands is the cost effective, broadband, fiber optic communications technology. The most advanced fiber optic
vansmission technology focuses on synchronous digital hierarchy architecture and dense wave division
multiplexing technology.

Synchronous Digital Hierachy Architecture. Since its introduction in 1988, the synchronous digital
hierachy architecture has become one of the most important technologies in modern telecommunications
networks. It is estimated that 80% of the worldwide data traffic in 2000 will be transmitted on networks based
on this architecture. This synchronous digital hienchy architecture is aself-healing system that allows for
instantaneous rerouting and eliminates downtime in the event of fiber cut.

91

Case 2:15-cv-07425-RGK-PLA   Document 121-19   Filed 10/26/16   Page 92 of 157   Page ID
 #:3736



Dense Wave Division Multiplexing Technology. The demand for transmission bandwidth has increased
rapidly in recent years, especially due to the rapid growth of the Internet. Many newly completed fiber• optic
networks are experiencing utilization rates as high as 70-80%. We have adopted the dense wave division
multiplexing technology to meet the continuing demand for bandwidth and minimize network congestion. The
dense wave division multiplexing technology increases transmission capacity by transmitting signals tt~.rough
multiple wavelengths through a single fiber. Transmission on each wavelength can continue to be accomFlished
with existing, cost-effective technologies. The dense wave division multiplexing technology greatly enhances the
utilization of the large bandwidth resources of fiber optic networks and can increase the bandwidth capacity of a
fiber optic network without the need to lay additional fiber optic lines,

Data Services Technology

Data networks utilize packet switching technology to transmit both data and voice as opposed to the circuit
switching technology most voice networks employ. Packet switching technology is particularly suited :o the
transmission of large amount of data with minimal transmission error. Compared to circuit switching, it provides
data networks with better bandwidth utilization, improved congestion control, error detection and correction,
powerful addressing facilities and higher availability in the case of node and line failures. Packet -switching
divides data into segmenu, each of which is stored is individual cells. These data packets contain user daG~ plus
information such as addressing, sequencing and error control. A typical user message can be separated into o1e
or more packets. Packet switching technology today has developed to include frame relay, asynchronous tr~msfer
mode and Internet protocol switching technology.

Data protocols permit computers to exchange information using a common softwa~ algorithm. Protocols are
the critical technology in data networking because they dictate the speed and flexibility with which data can be
exchanged between computers. Various protocols have been developed over the years which support digita' data
transmission. These protocols are deployed within a network and at the network access level.

The most common protocols are:

• X.25, an open standard packet switching protocol that allows low to medium speed terminals to t ave
either dial -in or permanent access to a network from the user's premises and operate on a network;

• Frame relay, a high speed open protocol that offers both access to a network and carriage of data
across a network. This protocol is used by customers that have significant amounts of data traffic.

• Asynchronous transfer mode, a high speed open protocol that has been developed for very high data
rates; this protocol is deployed both within core networks and as an access technology;

• Integrated service digital network, an open protocol which offers high capacity dial -in access to
public networks; this protocol allows end-to -end sunultaneous handling of digitized voice and data
traffic on the same digital links via integrated switches across the public network; anti

• Transmission control protocolllnternet protocol, the open protocol used for the Internet and on m;iny
local area networks and wide area networks.

Among available protocols, frame relay is currently enjoying rapid growth in usage. Meanwhile, X.25 :vide
area network services continue to be used, especially in developing countries that lack the telecommunications
infrastructure to deliver low and medium speed services. For companies doing business in such areas, X25's
superior error correcting abilities are critical. Integrated service digital network is an especia]ly popular access
protocol because of its ability to meet bandwidth needs for remote local area network connectivity and on-line
access applications.
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The most significant development in recent years in the data network industry has been the emergence of
the Internet protocol, a key technology enabling the development of the Internet Recent technological advances,
including increases in microprocessor speed and the development of easy -to -use graphical user interfaces,
coupled with cultural and business changes, have led to these Internet standards being integrated into the
activities of individuals and the operations of commercial organizations. Internet protocol standards can be used
to create intranets. Intranets are closely managed networks that operate like the Internet but are designed for
internal corporate use with more consistent performance and better security. Internet protocol standards can also
be used to connect corporate networks to the world-wide web.
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MANAGEMENT

General

All directors are elected at the annual meeting of our shazeholders and serve a term of three years, wi~ich is
renewable upon re-election and re -appointment. The functions and duties of the board of directors include.:

~ convening shareholders' meetings and reporting its work to the shareholders' meetings,

~ implementing resolutions of shareholders' meetings,

• determining our business plans and investment plans,

• reviewing and approving our annual budget, annual accounts and directors' report,

• formulating proposals for dividend and bonus distributions aad for the increase or reduction of share
capital, and

• exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by our articles of association.

The following table sets forth certain information concerning our directors and executive officer.>. All
directors will serve terms of three years or until such later date as their successors are elected or appointed.

Name

Yang Xianzu .............................

Wang Jianzhou
ShiCuiming .............................
LiZhengmao .............................
Liu Yunjie ...............................
GeL,ei .................................
Craig O. McCaw ..........................
WuJinglian ..............................
Le'e Honchiu .................. . ......... .

Age Position

60 Chairman of the Board of Directors;
Executive Director, Chief Executive C fficer

51 Executive Director, President
60 Executive Director, Executive Vice President
38 Executive Director, Vice President
57 Vice President
60 Non-Executive Director
50 Non-Executive Director
70 Independent Non-Executive Director
71 Independent Non-Executive Director

There is no family relationship between any of our directors or executive officers.

Directors and Executive Officers

Yang Xianzu is Chairman of the Board of Directors, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
Unicorn responsible for our overall management Mr. Yang, a senior engineer, graduated in 1965 from the
Department of Telephone and Telegraph at the Wuhan College of Posts and Telecommunications. From ] 9'33 to
1990, Mr. Yang served as Deputy Director General of the Posts and Telecommunications Administraticm of
Hubei Province and as Director General of the Posu and Telecommunications Administration of Henan Province.
From 1990 to early 1999, Mr. Yang served as vice Minister of the Minis~y of the Posu and Telecommunications
and later as vice Minister of the Ministry of Information Industry. In these capacities, Mr. Yang was involved in
the management of Unicorn Group from a strategic level. Since February 1999, Mr. Yang has served as Chai;~nan
of the Board of Directors and President of Unicorn Group. With thirty-five years of experience in China's
telecommunications industry, Mr. Yang has extensive knowledge and experience in telecommunications
operations, technology and management.

Wang Jianzhou is Executive Director and President of Unicorn responsible for our day-to-day manage:.t~ent
and operations. Mr. Wang, a senior engineer, graduated in 1985 from the Departrnent of Manage~:~nent
Engineering at Zhejiang University with a master's degree. From 1992 [0 1996, Mr. Wang served as Deputy
Director General and later Director of the Posts and Telecommunications Bureau of Hangzhou City and Deputy
Director of the Posts and Telecommunications Administration of Zhejiang Province. From 1996 to 1999,
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Mr. Wang served as Director General of the Department of Planning and Construction of the Ministry of Posts
and Telecommunications and later as Director General of the Department of Genera] Planning of the Ministry of
Information Industry. In these capacities, Mr. Wang was involved in the management of Unicorn Group from a
strategic level. Since early 1999, Mr. Wang has served as Director and Executive Vice President of Unicorn
Group. With many years of experience in China's telecommunications industry, Mr. Wang has extensive
knowledge and experience in telecommunications operations and management.

Shi Cuiming is Execuvve Director and Executive Vice President of Unicorn. Mr. Shi assists our Chairman
of the Board of Directors and President in managing our day-to-day management and operations and also is
responsible for finance. Mr. Shi, a senior economist, graduated in 1963 from the Department of Management
Engineering at the Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications. From 1981 to 1987, Mr. Shi served as
Deputy Director of the Department of Postal Economic Reseazch of the Ministry of Posts and
Telecommunications and as Deputy Director Genera] of the Bureau of Finance of the Ministry of posts and
telecommunications. From 1987 to 1997, Mr. Shi served as Director Genera] of the Bureau of Finance, Director
General of the Department of Operations and Finance and Director General of the Department of Finance of the
Ministry of posts and telecommunicarions. From 1997 to early 1999, Mr. Shi served as Chairman of the Board
of Directors of China Telecom (Hong Kong) Group and Chairman of the Board of Directors of China Telecom
(Hong Kong) Limited. Since early 1999, Mr. Shi has served as Director and Vice President of Unicorn Group.
With thirty-seven years of experience in China's telecommunications industry, Mr. Shi has extensive knowledge
and experience in telecommunications operations, technology and management.

Dr. Li Zhengmao is Executive Director and Vice President of Unicorn. Dr. Li assists our President in
managing technology and is also responsible for investor relations. Dr. Li graduated in 1988 from the Department
of Radio Technology at Southeast University with a Ph.D in Electronic Engineering. He was a professor at the
University of Electronic Science and Technology of China from 1992 to 1994. Since 1994, Dr. Li has served in
various senior positions within Unicorn Group including Deputy Director of the Technology Department and
Director of the Wireless Communications Department and later as Director of the Technology Department and
Deputy Chief Engineer of Unicorn Gmup. Dr. Li has considerable experience in technology management in the
telecommunications industry.

Liu Yunjie is a V ce President of Unicorn. Mr. Liu assisu the President in managing the technology and
operations relating to our data communications services. Mr. Liu, a senior engineer, graduated from the
Department of Applied Physics of Beijing University in 1968. From 1983 to 1995, Mr. Liu served as Deputy
Director General and later Director General of the InstiNte of Data of the Ministry of Posts and
Telecommunications and Director General of the Bureau of Data Communications of the Ministry of Posts and
Telecommunications. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Liu served as Deputy Director General of the Directorate Genera]
of Telecommunications and as Director of the Bureau of Data Communications of the Ministry of Posts and
Telecommunications. Mr. Liu was also President of the Institute of Postal Science Reseazch and Planning of the
Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications from 1998 to 1999. Since April 1999, Mr. Liu has served as the Chief
Engineer of Unicorn Group. Mr. Liu has 30 years of experience in management and business operations in the
telecommunications industry, with expertise in the area of data communications technology.

Ge Lei is a non-executive director of Unicorn. Mr. Ge, a senior engineer, graduated from the
Telecommunications Engineering Department at the Beijing Posts and Telecommunications University in 1962.
Since 1974, he has held numerous positions including the Directorate Genera] of Telecommunications, the
Deputy Director of the Equipment Maintenance Bureau, the Chairman of the Department of Management
Engineering of the Beijing Posts and Telecommunications University, and the Deputy Director of [he Planning
Office, the Director of Planning Department, the Director of the Education Departrnent, and the Director of
Telecommunications Adminisaative Department of the Ministry of Posu and Telecommunications. Prior to
joining lini~om in May 2000, Mr. Ge was the Chairman and General Manager of Guoxin Paging. With thirty-
eight years of experience in China's telecommunications industry, Mr. Ge has extensive expertise and
management experience in the telecommunications industry.
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Craig O. McCaw is anon -executive director of Unicorn. Mr. McCaw is chairman and chief execui ive of
Eagle River Investrnents, LLC, a private company that makes strategic investmenu in telecommunications
ventures, and a director of Nextel Communications, Inc, as well as the chairman of its executive commitu;e. He
is also a director of NEXTLINK Communications, Inc., Chairman of the boards of Teledesic Corporation, and
ICO-Teledesic Global Limited Mr. McCaw established McCaw Cellular Communications, Inc, and NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc. Mr. McCaw has been active over the years in both cellular and cable television trade
associations and is a member by Presidential appointment of the United States National Security
Telecommunications Advisory Committee. Mr. McCaw graduated from Stanford University in 1973.

Wu Jinglian is an independent non~xecutive director of Unicorn. Mr. Wu is a senior researcher at the
Development Research Center of the State Council, a professor at the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences. Mr Wu is also a chief economist at China International Capital Corporation Limited, one ~f the
joint global coordinators. Mr. Wu graduated from Fudan University, and was previously a Deputy director ~f the
Programming Officer for Economic Reform of the State Council. Mr. Wu was also a visiting scholar ar. Yale
University, a visiting professor at the Asia -Pacific research Center of Stanford University and a visiting
researcher at the Massachusetts InsaNte of Technology.

Lee Honchiu is an independent non-executive director of Ucucom. Mr. Lee serves as the Chairman ~~f the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, President of the International Federation of Stock Exchanges (FIBV} and Di~~ector
of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited. He is also Chairman of the Standing CommittE:e on
DirectoratelJudicial Salaries and Conditions of Service appointed by the Hong Kong SAR Government. Mr. Lee
is Chairman of the Council of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Lee is the Chairman of Hysan Deve]oF ment
Company Limited and Deputy Chairman of the Gazden Hotel, Guangzhou. He is also non-executive Direcror of
Cathay Pacific Airways Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited, The Hong Kong &China Gas Company Limited,
Maersk Hong Kong Limited, Ryoden Development Limited, Sime Darby Hong Kong Lunited and a numt~er of
other Hong Kong companies. Mr. Lee obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering a[
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1952. He later obtained a Master of Science degree in Electronics at
Stanford University in 1953.

Audit and Other Committees

We intend to establish an audit committee after the completion of the global offering in compliance with
the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
primary duties of the audit committee will be to review and supervise our financial reporting process. The .ludic
committee is intended to comprise twee or more non-executive directors of which the ma}onty will be
independent We expect to obtain an exemption from the New York Stock Exchange regarding the establishment
and composition of an audit committee.

After the completion of the global offering, we also intend to establish a compensation committee.

Compensation of Directors and Officers

We were established on February 8, 2000. We estimate that the aggregate amount of compensation t~ be
paid by us to directors and executive officers during 2000 for services performed will be approximately
HK$9 million. Each of the executive directors is entitled to reimbursement for all necessary and reasonable
expenses properly incurred in the course of employment. The aggregate annual salary for Yang Xianzu, Pang
Jianzhou, Shi Cunning and Li Zhengmao shall be HK$12,300,000. Mr. Yang Xianzu, Mr. Wang Jianzhou,
Mr. Shi Cuiming, Dr. Li Zhengmao, Mr. Ge Lei and Mr. Liu Yunjie were previously employed by Unicorn Group.
They received an aggregate compensation of approximately RMB 646,000 in 1999.

We.may, at our sole discretion, pay our executive directors year-end bonuses in amounts determined b} the
board of directors, subject to shareholders' approval.
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Stock Incentive Plans

We have retained a compensation consulting firm to help us design stock incentive plans that alig€ the
interests of our management and employees with those of our shareholders and link their compensation with the
company's operating results and share performance.

Share Option Plan. We have adopted a share option plan. This plan provides for the grant of options to
our senior management, including our directors, president and vice presidents, senior departmental managers and
senior managers of our branches and subsidiaries that meet specified criteria, and some technica] employees.
Under this share option plan, the compensation committee of our board of directors will propose for board
approval the recipient of and number of ordinary shares underlying each option grant. The period during which
an option may be exercised will be determined by the board of directors in its absolute discretion provided that
no option may be granted or exercised more than 10 years after the date on which the resolution approving or
adopting the share option plan becomes unconditional. Currently, we do not intead to grant any options which
will be exercisable within two years of the date of grant The plan provides for issuances of options exercisable
for shares equal to up to 103'0 of the total number of our outstanding shares. We currently plan co grant options,
including those granted under the pre -global offering share option scheme, that cover a total number of ordinary
shares not exceeding 2% of the total number of our outstanding shares. Any grant of option exceeding 2% of our
outstanding shares are subject to Chinese government approval.

The price for a share payable by a participant upon the exercise of an option will be determined by our
board of directors in iu discretion at the grant date, as long as the price will not be less than a specified minimum.
The minimum price is the higher of:

• the nominal value of a share and

~ 80% of the average of the closing prices of shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option on which there were dealings in
shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

We have also adopted apre-global offering share option plan. The purpose of the pre -global offering share
option plan is to recognize the contribution of certain employees to the Group and/or to the Global Offering. The
principal teens of the pre -global offering share option plan are the same as the share option plan in all material
respects except that

~ options for an aggregate of 27,116,600 shazes have been granted to our directors or employees under
the pre -global offering share option plan as we do not expect to grant further options under this plan.

• the subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted under the pre -global offering
share option plan is the offer price in the Hong Kong public offering, excluding brokerage fees and
transaction levy.

• the period during which an option may be exercised shall not be earlier than 2 year after the date of
grant but no later than 14 years after the completion of the global offering.

Mandatory Stock Holriing Requirement. We exQect to adopt a plan which will require each member of our
senior management to purchase in the open market and hold an amount of our shares, including those acquired
under the share option plan and the pre -global offering share option scheme, with a market value equal to .5 to 1.2
times his or her annual cash compensation and to reach the requisite level of stock holding within three years. These
shares cannot be disposed of until two years after the employee resigns or one year after the employee retires.

Employee Savings and Stock Participation Plan. All employees other than those covered under the share
option plan can participate in this plan. This plan calls for the deposit of a ceztain percentage, which shall not be
greater than 40%, of our participating employees' monthly salary into a designated two-year savings account. At
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the end of the twayear period, employees' returns are calculated based on the difference between our stock price
at the end of the period and 85% of our stock price at the beginning of the period.

Housing Fund Plan

We will implement a housing fund plan in accordance with relevant Chinese laws and regulations which
will cover all our permanent employees. Under the plan, we and individual employees will make monthly
contributions to the housing fund. An employee's monthly contribution is calculated as a percentage of the
employee's average monthly salary for the previous year. The current percentage ranges from 5°lo to 9%
depending on local government regulations. Withdrawals from the fund are subject to qualifications and
procedures specified in local regulations.

Pension Insurance Plan

We will implement a pension insurance plan in accordance with relevant Chinese laws and regulations
which will cover all our permanent employees. Under this plan, we and individual employees will make mo:~thly
contributions to the pension fund. An employee's monthly contribution is calculated as a percentage o F the
employee's average monthly salary for the previous year and the joint contribution of Unicorn and the employee
should equal 25%. At present, we make a contribution of approximately 19°lo and each individual employee
makes a contribution of 6%. In the future, we expect to reduce the percentage contributed by us and to increase
the percentage contributed by the individual employee. When the employee retires from Unicorn, the employee
will receive a monthly pension under this scheme.
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OWNERSHIP OF UNICOM

The table below seu forth information regarding ownership of our shares as of May 26, 2000 by all persons
who own more than ten percent {10%) of our shares.

Percentage of Outstanding
Shares

Number of Sefo~e ARer
Shareholder S6aies Owned This Offering This Offering(1)

China Unicorn (BVI) Limited .......................... 9,725,000,020 100.0% 79.8°l0

(I) Assumes that the underwriters' over -allotment options are not exercised. The percentage of our issued and
outstanding capital stock owned by China Unicorn (BVI) Limited will be 77.5% if the underwriters' over-
aUotment options are exercised in full.

(2) The information in the above table does not include the shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants we
have agreed to issue in connection with terminations of China -China -Foreign arrangements, nor the shares
issuable upon exercise of the options in respect of up to 77,800,000 shares described under "Management—
Stock Incenpve Plans."

China Unicorn (BVI) Limitcd is a wholly -owned subsidiary of China Unicorn (Hong Kong) Group Limited,
which is wholly owned by Unicorn Group. Unicorn Group is controlled by the Ministry of Finance and a group
of approximately 15 companies, substantially all of which are state owned enterprises.

Other than as described under "Management—Stock Incentive Plan" and the warrants which we have
agreed to issue to an affiliate of our director, Craig McCaw pursuant to the termination of aChina-China-Foreign
arrangement, none of our directors or officers are at the date of this prospectus a legal or beneficial owner of any
of our shares of capital stock. We are not aware of any arrangement which may at a subsequent date result in a
change of our control.

As part of the arrangemenu for the termination of the China -China -Foreign arrangements, some of the
parties to the China -China -Foreign arrangements received cash paymenu in an amount representing their original
funding plus an agreed amount of compensarion. In addition, we have agreed to grant some of these parties or
their designees, warrants to purchase a number of shares determined by dividing the relevant warrant's aggregate
exercise price by the initial public offering price per share of the shares being offered in the global offering. The
aggregate exercise price of al] of these warrants is approximately RMB 5.2 billion. These warrants will be
exercisable by their holders for a period of six months following the date that is six months after the date of the
closing of this offering.

We expect that the number of shares which would be issued upon exercise in full of the warrants would be
approximately 312,942,000 and would constitute approximately 2.5°l0 of our share capital immediately following
the closing of offering, As soon as practicable following the commencement of the exercise period, we expect to
make application to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for listing of and permission to deal in the warrants. We
cannot assure that the Hong Kong Stock Exchange will approve the listing of the warrants. We have made an
application to the listing division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for listing of and permission to deal in any
shares to be issued upon exercise of the wazranu.

Under the terms of the warrants, the number and exercise price of the shares to be issued upon exercise of
the warrants are subject to adjustrnent upon the occurrence of certain specified events including, among others, a
distribution of stock dividends by us, a subdivision or consolidation of our shares a variation of our share capital
or other similar extraordinary corporate uansactimns.

The warranu may not be transferred prior to the commencement of the exercise period referred to above,
except to an affiliate of the holder and any person which is or has been at any time a holder of warran[s as shown
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on the register of holders of the warrants maintained by us. Subject to certain exceptions, the warrants v,ill be
freely transferable at any time after the commencement of the warrant exercise period.

The warrants and the shares to be issued upon their exercise have not been, and will not be, registered under
the Securities Act. The warrants may not be exercised by or on behalf of any persons in the United States .x any
U.S. person, as such term is defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act.
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STRATEGIC INVESTOR

We entered into an agreement on May 30, 2000 under which Hutchison Whampoa Limited has agreed to
purchase solely through the joint global coordinators 200,104,000 shares at the initial public offering price in the
Asia offering. 'The closing of the investment contemplated by this agreement will occur as part of the closing of
the Asia offering. The number of shares to be sold to this strategic investor will not be affected by any
reallocation of shares from the Asia offering to the Hong Kong public offering. Hutchison Whampoa Limited
has agreed that, without the prior written consent of the joint global coordinators and us, it will not for a period
of six months from the date of commencement of wading of the shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
directly or induecdy, offer, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares acquired under the agreement. In addition,
Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Unicorn Group have entered into a business cooperation framework agreement
under which both parties agree to cooperate on certain telecommunications activities. This agreement
contemplates, among other things, the formation of a joint venture between Hutchison Whampoa Limited and
Unicorn Group to provide telecommunications -related consultancy and training in areas of network planning,
design and optimization, operation maintenance, marketing and sales and customer services. Although we are
not a party to this agreement, as a subsidiary of Unicorn Group, we expect to benefit from cooperation
arrangements contemplated under this agreement We are engaged in on-going discussions with other
international telecommunications services providers to explore potential cooperation and strategic relationships.
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SAARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Upon completion of this offering, our shares and ADSs will be freely tradeable within the United States,
except that we and our affiliates, as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, can only v~ansfer
shares or ADSs in compliance with the limitations set forth below. We and our principal shareholder, China
Unicorn (BVI) Limited, have agreed not to offer, sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any ADSs, shares
or any security convertible into or exchangeable for shares or ADSs, for a period of 180 days after the slate of
this prospectus without the prior written consent of Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Asia Limited and China
Intemaaonal Capital Corporation Limited.

Also, in connection with terminations of G'hina-China-Foreign arrangements, we have agreed to issue
wazrants which are exercisable after six months following this offering and the shares issuable upon exercise of
those wamanu will be freely wadeable.

In addition, we have issued options to directors and employees exercisable after two years from the slate of
grant for an aggregate of 27,116,600 shares.

While we are not aware of any plans by China Unicorn (B VI) Limited or any of the warrant or ~>ption
holders to dispose of significant amounts of shames or ADSs, we cannot provide any assurance that it will not
dispose of shares or ADSs representing our shares. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that future sales of :>hares
or ADSs will have on the market price of the shares or ADSs prevailing fmm time to time. Sales of substantial
amounts of shares or ADSs in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely
affect the prevailing market price of our shares or ADSs.

In general, our affiliates may not freely sell our shares or P.DSs representing our shares in the United States
unless a registration statement has been filed with and has been declared effective by the SEC with respect to
those securities or an exemption from the registration requirements of [he Securities Act is available. Under Rule
144 as cumendy in effect, a person, or persons whose shares are aggregated under Rule 144, who has beneficially
owned restricted shares for at least one year would be entifled to sell within any three-month period commencing
90 days after the effective date of this offering, a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:

~ 1% of the number of shares then ouutanding, equal to approximately 121,841,270 shares immediately
after this offering; or

• [he average weekly trading volume of the common stock during the four calender weeks preceding the
filing of a Form 144 with respect to such sale.

Sales under Rule 144 must also comply with restrictions regarding the manner of sale, notice requirements
and availability of current public information about us. Under Rule 144(k), a person who is not deemed to have
been an affiliate of us at any time during the tlu~ee months preceding a sale, and who has beneficially owned ehe
shares proposed to be sold for at least two years, is entitled to sell those shares without complying with the
manner of sale, public information, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH U1vICOM GROUP

Upon completion of this offering, Unicorn Group will indirectly own or control 79.8% of our issued share
capital, assuming the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotrnent option. Unicorn Group wi11 continue to
operate certain telecommunications networks and related businesses. There will be continuing transactions
between us and Unicorn Group. These transactions include:

• the agreements relating to the restructuring and this offering;

• the provision of ongoing telecommunications and ancillary services and facilities by Unicorn Group to
us;

• the mutual provision of ongoing telecommunications and ancillary services and facilities between
Unicorn Group and us; and

• the mutual provision of premises between Unicorn Group and us.

In addition, there will be transactions relating to the provision of ongoing telecommunications services and
facilities among us and our subsidiaries.

Agreements Relating to the Restructuring and this Oft'ering

The Reorganization Agreement

In connection with the restructuring, our wholly owned subsidiary, China Unicorn Corporation Limited,
entered into a reorganization agreement with Unicorn Group dated April 21, 2000. This agreement includes the
following terms:

{a) Unicorn Group's agreement to transfer to China Unicorn Corporation Limited the assets and liabilities
atvibutable to the businesses as described under the section "The Restructuring—The Restructuring" in this
prospectus,

(b) mutual wazranties and indemnities given by Unicorn Group and China Unicorn Corporation Limited in
relation to the assets and liabilities transferred to China Unicorn Corporation Limited and in relation to the
restructuring,

(c) undertakings by Unicorn Group in favor of China Unicorn Corporation Limited, including undectalcings:

• to hold and maintain all licenses received from the Ministry of Information Industry in connection
with any of our businesses for our beaefit, and to allocate spectrum and to provide other resources
to us;

• subject to applicable Chinese laws and regulations in effect at the relevant time, to take till actions
necessary to obtain, maintain, renew and otherwise extend to or for our benefit such governmental
or regulatory licenses, consents, permits or other approvals as we shall require to continue to operate
our range of businesses;

• to arrange for us to participate in iu international roaming arrangements;

• not to engage in any business which competes with our businesses except for the business of Unicorn
Paging and cellulaz telephony services based on code division multiple access technology.

• in relation to our paging business:

— in the management of Unicorn Paging and Guoxin, to peat Guoxin no less favorably than
Unicorn Paging;

— not to expand Unicorn Paging's existing coverage to new geographical areas;

— to give Guoxin the first right to develop any new paging -related technologies and services;

103

Case 2:15-cv-07425-RGK-PLA   Document 121-19   Filed 10/26/16   Page 104 of 157   Page ID
 #:3748



— not to provide financial resources or assistance to Unicorn Paging which are not equally
provided W Guoxin; and

— to ensure that Unicorn Paging products and services are differentiated from Guoxin products in
the marketplace;

• to give us a right of first refusal in relation to any government authorization, license or pern~it, or
other business opportunity, or to develop any new telecommunications technology, prodi:ct or
service;

• in order to minimize the risk of competition with our Internet business, to take steps to dispose of its
interest in Beijing Shi Hua within 24 months following receipt of a notification from us that we
intend to provide Internet services which we consider are similar to those provided by Beijing Shi
Hua;

• to ensure that we can continue to enjoy the use of the premises for which title documentation cannot
be obtained at this time for a period of three years following the restructuring;

• not to dispose of any shares in us beneficially owned by it or to take or permit any other actions,
including primary issuances of securities by us or China Unicorn Corporation Limited, which would
result in us or China Unicorn Corporation Liauted no longer constituting majority owned
subsidiaries of Unicorn Group;

• not to seek an overseas listing for any of its businesses or the businesses of its subsidiaries in which
we are engaged or may engage in the future except through us;

(d) an option granted by Urucom Group to us to acquire Unicorn Gmup's interest in any telecommunic<<tions
interest such as Unicorn Paging, Unicorn Xingye and Unicorn Group's code division multiple access cellular
telephony license and business, and

(e) a commitment by Unicorn Gmup that it will provide continuous financial support to us when necessary.

Equity Transfer Agreement

In connection with the restructuring, we, Unicorn Group, China Unicorn (Hong Kong) Gmup Limited and
China Unicorn (BVI) Limited have entered into an equity transfer agreement This agreement includes the
following terms:

(a) Unicorn Group's agreement to transfer ail of its equity interest in China Unicorn Corporation Limited co us;

(b) our agreement to issue shares to China Unicorn (BVI) Limited, China Unicorn (BVI) Limited's agreement
to issue shares to China Unicorn (Hong Kong) Group Limited and China Unicorn (Hong Kong) Croup
Limiced's agreement to issue shares to Unicorn Group;

(c) Unicorn Group's and our agreement that:

~ we shall be entitled to apply in Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and in all places outside of China f~~r all
trademarks incorporating the ward LTnicam is Englis2s and Chinese aad the Unicorn logo; and

• once these trademarks have been registered, we will sublicense these trademarks to Unicorn G~~oup,
China Unicorn Corporation Limited, Guoxin and Guoxin's subsidiaries on a royalty -free basis; ar d

(d) warranties and indemnities given by Unicorn Group in relation to China Unicorn Corporation Limited.

Trademark Agreement

Unicorn Group is the registered proprietor of the Unicorn trademark in English and the trademark bearing
the Unicorn logo, which are registered at the People's Republic of China State Trademark Bureau. Under a PRC
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trademark license agreement entered into on May 25, 2000 between Unicorn Group and China Unicorn
Corporation Limited, China Unicorn Corporation Limited and our affiliates were granted the right to use these
vademarks on a royalry-free basis for an initial period of five years, renewable at the option of China Unicorn
Corporation Limi[ed. Under the terms of this agreement, we and our affiliates shall be [he exclusive licensees of
these trademarks provided that Unicorn Group may also license these trademarks to any of its existing or future
subsidiaries. Unicorn Group has also agreed to license to China Unicorn Corporation Limited any trademark
which it registers in China in the future which incorporates the word Unicorn in Chinese.

Provision of Ongoing Telecommunications and Ancillary Services and Facilities by Unicorn Group to Us

Leasing of Satellite Transmission Capacity by Unisat

Following the res~ucturing, we will lease satellite transmission capacity from China United
Telecommunications Satellite Communication Co. Ltd. or Unisat, which is a 60.25% owned subsidiary of
Unicorn Group. We will use this capacity to supplement our long distance network.

Urtisat and China Unicorn Corporation Limited have entered into a satellite transmission channel leasing
agreement, dated May 25, 2000. Under this agreement China Unicorn Corporation Limited is entitled to lease
for itself and on behalf of Guoxin satellite transmission capacity from Unisat for a term ending December 31,
2000, renewable at [he option of China Unicorn Corporation Limited.

Payments for leasing of satellite transmission capacity will be calculated on the basis of tariffs set by the
Ministry of Informarion Industry. We will pay the minimum applicable tariff for the relevant volume and duration
less a discount of up to 30°0. The discount will not be less than that offered by any third party leasing similar
vansmission capacity. Leasing charges for satellite transmission line capacity paid by us co Unicorn Group were
RMB 38.0 million, RMB 34.2 million and RMB 29.7 million for 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively. We es[imace
thac total leasing charges for satellite transmission capacity for 2000 will be approximately RMB 61.0 million.

We will maintain the ground equipment installed by Unisat at our sites, and will charge Unisat for work
done and materials supplied. These charges will be deducted from the lease fees payable by us to Unisat for
transmission capacity.

Supply of International Gateway Services

Following the restructuring, Unicorn Group will provide us with access to international connections for our
international long distance service through Unicorn Group's international gateways. Unicorn Group has
completed international gateways in Shanghai and Guangzhou. Another gateway will be completed in Beijing in
2000.

Following the restructuring, we and Unicorn Group entered into a services agreement, dated May 25, 2000.
Under the relevant provisions of the services agreement, Unicorn Group agrees to supply international gateway
services to us for an initial term of three years, renewable at our option. Unicorn Group has undenaken not to
supply internarional gateway services to other third parties. We estimate that total chazges for the supply of
international gateway services for 2000 will be approximately 1tMB 6.7 million.

The charge for these services will be based on the cost to Unicorn Group of operation and maintenance of
the international gateway facilities, including depreciation, together with a margin of ten percent over cost. We
will retain all revenues generated by our international long distance service.

Supply of SIM Cards, Internet Protocol Telephone Cards and Rechargeable Calling Cards

Prior to the restructuring, Unicorn Group established Unicorn Xingye Science and Technology Trade Co.
Ltd., a 90°!0 owned subsidiary, to handle the sourcing of SIM cards, Internet protocol telephone cards and
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rechargeable calling cards for Unicorn Group's various networks. Unicorn Import and Export Co. Ltd. owns the
remaining ]0% of Unicorn Xingye.

For 1997, 1998, 1999, we paid approximately RMB 50.4 million, RMB 156.4 million and RMB 333.6
million, respectively, to Unicorn Xingye for the purchase of SIM Cards, Internet protocol telephone cazds and
rechargeable calling cards.

After the restructuring, Unicorn Group will supply SIM cards, Internet protocol telephone cards and
rechargeable calling cards to us for a period of three years, renewable at our option. This arrangement will be
covered by the relevant provisions of the services agreement between us and Unicorn Group.

Chazges for the supply of these cards are based on the actual cost incurred by Unicorn Xingye in supplying
the cards together with a margin over cost to be agreed from time to time but in any case not to exceed 20%,
as~d subject to specified volume discounts. Under the services agreement, prices and volumes will be reviewed
by the parties on an annua3 basis. We estimate that total charges for the supply of SIM cards, Internet pr~xocol
telephone cards and rechargeable calliag cards for 2000 will be approxunately RMB 271.8 million.

Equipment Procurement Services

Prior to the restructuring, Unicorn Group established Unicorn Import and Export Co. Ltd., a 96.8% owned
subsidiary, to handle the procurement of foreign and domestic telecommunications equipment and other materials
required for Unicorn Group's networks. Unicorn Import and Export Co. Lui. provides comprehensive
procurement services, including management of tenders, verification of technical specifications and installation
services. For 1997, 1998 and 1999, we paid an agency fee of approximately RMB 12.4 million, RMB 17.0
million and RMB 70.2 million, respectively, to Unicorn Import and Export Co. Ltd. for equipment procurf:ment
services.

China Unicorn Corporation Limited may request that Unicorn Group act as our agent in procuring foreign
and domestic telecommunications equipment and other materials.

Charges for these services are calculated at the rate of:

(l) .7% of the contract value in the case of imported equipment or

(2) .5% of the contract value in the case of domestic equipment

We estimate that total charges for equipment procurement services for 2000 will be approximately RMB
166.7 million.

Mutual Provision of Ongoing Telecommunications and Ancillary Services and Facilities Between Unico~
Group and Us

IreterconRection Arranger€zenu and Roaming Arrangements

Our and Unicorn Crroup's cellular and long distance networks interconnect with each other. The services
agreement between us and Unicorn Group provides for these interconnection arrangements. These arrangements
will be for an initial period of ttu+ee years, renewable at our option.

Interconnection settlement between Unicorn Group's networks and our networks is based on rel:vant
standards established from time to time by the Ministry of Information Industry. However, in the case of calls
between cellular subscribers in different provinces, settlement is based on either the relevant stan3ards
established by the Ministry of Information Industry or an internal settlement arrangement applied by Ur.icom
Group prior to the reswcturing. We are able to choose the arrangement which is more favorable to us. The
internal settlement arrangement, which is based on the pazties' respective internal cosu of providing this service,
is currently more favorable to us than [he settlement arrangement prescribed by the Ministry of Inforrr.ation
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Industry. If in future the arrangement prescribed by the Ministry of Information Industry were to be more
favorable to us, we would settle on the basis of that arrangement. We estimate that interconnection revenue and
interconnection expense derived from interconnection with Unicorn Group for 2000 will be approximately
RMB 111.9 million and approximately RMB 35.5 million, respectively.

We and Unicorn Group provide roaming services to each other's cellular subscribers within our respective
service areas. In addition, we make our long distance network available to Unicorn Group to enable Unicorn
Group to give effect to its roaming arrangements with third party operators. These roaming arrangements are
governed by the services agreement between us and Unicorn Group and will be for an initial period of three
years, renewable at our option.

Charges for these services between us and Unicorn Group are based on our respective infernal costs of
providing these services, and will be on no less favorable terms than those available to any independent third
party. We will be paid 50% of roaming revenue received by Unicorn Group from third party operators for making
our long distance network available so Unicorn Group to give effect to its roaming arrangemenu with third party
operators. We estimate that roaming revenue and roaming expense derived from roaming with Unicorn Group
for 2000 will be approximately RMB 223.3 million and approximately RMB 49.1 million, respectively.

Interconnection and roaming revenues received'from Unicorn Group were approximately RMB 2.7 million,
RMB 40.6 million and RMB 95.8 million in 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Leasing of Transmission Line Capacity

Following the restructuring, we and Unicorn Group will lease transmission capacity fmm each other. Under
the relevant provisions of the services agreement, this arrangement will be for an initial period of three years,
renewable at our option.

Charges for ]eases of transmission line capacity are based on tariffs stipulated by the Ministry of Information
Industry from time to time less a discount of up to 10%. The stipulated tariffs vary depending on type of line
and distance. If new tariffs are stipulated by the Ministry of Information Industry, the discount rate will be
reviewed.

Leasing fee paid by us to Unicorn Group was RMB 38.0 million, RMB 34.2 million and RMB 29.7 mi}lion
for ]997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Sales Agency and CoUecrion Services

We and Unicorn Group have agreed to share collection and sales agency services and facilities. This will
enable us to enhance our marketing efforts, customer services and collection efficiency. Tt€ese arrangements are
covered in a sales agency and collection services agreement among Unicorn Group, China Unicorn Corporation
Limited and Guoxin, and will be for as initial period of 3 years, renewable at our option.

Charges for sales agency services vary depending on the type of service and market conditions in different
service areas. For the sale of Internet protocol telephone cards, long distance and data services, charges will be
based on commission rates stipulated by us and applicable to our sales agency arrangements with third parties.
For the sale of cellular services, commission rates are based on market rates in the relevant service areas and
range from RMB 100 to RMB 360 per new customer, depending on the relevant market rate. For the sale of
Guoxin's paging services, commission rates are based on mazket rates in the relevant service areas and range
from RMB 50 to RMB 100 per new customer, depending on the relevant mazket rate. Charges for collection
services are calculated at the rate of RMB .O1 per RMB 1.00 collected. We estimate that sales agency and
collection revenue from Unicorn Group for 2U00 will be approximately RMB 46.5 million and RMB 152
million, respectively. We estimate that the sales agency and collection charges to be paid to Unicorn Group for
2000 will be i2MB 178.5 million and RMB 8.4 million, respectively.
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Mutual Provision of Premises Between Unicorn Group and Us

Beijing Head O,~`cce Lease

We will lease our Beijing head office premises from Unicorn Xingye. We and Unicorn Xingye entered into
a lease agreement dated May 25, 2000 setting out the terms of the lease. The lease is for an initial term <~f one
year, renewable at our option. The rental under the lease agreement is determined with reference to market rates,
and Sallmanns (Far East) Ltd. has confirmed that the rental represenu a fair and reasonable market price;. Not
taking into account any expansion that we may need, we estimate that annual rent payab]e to Unicorn Xingye for
our Beijing head office premises is RMB 10.2 million.

Mutual Provision of Premises

Under the services agreement between Unicorn Group and us, Unicorn Group and we will provide tc~ each
other premises owned by or leased by thud parties to Unicorn Group or us upon the request of the other party
from time to time. Apart from cases where the premises have been leased from independent third parties, the
rental amount in each case will be based on the Lower of depreciation costs and market prices for similar premises
in that locality. However, we can choose to charge Unicorn Group market prices for premises leased to Uiiicom
Group. In cases where the premises have been leased from an independent third patty, the rental amount will be
that payable in the head ]ease. Charges for any air-conditioning and electricity are included in the rental amount.
In the case of shared premises, the price will be allocated in proponion to use. We estimate that total charges for
premises leased by Unicorn Group to us for 2000 will be RMB 604,4 million and the total charges for premises
leased by us to Unicorn Group and its affiliates for 2000 will be RMB 2.4 million.

During 1997, 1998 and 1999, rent paid to Unicorn Group for premises, equipment and facilities were
approximately RMB 6.2 million, RMB 15.1 million and RMB 24.3 million, respectively.

Sallmanns (Faz East) Ltd., an independent valuer, has confirmed that the rental amounts payable und:r the
above arrangemenu are fair and reasonable and do not exceed market rent

Waivers from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Our directors, including the independent non-executive directors, believe that the transactions relating to
the provision of ongoing telecommunications and ancillary services and facilities and mutual provisi~m of
premises, including the Beijing head office lease, have been entered into and will be carried out in the orc!inary
course of business and on normal commercial terms which are fair and reasonable so far as the interesu of our
shareholders are concerned.

The transactions described above will constitute connected transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules
for so long as Unicorn Group remains a connected person as the term is defined under the Listing f:ules.
According to the Listing Rules, each of these trar€sactions would normally require full disclosure and prior
approval by independent shareholders, depending an the nature and value of [he transaction. Given that these
transactions will be conducted in the ordinary course of business on a regulaz basis, our directors consider thai
disclosure and approval of them in full compliance with the Listing Rules would be impracticable arid, in
particular, add additional management fees. Accordingly, we have applied for, and the Hong Kong hock
Exchange has indicated it will grant a waiver for a period of three fiscal years from strict compliance wish the
relevant requirements of the Lisring Rules in relation to the transactions described above.

On the basis of confirmations that these transactions were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
business on normal commercial terms and on fair and reasonable terms, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has
indicated that it will grant a waiver if:

{a) (]) the transactions, and the agreements governing [hose transactions, are entered into by our relevant
subsidiary in the ordinary and usual course of business, and
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(2) either

— on normal commercial terms, or

— if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial
terms, on terms no less favorable than terms available to or from independent third panies,

(3) the transactions shall be in accordance with the relevant agreement govemiag them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interesu of our shareholders as a whole,

(4} we will disclose brief details of the transactions in each year including,

— the date or period of [he transaction, the parties and a description of their connected relationship,

— a brief description of the transaction and the purpose of the transaction,

— the total consideration and the terms, and

— the nature aad extent of the interest of the connected person in the transaction,

in our annual report and accounts for the relevant year,

~5) our independent, non-executive directors will review annually the transactions and confirm, in our
annual report and accounts, that such transactions have been conducted in the manner stated in
conditions (1), (2) and (3) above and paragraphs (b) and (c) below,

(6) our audi[ars, Arthur Andersen & Co, will carry out review procedures annually on the transactions and
shall provide a letter to our board of directors, with a copy of that letter to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange at least 10 business days prior to the bulk printing of our annual report, confirming that the
transactions:

— have received the approval of our board of directors,

— are in accordance with our pricing policies if the transactions involve provision of goods or services
by us,

— have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transactions, and

— have not exceeded any cap agreed with the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and

(7) for the purpose of the above review and reporting on the transactions by our auditors, Unicorn Group
shall undertake to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and us to allow the auditors sufficient access to its
records and those of its subsidiaries,

(b) in relation to the Beijing head office lease, the aggregate annual value of the lease does not exceed the cap
amount of RMB 15.2 million, and

(c) in relation to the mutual provision of premises, not including the Beijing head office lease, the aggregate
annual value does not exceed the cap of the amount of RMB 650 million.

In addition, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has confirmed that the inua-group transactions among us and
our subsidiaries will not be subject to any disclosure or shareholders' approval requiremenu as connected
transactions under the Listing Rules on the basis that:

(a) each transaction in question is on normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of business, and

(b) except for a person who is a connected person only because of iu substantial shareholding in the non-wholly
owned subsidiary concerned, no connected person is, or together with other connected persons are, a
substantial shareholder in any of the non-wholly owned subsidiaries concerned.
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Competing and Potentially Competing Businesses

Unicorn Paging

Following the restructuring, Unicorn Group continues to own and operate the nationwide business of its
99% owned subsidiary, Unicorn Paging, in addition to the paging business of our subsidiary Guoxin. Giro An
Electrical Appliance Corporation holds the other I% interest in Unicorn Paging. Unicorn Paging compete> with
Guoxin in those areas in which both have network coverage.

Unicorn Paging has entered into China -China -Foreign financing arrangements in 35 cities. Twenty of these
cities involve Singapore Science and Technology (Pte) Co., Ltd. and 15 involve Hong Kong Lark Telecor.~ Co.,
Ltd. As these China -China -Foreign arrangements have not been terminated, Unicorn Group has excludf:d the
business of Unicorn Paging from us in the reswcturing. Unicorn Paging has commenced negodadons to rectify
or terminate these China -China -Foreign arrangemenu. However, the amount of compensation to terminate these
arrangements cannot currently be estimated.

We are capable of and have carried on our paging business independently of, and at arm's length from, the
business of Unicorn Paging. Our paging subsidiary, Guoxin, was established in 1984 whereas Unicorn Faging
was established in 1995. Our paging business and that of Unicorn Paging have at all times been carri~:d on
independently. The license of Unicorn Paging to operate paging business is held through Unicorn Group. Guoxin
holds iu own operating license.

Presently, Guoxin and Uaicom Paging do not carry out any transactions between them. In the evert that
they do, these transactions may constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules, in which case w~ will
comply with the requirements under the Listing Rules unless these transactions are subject to any waivers
obtained from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Unicorn Paging has registered capital of RMB 30 million and net assets of RMB 18 milli~~n as
of December 31, 1999. Iu pre-tax profit for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 are R1vIB 8
million, RMB 9 million and RMB 12 million, respectively. Unicorn Group acted as borrower and on-lender for
Unicorn Paging in respect of a five year term loan of RMB 100 million fmm China Construction Bank and in
respect of two working capital loans of RMB 50 million and RMB 40 million fmm the Bank of China, B:ijing
Branch. Unicorn Group has provided security in respect of these two loans.

As of December 31, 1999, Unicorn Paging had approximately 3.2 million subscribers whereas Guoxin had
approximately 43.5 million subscribers. Unicorn Paging's network is in 28 provinces, autonomous regions and
directly administered municipalities. Its coverage is mainly concentrated in the coastal areas and in irban
conurbations where Guoxin is the dominant provider of paging services.

Unicorn Paging is managed by iu boazd of directors, There are four directors. Three directors are appointed
by Unicorn Group and one director is appointed by Guo An Electrical Appliance Corporation.

Beijing Shi Hut

Unicorn Group also owns a 55% interest in Beijing Unicorn Shi Hua Kai Information Network Co., Ltd. or
Beijing Shi Hua. Unicorn Import and Export Co. Ltd. owns 5%, and Beijing Unicorn Shi Hua Kai Information
Engineering Limited 40%, of Beijing Shi Hua, respectively. Beijing Shi Hua carries on the business, among other
things, of providing consumer Internet services, including through its chain of Internet cafes. In order to eiirriinate
the potential for competition with us should we decide in [he future to provide consumer Internet services,
Unicorn Group has undertaken to take steps to dispose of its interest in Beijing Shi Hua within 24 months
following receipt of a notification from us that we intend to provide Internet services which we considE:r are
similar to those provided by Beijing Shi Hua
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Unicorn Group's Code Division Multiple Access Cellular Business

Our controlling shareholder, Unicorn Group, has the right to operate a nationwide cellular services business
using code division multiple access technology and is exp]onng the possibility of developing this business. If
developed, this code division multiple access cellular services business could compete directly with our global
system for mobile communication cellular business. In addition, it has been reported in the press that other
existing Chinese code division multiple access cellular services businesses under state control may be vansferred
to Unicorn Group. Any transfer of additional assets under state contro] to Unicorn Group will be subject to
approval by relevant Chinese government authorities. We have been advised by Unicorn Group that it would
]ikely transfer any such businesses received by it, together with its existing code division multiple access license,
into a subsidiary. The business of this subsidiary could then compete directly with our global system for mobile
communication cellular business. Under our reorganization agreement with Unicorn Group, we have the option
to acquire Unicorn Group's interest in any telecommunications business in China, including but not limited co
any code division multiple access business owned by Unicorn Group now or in the future. Our exercise of this
option will be sub}ect to Chinese government approval and as a general matter, under the applicable listing rules
of the HKSE, the terms of any future acquisition by us of assets or businesses from Unicorn Group wi11 be subject
to approval by our public shareho]ders. Currently, we do not have any plans or planned capital expenditures to
develop our own code division multiple access network.
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPTTAL

As of May 26, 2000, our authorized share capital consisted of 30,000,000,000 shares, paz value HK$.10 per
share, of which 9,725,000,020 shares were ouutanding. The followiag statements are summaries of c+;rtain
provisions of our memorandum of association and articles of association and the Companies Ordinance (Ch~.apter
32 of the laws of Hong Kong).

General

Freshfields, our Hong Kong counsel, has opined that all of our issued shares will be fully paid and will be,
at the time of issue, free and cleaz of ail liens, encumbrances, equities and claims. Certificates representing the
shares are issued in registered form. Our shareholders who are non-residents of Hong Kong for exchange control
purposes may freely hold and vote their shares. Our shares do not provide any sinking fund or redemption r.ghts.

Voting Rights

Under the Companies Ordinance, any action to be taken by the shareholders in a general meeting recuires
the affirmative vote of either an ordinary or a special resolution passed at the meeting. An ordinary resolut:.on is
one passed by the majority of such shareholders as are entitled to, and do, vote in person or by proxy at a general
meeting. A special resolution is one passed by not less than three-quarters of such shareholders as are entitl~:d to,
and do, vo[e in person or by pmxy at a general meeting. Most shareholders decisions are passed by ordinary
resolutions. However, the Companies Ordinance and our articles of association stipulate that certain matters may
only be passed by special resolutions.

Subject to any special rights, privileges or restrictions as to voting that may from time to time be att~~ched
to any class or classes of shares, at any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting sh<<I1 be
decided on a show of hands unless a poll is demanded by:

• the chairman of the meeting,

• at least two shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting,

• any shareholder or shareholders present in person or by proxy and representing in the aggregau: not
less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to attend and vote at
the meeting, or

• any shareholder or shareholders present in person or by proxy and holding shares conferring a ri~ ht to
attend and vote at the meeting on which there have been paid up sums in the aggregate equal u~ not
less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all shares conferring that right.

On a show of hands, every individual shareholder who is present in person and every corporate shareh elder
who is present by a representative duly authorized under secrion 115 of the Companies Ordinance has one rote.

On a poll, every shareholder present in person or, if the shareholder is a corporation, by duly authorized
representative, or by proxy has one vote for every share of which he/she is the shareholder which is fully paid
up or credited as fully paid up. However, no amount paid up or credited as paid up on a share in advance of calls
or installments is treated for the foregoing purposes as paid up on the share.

Any action to be taken by the shareholders requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares at a
meeting of shareholders. There are no cumulative voting rights. Accordingly, the holders of a majority of the
shazes voting for the election of directors can elect all the directors if they choose to do so.

Modification of Rights

Subject to the Companies Ordinance, any of the rights from time to time attaching to any class of sleazes
may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, be vaned or abrogated with the consent in waiting
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of the holders of not less than three -fourths of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of shares of that class.

Issue of Shares

Under the Companies Ordinance, our board of directors may, without prior approval of our shareholders,
offer to issue new shares to existing shareholders proportionately according to their shareholdings. Our board of
directors may not offer to issue new shares in any other manner without the prior approval of our shareholders in
a general meeting. Any such approval given in a general meeting will continue in force until the conclusion of
the following annual genera] meeting or the expiration of the period within which the next annual general
meeting is required by law to be held or when revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution of our shareholders in
a general meeting, whichever comes first. If such approval is given, the unissued shares shall be at the disposal
of our board of directors, which may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of [hem to such persons.
at such times and for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as our board of directors may
determine.

In accordance with the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, any such approval given by the
shareholders must be limited to shares with an aggregate nominal value not exceeding 20 per cent of the
aggregate nominal value of our share capital in issue plas the aggregate nominal amount of share capi~al
repurchased by us since the granting of such approval.

Dividends

Subject to the Companies Ordinance and as set out in our articles of association, our shareholders in a
general meeting may from time to time declare dividends to be paid to our shareholders according to their rights
and interests in the profits available for distribution, buc no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by our board of directors.

In addition to any dividends declared in a general meeting upon the recommendation of the board of
directors, our board of directors may from time to time declare and pay to our shareholders such interim
dividends as appear to our board of directors to be justified by our financial position. Our board of directors may
also pay any fixed dividend which is payable on any of our shares on any other dates, whenever our financial
position, in the opinion of our board of directors, justifies such payments.

Winding Up

If we are wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a special resolution, divide among our
shareholders in specie or in kind the whole or any part of our assets or vest any part of our assets in trustees
upon such trusts for the benefit of our shareholders or any of them as the resolution shall provide.

Miscellaneous

Shazeholders are not entitled to any redemption rights, conversion rights or preemptive rights on the vansfer
of ordinary shares.

The transfer agent and registrar for the shares is HKSCC Registrars Limited, 2nd Floor, Vicwood Plaza,
199 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

CCF Warrants

We have agreed to grant warrants to purchase shares in connection with the termination of the China -China -
Foreign arrangemenu. The number of shares that the relevant warrant holders may purchase are determined by
dividing the relevant warrants' aggregate exercise price by the initial public offering price per share of the shares
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being offered in the global offering. The aggregate exercise price of all of these warrants is approximately RMB
5.2 billion. The aggregate number of shares issuable upon exercise of these warranu will be approxir.iately
312,942,000. The warrants will be exercisable by the holders for a period of six months commencing six n.~onths
after the date of the c]osing of this offering.
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DESCRIPTION OF AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

American Depositary Receipts

The Bank of New York will issue the ADRs. Each ADR will represent ownership interests in 10 shares or
the right to receive 10 shares which we will deposit with the Hong Kong office of The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited, or HSBC, as custodian, in Hong Kong. Each ADR will also represen[ securities,
cash or other property deposited with The Bank of New York but not distributed to ADR holders. The Bank of
New York's office is located at 101 Barclay Sheet, New York, NY 10286. HSBC's office is located at 1 Queen's
Road Central, Hong Kong, China.

You may hold ADRs either directly or indirectly through your broker or other financial institution. If you
hold ADRs directly, you are as ADR holder. This description assumes you hold your ADRs directly. If you hold
the ADRs indirectly, you must rely on the procedures of your broker or other financial institution to assert the
rights of ADR holders described in this section. You should consult with your broker or financial institution to
find out what those procedures arse.

Because The Bank of New York will actually own the shares, you must rely on it to exercise the rights of a
shareholder. The obligations of The Bank of New York are set out in an agreement among us, The Bank of New
York and you, as an ADR holder. The deposit agreement and the ADRs are generally governed by New York
law.

The following is a summary of [he material terms of the Deposit Agreement. This summary may not contain
all the information that may be important to you. Directions on how to obtain copies of the agreement are
provided on page 135 of this prospectus.

Share Dividends and Other Distributions

How will you receive dividends and other distributions on the shares?

The Bank of New York has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it receives on
shares or other deposited securities, after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in
proportion to the number of shares your ADRs represent

~ Cash. The Bank of New York will convert any cash dividend or other cash distribution we pay on
the shares into U.S. dollars, if it can do so on a reasonable basis and can transfer the U.S. dollars to the
United States. If that is not possible or if any approval from the Hong Kong government is needed and
cannot be obtained, the deposit agreement allows The Bank of New York to distribute the Hong Kong
dollars only to those ADR holders io whom it is possible to do so. it will hold the Hong Kong dollars
it cannot convert for the account of the ADR holders who have not been paid. It will not invest the
Hong Kong dollars and it will not be liable for any interest

Before making_ a distribution, any withholding taxes that must be paid under Hong Kong law will be
deducted. It will distribute only whole U.S. dollars and cents and will round fractional cenu to the
nearest whole cent I,f the exchange rates fluctuate during a time when The Bank of New York cannot
convert the Hong Kong dollars, you may lose sorrce or all of the value o}'the distribution.

• Shares. The Bank of New York may, or upon request shall, distribute new ADRs ~tpresenting any
shares we distribute as a dividend or free distribution, if we furnish it promptly with satisfactory
evidence that it is legal to do so. The Bank of New York will only distribute whole ADRs. It will sell
shares which would require it to issue a fractional ADR and distribute the net proceeds in the same
way as it does with cash. If The Bank of New York does not distribute additional ADRs, each ADR
will also represent the new shares.
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• Rights to receive additional shares. If we offer holders of our securities any rights to subscribe for
additional shares or any other righu, The Bank of New York may, after consultation with us, make
these righu available to you. We must first inswct The Bank of New York to do so and furnish :t with
satisfactory evidence that it is legal to do so. If we do not furnish this evidence andlor give these
instructions, and The Bank of New York decides it is practical to sell the rights, The Bank o:.' New
York will sell the rights and distribute the proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. The B.ink of
New York may allow rights that are not distributed or sold to lapse. In that case, you will rece-ve no
value for them.

If The Bank of New York makes rights available to you, upon your instruction it will exercise the rights
and purchase the shares on your behalf. The Bank of New York will then depose the shares and issue
ADRs to you. It will only exercise rights if you pay ii the exercise price and any other charg:s the
righu require you to pay.

U.S. securities caws may restrict the sale, deposit, cancellation, and transfer of the ADRs issued after
exercise of rights. For example, you may not be able to trade the ADRs freely in the United Stales. In
this case, The Bank of New York may issue the ADRs under a separate restricted deposit agre~:ment
which will contain the same provisions as the deposit agreement, except for changes needed to put the
restrictions in place.

• Other Distributions. The Bank of New York will send to you anything else we distribute on
deposited securities by any means it thinks is legal, fair and practical. If it cannot make the distribution
in that way, The Bank of New York has a choice. It may decide to sell what we distnbute~9 and
distribute the net proceeds, in the same way as it does with cash. Or, it may decide to hold what we
distributed, in which case ADRs will also represent the newly distributed property.

The Bank of New York is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to m.ilce a
distribution available to any ADR holders. We have no obligation to register ADRs, shares, rights or other
securities under the Securities Act, We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the distrit:ution
of ADRs, shares, rights or anything else to ADR holders. This means that you may not receive the distrib:~tions
we make on our shapes or any value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them available to you.

Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancellation

How does the Depositary issue ADRs?

The Bank of New York will issue ADRs if you or your broker deposit shares or evidence of rights to receive
shares with HSBC. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as scamp taxes or
stock transfer taxes or fees, The Bank of New York will register the appropriate number of ADRs in the names
you request and will deliver the ADRs at its office to the persons you request.

How do ADR holders cancel an ADR a€id obtain shares?

You may tum in your ADRs at The Bank of New York's office. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and
of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, The Bank of New York will deliver

• the underlying shares to an account designated by you and

~ any other deposited securities underlying the ADR at the office of HSBC. Or, at your request, nsi: and
expense, The Bank of New York will deliver the deposited securities at its office.
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Voting Rights

How do you vote?

You may instruct The Bank of New York to vote the shares underlying your ADRs. The Bank of New York
will notify you of the upcoming vote and arrange to deliver our voting materials to you. The materials will

• describe the matters to be voted on and

• explain how you, on a certain date, may instruct The Bank of New York to vote the shares or other
deposited securities underlying your ADRs as you direct. For instructions to be valid, The Bank of
New York must receive them on or before the date specified. 1fie Bank of New York will try, as far as
practical, subject to Hong Kong law and the provisions of our memorandum and articles of association,
to vote or to have its agents vote the shares or other deposited securities as you instruct. If The Bank
of New York does not receive your valid instruction, they will deem that you have instructed them to
give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by us to vote such deposited securities, except in the
case of any proposed action that would, under our Articles of Association, entitle the holders of shares
to vote as a separate group and we notify the depositary in writing of that fact.

We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct The
Bank of New York to vote your shazes. In addition, The Bank of New York and its agents are not responsible for
failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying out voting instructions. This means char you
may not be able to exercise your right to vote and there may be nothing you can do if your shares are not voted
as you requested.

Fees and Expenses

ADR holders must pay:

$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADRs

$.02 (or less) per ADR

Registration or transfer fees

For:

• Each issuance of an ADR, including as a result
of a distribution of shares or rights or other
property

• Each cancellation of an ADR, including if the
deposit agreement terminates

• Each distribution of securities, other than shares
or ADSs, treating the securities as if they were
shares for purpose of calculating fees

• Any cash distribution except for distribution of
cash dividends

• Transfer and registration of shares on the share
register of our transfer agent and registrar in
Hong Kong from your name to the name of The
Bank of New York or its agent when you deposit
or withdraw shares

Expenses of The Bank of New York Conversion of Hong Kong dollars to U.S. dollars

Expenses of The Bank of New York ~ Cable, telex and facsimile transmission expenses,
if the expenses are expressly provided in the
deposit agreement

Taxes and other governmental charges The Bank of
New York or HSBC have to pay on any .4DR or share
underlying an ADR, for example, stock transfer taxes,
stamp duty or withholding taxes As necessary.
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Payment of Taxes

You will be responsible for any taxes or other governmental charges payable on your ADRs or ~~n the
deposited securities underlying your ADRs. The Bank of New York may refuse to transfer your ADRs or allow
you to withdraw the deposited securities underlying your ADRs until such taxes or other charges are paid. It
may apply payments owed to you or sell deposited securities underlying your ADRs to pay any taxes owf;d and
you wi]1 remain liable for any deficiency. If it sells deposited securities, it will, if appropriate, reduce the n~~mber
of ADRs to reflect the sale and pay to you any proceeds, or send to you any property, remaining after it has paid
the taxes.

Reclassifications, Recapitalizations and Mergers

If we: Then:

Change the nominal or par value of our shares
Reclassify, split up or consolidate any of the
deposited securities

Distribute securities on the shares that are not
distributed to you
Recapitalize, reorganise, merge, liquidate, sell all
or substantially all of our assets, or take any
similar action

The cash, shares or other securities received by ^.~'he
Bank of New York will become deposited securities.
Each ADR will automatically represent its equal share
of the new deposited securities.

The Bank of New York may, and will if we ask them
to, distribute some or all of the cash, shazes or other
securities it received. It may also issue new ADF:s or
ask you to surrender your outstanding ADRs in
exchange for new ADRs identifying the new
deposited securities.

Amendment and Termination

How may the deposit agreemerst be amended?

We may agree with The Bank of New York to amend the deposit agreement and the ADRs without your
consent for any reason. If the amendment adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other
governmental charges or certain expenses of The Bank of New York, or prejudices an important right of ADR
holders, it will only become effective 30 days after The Bank of New York notifies you of the amendment. Ar
the time an amendment becomes effective, you are considered, by continuing to hold your ADS, to agree .:'o the
amendment and to be bound by the ADRs and the deposit agreement as amended.

How may the deposit agreement be terminated?

The Bank of New York will terminate the deposit agreement if we ask it to do so. The Bank of New York
may also terminate the deposit agreement if The Bank of New York has told us that it would like to resig:i and
we have not appointed a new depositary bank within 60 days. In both cases, The Bank of New York must notify
you at least 60 days before termination.

After termination, 'The Bank of New York and its agents will be required to do only the following und~;r the
deposit agreement:

(1) collect distributions on the deposited securities and

(2) deliver shares and other deposited securities upon cancellation of ADRs.

One year after termination, The Bank of New York will, if practical, sell any remaining deposited securities
by public or private sale. After that, The Bank of New York will hold the money it received on the sale, as well
as any other cash it is holding under the deposit agreement for the benefit of the ADR holders that have not
surrendered their ADRs. It will not invest the money and has no liability for interest. The Bank of New York's
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only ob]igatioas will be to account for the money and other cash and with respect to indemnification. After
termination our only obligations will be with respect to indemnification and to pay certain amounts to The Bank
of New York.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability to ADR Holders

Limits on our Obligations and the Obligations of the Depositary; Limits on Liability to Holders of ADRs

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of T`he Bank of New York. It
also limits our liability and the liability of T'he Bank of New York. We and The Bank of New York:

~ are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without negligence
or bad faith;

• are not liable if either of us is prevented or delayed by law or circumstances beyond our convol from
performing our obligations under the deposit agreement;

• are not liable if either of us exercises discretion permitted under the deposit agreement;

• have no obligation to become involved in a lawsuit or other proceeding related to the ADRs or the
deposit agreement on your behalf or on behalf of any other party;

• may rely upon any documenu we believe in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed or
presented by the proper party.

In the deposit agreement, we and The Bank of New York agree to indemnify each other under cenain
circumstances.

Requirements far Depositary Actions

Befog The Bank of New York will issue or register transfer of an ADR, make a distribution on an ADR, or
permit withdrawal of shares, The Bank of New York may require:

• payment of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmental charges and transfer or registration fees
charged by third parties for the transfer of any shares or other deposited securities;

• producvon of satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or other information
it deems necessary; and

• compliance with regulations it may establish, from time to time, consistent with the deposit agreement,
including presentation of transfer documents.

The Bank of New York may refuse to deliver, transfer, or register transfers of ADRs generally when the
vansfer books of The Bank of New York, Unicorn or our transfer agent and registrar in Hong Kong are closed or
at any time if The Bank of New York or Unicorn thinks it advisable co do so.

Your Right to Receive the Shares Underlying your ADRs

You have the right to cancel your ADRs and withdraw the underlying shares at any time except:

• when temporary delays arise because the Bank of New York or Unicorn has closed its transfer books
in connection with voting at a shareholders' meeting or the payment of dividends;

• when you or other ADR holders seeking to withdraw shares owe money to pay fees, taxes and similar
charges; or

• when it is necessary to prohibit withdrawals in order to comply with any laws or governmental
regulations that apply to ADRs or to the withdrawal of shares or other deposited securities.
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This right of withdrawal may not be limited by any other provision of the deposit agreement.

Pre -Release of ADRs

In certain circumstances, subject to the provisions of the deposit agreement, The Bank of New York may
execute and deliver ADRs before deposit of the underlying shares. This is called apre-release of the ADR. 1fie
Bank of New York may also deliver shares upon receipt and cancellation of pre -released ADRs (even if the
ADRs are cancelled befog the pre-~+etease transaction has been closed out). Apre-release is closed out a~ soon
as the underlying shares are delivered to The Bank of New York. The Bank of New York may receive ADRs
instead of shares to close out apre-release. The Bank of New York may pre-release ADRs only under the
following conditions:

(1) before or at the time of the pre-release, the person to whom the pre-reiease is being made must
represent to The Bank of New York in writing that it or its customer.

• owns the shares or ADRs to be deposited,

~ assigns all beneficial interest and title in the shades or ADRs to The Bank of New York in iu
capacity as depositary and for the benefit of the owners, and

• will not take any action with respect to the shares or ADRs that is inconsistent with the vansfer
of beneficial ownership including disposing the shares or ADRs without the prior consent cif The
Bank of New York except for any action to satisfy the pre-release;

(2) the pre-release must be fully collateralized with cash or other collateral that The Bank of New York
considers appropriate; and

(3) The Bank of New York must be able to close out the pre-release on not more than Eve business days'
notice. The pre-release will be subject to indemnities and applicable credit regulations that The Bank
of New York reasonably considers appropriate. In addition, The Bank of New York will limit the
number of ADRs that may be outstanding at any time as a result of pre-release, although The B,~nk of
New York may disregazd the limit from time to time, if it thinks it is appropriate to do so.
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TAXATION

The taxation of income and capital gains of holders of shares or ADSs is subject to the laws and practices
of Hong Kong and of jurisdictions in which holders of shares or ADSs are resident or otherwise subject to tax.
The following summary of certain relevant taxation provisions is based on current taw and practice, is subject to
change and does not constitute legal or tax advice. The discussion does not deal with al] possible tax
consequences relating to an invesunent in the shares or ADSs. In particulaz, the discussion does not address the
tax consequences under state, local and other laws, such as non-Hong Kong and non-U.S. federal laws.
Accordingly, you should consult your own tax adviser regarding the tax consequences of an investment in the
shares and ADSs. The discussion is based upon laws and relevant interpretations in effect as of the date of this
prospectus, all of which are subject to changes. There is no reciprocal ta~c treaty in effect between Hong Kong
and the United States.

Hong Kong

Tax on Dividends

Under the current practices of the Hang Kong Inland Revenue Departrnent, no tax is payable in Hong Kong
in connection with dividends paid by us.

Profits

No tax is imposed in Hong Kong in respect of capital gains from the sale of property, such as the shares
and ADSs. Trading gains from the sale of propecry by persons carrying on a trade, profession or business in
Hong Kong where such gains are derived from or arise in Hong Kong from such trade, profession or business
will be chargeable to Hong Kong profits tax which is currently imposed at the rate of 16% on corporations and
at a maximum rate of 15% on individuals. Gains from sales of the shares effected on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange will be considered to be derived from or arise in Hong Kong. Liability for Hong Kong profits tax
would thus arise in respect of trading gains from sales of shares or ADSs realized by persons carrying on a
business of trading or dealing in securities in Hong Kong.

Stamp Duty

Hong Kong stamp duty, currently charged at the rate of HK$].125 per HK$1,000 or part thereof on the
higher of the consideration for or the value of the shares, will be payable by the purchaser on every purchase
and by the seller on every sale of shares. For example, a total of HK$2.25 per HK$1,000 or part thereof is
currently payable on a typical sale and purchase transaction involving shares. In addition, a fixed duty of HK$5
is currently payable on any insuvment of mansfer of shares.

The withdrawal of shares upon the surrender of ADRs, and the issuance of ADRs upon the deposit of shares,
will also attract stamp duty at the rate described above for sale and purchase transactions unless such withdrawal
or deposit does not result in a change in the beneficial ownership of the shares under Hong Kong law. The
issuance of the ADRs upon the deposit of shares issued directly to The Bank of New York, as depositary of the
ADSs, or for the account of The Bank of New York does no: attract stamp duty. No Hong Kong stamp duty is
payable upon the transfer of ADSs outside Hong Kong.

Estate Duty

The shares are Hong Kong property under Hong Kong law, and accordingly such shares may be subject to
estate duty on the death of the beneficial owner of such shares, regardless of the place of the owner's residence,
citizenship or domicile. We cannot assure you that the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department will not treat the
ADSs as Hong Kong property that may be subject to estate duty on the death of the beneficial owner of the ADS
even if the ADRs evidencing such ADSs are located outside Hong Kong at the date of such death. Hong Kong
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estate duty is imposed on a progressive scale from 5% to 15%. The rate of and the threshold for estate duty has,
in the past, been adjusted on a fairly regular basis. No estate duty is payable when the aggregate value of the
dutiable estate does not exceed HK$7.5 million, and the maximum rate of duty of l5% applies whE:n the
aggregate value of the dutiable estate exceeds HK$10.5 million.

United States

United States Federal Income Taxation.

This section constitutes the opuuon of Sullivan &Cromwell, our U.S. counsel regarding the material tJnited
States federal income tax consequences of owning shares or ADSs. It applies to you only if you acquirf~ your
shares or ADSs in this offering and you hold your shares or ADSs as capital assets for tax purposes. This section
does not apply to you if you are a member of a special class of holders subject to special rules, including:

• a dealer in securities,

• a trader in securities that elects to use amark-to-market method of accounting for your sec ~rities
holrliags,

• atax-exempt organization,

• an insurance company,

• a person liable for alternative minimum tax,

• a person that actually or constructively owns 10% or more of our voting stock,

• a person that holds shares or ADSs that are a hedge or that are hedged against currency risks or ~.s part
of a straddle or a conversion transaction, or

~ a person whose functional curnency is not the U.S. dollar.

This section is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, its legislative history, existing and
proposed regulations, published rulings and court decisions, all as currently in effect These laws are subject to
change, possibly on a retroactive basis. In addition, this section is based in part upon the representations ~f the
Depositary and the assumption that each obligation in the deposit agreement and any related agreement ~~ill be
performed in accordance with its terms.

You are a U.S. holder if you are a beneficial owner of shares or ADSs and you are:

• a citizen or resident of the United States,

• a corporation organized under the laws of the United States or any States,

• an estate whose income is subject to United States federal income tax regardless of its source, or

• a trust if a United States court can exercise primary supervision over the trust's adminisuadon and one
or more United States persons are authorized to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

A non-U.S. holder is a beneficial owner of shares or ADSs [hat is not a United States person for United
Sta[es federal income tax purposes.

You should consult your own tax advisor regarding the United States federal, state and local tax
consequences of owning and disposing of shares and ADSs in your particular circumstances.

This discussion addresses only United States federal income taxation.

In general, and taking into account the earlier assumptions, for United States federal income tax pu~~oses,
if you hold ADRs evidencing ADSs, you will be treated as the owner of the shares represented by those ELDSs.
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Exchanges of shares for ADSs, and ADSs for shazes, generally will not be subject to United States federal
income tax.

Taxation of Dividends

U.S. Holders. Uader the United States federal income tax laws, and subject to the passive foreign
investment company, or PFIC, rules discussed below, if you are a U.S. holder, you must include in your gross
income the gross amount of any dividend paid by us out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as
deternvned for United States federal income tax purposes). The dividend is ordinary iacome that you must
include in income whey you, in the case of shares, or the Depositary, in the case of ADSs, receive the dividend,
actually or constructively. The dividend will not be eligible for the dividends -received deduction generally
allowed to United States corporations in respect of dividends received from other United States corporations.
The amount of the dividend disvibution that you must include in your income as a U.S. holder will be the U.S.
dollar value of the Hong Kong Dollar payments made, determined at the spot Hong Kong/U.S. dollar rate on the
date the dividend distribution is includible in your income, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted
into U.S. dollars. Generally, any gain or loss resulting from currency exchange Ructuations during the period
from the date you include the dividend payment in income to the date you convert the payment into U.S. dollars
will be treated as ordinary income or loss. The gain or loss generally will be income from sources within the
United States for foreign ta~c credit limitation purposes. Distributions in excess of current and accnmuIated
earnings and profits, as determined for United States federal income tax purposes, will be treated as a non-
taxable return of capital to the extent of your basis in the shares or ADSs and thereafter as capital gain.

Dividends will be income from sources outside the United States, but generally will be passive income or
financial services income, which is treated sepazately from other types of income for purposes of computing the
foreign tax credit allowable to you.

Non-L'.S. Holders. If you are anon-U.S. holder, dividends paid to you in respect of shares or ADSs will
not be subject to United States federal income tax unless the dividends are "effectively connected" with }'our
conduct of a trade or business within the United States, and the dividends are am-ibutable to a permanent
establishment that you maintain in the United States if that is required by an applicable income tax treaty as a
condition for subjecting you to United States taxation on a net income basis. In such cases you will be taxed in
the same manner as a U.S. holder. If you are a corporate non-U.S. holder, "effectively connected" dividends
may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30°!o rate or at a lower rate if
you aze eligible for the benefits of an income tax treaty that provides for a lower rate,

Tarauion of Capital Gains

(I.S. Holders. Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, if you are a U.S.
holder and you sell or otherwise dispose of your shares or ADSs, you will recognize capital gain or loss for
United States federal income tax purposes equal to tl~e difference between the U.S. dollar value of the amount
that you realize and your tax basis, determined in U.S, dollars, in your shares or ADSs. Capital gain of a
noncorporate U.S. holder is generally taxed at a maximum rate of 20% where the propert}r is held more than one
year. The gain or loss wilt generally be income or loss from sources within the United States for foreign tax
credit limitation purposes. Your ability to deduct capital losses is subject to limitations. Any Hong Kong stamp
duty that you pay will not be a creditable tax for United States federal income tax purposes, buy you may be able
co deduct such stamp duty subject to ]imitations under the Cade.

Non-U,S. Holders. If you are anon-iJ.S. holder, you will not be subject to United States federal income
tax on gain recognized on the sale or other disQosition of your shames or ADSs unless:

• the gain is "effectively connected" with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States and
the dividends are attributable to a permanent establishment that you maintain in the United States if
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that is required by an applicable income tax treaty as a condition for subjecting you to United ;Mates
taxation on a net income basis, or

• you are an individual, you are present in the United States for 183 or more days in the taxable y~:az of
the sale and certain other conditions exist.

If you are a corporate non-U.S. holder, effectively connected gains that you recognize may also, under
certain circumstances, be subject to an addirional branch profits tax at a 30°lo rate or at a lower rate if you are
eligible for the benefits of an income tax treaty that provides for a lower rate.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules. We believe that we should not be treated as a passive foreign
investrnent company for United States federal income tax purposes, but this conclusion is a factual determination
that is made annually and thus may be subject to change.

In general, if you are a U.S. holder, we will be a passive foreign investment company with respect to ~~ou if
far any taxable year in which you held ow ADSs or shares:

• at least 75% of our gross income for the taxable year is passive income, or

• at least 50% of the value, deternuned on the basis of a quarterly average, of our assets is atvibutai•~le to
assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income.

Passive income generally includes dividends, interest, royalties, and rents, but not including certain rents
and royalties denied in the active conduct of a trade or business annuities, gains from asseu that produce p~~ssive
income. If a foreign corporation owns directly or indirectly at least 25% by value of the stock of another
corporation, the foreign corporation is treated for purposes of the passive foreign invesunent company [e its as
owning its proportionate share of the assets of the other corporation, and as receiving directly its proportionate
share of the other corporation's income.

If we are treated as a passive foreign investment company, and you are a U.S. holder that does not make a
mark -to -market election, as described below, you will be subject to special rules with respect to:

• any gain you realize on the sale or other disposition of your shares or A.DSs and

• any excess distribution that we make to you. Generally, any distributions to you during a single taxable
year that are greater than 125°l0 of the average annual distributions received by you in respect of the
shares or AD3s during the t2uee preceding ta~cable years or, if shorter, your holding period for the
shares or ADSs.

Under these rules:

• the gain or excess distribution will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the shares or
ADSs,

• the amount allocated to the taxable year in which yov realized the gain or excess distribution will be
taxed as ordinary income,

~ the amount allocated to each prior year, with certain exceptions, will be taxed at the highest tax rite in
effect for that year, and

• the interest charge generally applicable to underpaymenu of tax will be imposed in respect of the tax
attributable to each such yeaz.

Special rules apply for calculating the amount of the foreign tax credit with respect to excess distributions
by a passive foreign investment company.

If you own shares or ADSs in a passive foreign investment company that are treated as marketable ~.tock,
you may make amark-to- market election. If you make this election, you will not be subject co the passive
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foreign investrnent company rules described above. Instead, in general, you will include as ordinary income each
year the excess, if any, of the fair market value of your shares or ADSs at the end of the taxable year over your
adjusted basis in your shares or ADSs. You will also be allowed to take an ordinary loss in respect of the excess,
if any, of the adjusted basis of your shares or ADSs over their fair market value at the end of the taxable year
(but only to the extent of the net amount of previously included income as a result of the mark -to -market
election). Your basis in the shares or ADSs will be adjusted to reflect any such income or loss amounts. Your
gain, if any, recognized upon the sale of your shares or A.DSs will be taxed as ordinary income.

If you owa shares or ADSs during any year that we are a passive foreign invesunent company, you must
file Internal Revenue Service Form 8621.

Backup Withholding and In, forniatiort Reporting.

In general, dividend payments, or other taxable distributions, made within the United States to you will be
subject to information reporting requirements and backup withholding tax at the rate of 31 °lo if you area non-
corporate United States person and you:

• fail to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number,

~ are notified by the Iatemal Revenue Service that you have failed to report all interest or dividends
required to be shown on your federal income tax retains, or

• in certain circumstances, fail to comply with applicable certification requirements.

Persons that are not United States persons may be required to establish their exemption from information
reporting and backup withholding by certifying their status on Internal Revenue Service Forms W-8.

If you sell your shares or ADSs to or through a United States office of a broker, the payment of the proceeds
is subject to both United States backup withholding and information reporting unless you certify that you are a
non-U.S. person, under penalties of perjury, or you otherwise establish an exemption. If you self your shares or
ADSs outside the United States through gran-U.S. office of a non-U.S. broker, and the sales proceeds are paid
to you outside the United States, then United States backup withholding and information reporting requirements
generally will not apply to that payment However, United States information reporting, but not backup
withholding, will apply to a payment of sales proceeds, even if that payment is made outside the United States,
if you sell your shares or ADSs through anon-U.S. office of a broker that:

• is a United States person,

• derives 50% or more of its gross income for a specified three-year period from the conduce of a trade
or business in the United States,

• is a controlled foreign corporation as to the United States, or

• with respect to payments made after December 31, 2000, is a foreign partnership, if at any time during
its tax year,

• one or more of its partners are U.S. persons, as defined in U.S. Treasury regulations, who in the
aggregate hold more than 50%a of the income or capital interest in the partnership, or

• at any dme during its tax yeaz the foreign patmership is engaged in a United States trade or business,
unless the broker has documentary evidence in its records that you are anon-United States person and
does not have actual knowledge that you are a U.S. person or you otherwise establish an exemption.

You generally may obtain a refund of any amounu withheld under the backup withholding rules that exceed
your income tax liability by filing a refund claim with the United States Internal Revenue Service.
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UNDERWRITERS

Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in an underwriting agreement dated the date of this
prospectus, the U.S. underwriters named below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and China
International Capital Corporation Limited are acting as U.S. representatives; the European underwriters named
below for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited and China International Capital Corporation Limited
a~ acting as European representatives; and the Asia underwriters for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. Intemz clonal
Limited and China International Capital Corporation Limited are acting as Asia representatives, have severally
agreed to purchase, and we have agreed to sell to them, severally, the number of ADSs indicated below:

Name Number of ADSs
U.S. underwriters:

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated ............................................... 23.605.190
China International Capital Corporation Limited ...................................... 23,609.190
Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation ............................................. 7,082,757
Lehman Brothers Inc. .... .... . ....... ..........:................. . ...... 7,082,757
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &Smith Incorporated ................................... 7,082,757
Roben W. Baird & Co.Inc . ..................................................... 93G~,059
Bear. Steams & Co.Inc . ....................................................... 936,059
BriIlSecurities,Inc .. ....................................................... 93C.059
A. G. Edwards &Sons. InC ...................................................... 93C.059
First Union Securities. Inc . ..................................................... 93C,059
Edward D. Jones & Co., L.P . .................................................... 930,059
McDonald Investments Inc . ..................................................... 930,059
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc ............................................ . .......... 93x,059
PaineWebber Incorporated ........................................... . .......... 930,059
Raymond James &Associates Inc ................................................. 930,059
Salomon Smith Barney Inc . .....................................................  930.059

Subtotat ................................................................ 78.697,300

European underwriters:
Morgan Stanley & Co. Intemationa] Limited ......................................... 20,236,411
China International Capital Corporation Limited ...................................... 20.236,410
80CIAsia Limited ......... ................................................. 5.396,376
Deuuche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch ............................................ 5.396,376
WG Barings Asia Limited ...................................................... 5,396.376
J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd ....................................................... 5.396.376
ABN AMRO Rothschild ........................................................ 1.079,275
CLSA Limited ... ........................................................... 1,079,275
Indosuez W.I. Carr Securities Limited ....... . ...................................... 1.079,275
Jardine Fleming Securities Limited ................................................ 1,079.275
SG Securities (I-~C) Limited ..................................................... 1,079.275

Subtotal ................................................................ 67,454,700

Asia underwriters:
Morgan Stanley & Co. Inumational Limited ......................................... 30,241,611
China In~emaaonal Capital Corporation Limited ...................................... 30,241.612
ABN AMRO Rothschild ........................................................ 5,396,376
CLSALimited ............................................................... 5,396,376
DBS Asia Capital Limited ... ............................................... 5,396.376
Jardine Fleming Securities Limited ................................ . . .............. 5,396.376
BOCI Asia Limited ........................................................... 599,597
China Construction Bank, Hong Kong Branch ........................................ 599,597
Cow Pacific-Yamaichi International (H.K.) Ltd ........................................ 599,597
Daiwa Securities SB Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited ............................... 599,597
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch ............................................ 599,597
HSBC Investment Bank Asia Limited ....................................... s ...... 599,597
ICEA Capital Limited ......................................................... 599.597
Merril] Lynch Fu Fast Limited ................................................... 599,597
Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited ......................... . ............... 599,597

Subtotal ................................................................  87,4b5 ,100 

"fotal ..............................................................  233.617 ,100
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The underwriters are offering the ADSs subject to their acceptance of the ADSs from us and subject to
prior sale. The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the severa3 underwriters to pay for and
accept delivery of the ADSs offered by this prospectus are subject to the approval of certain legal matters by
their counsel and to certain other conditions. The underwriters are obligated to take and pay for all of the ADSs
offered by this prospectus if any such ADSs are taken. However, the underwriters are not required to take or pay
for the ADSs covered by the underwriters' over -allotment option described below.

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Asia Limited and China International Capital Corporation Limited are acting
as joint global coordinators for this offering.

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Online Inc., an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, may act as a
selected dealer in connection with the offering to facilitate Internet distribution.

We have also entered into an underwriting agreement with the Hong Kong underwriters, for whom Morgan
Stanley Dean Witter Asia Limited and China International Capital Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited are acting as
representatives, providing for the underwriting of the concurrent offer of 122,956,000 shares in an offering for
subscription in Hong Kong. The shares being offered in the Hong Kong public offering will be initially offered
at a price to be determined following the commencement of the Hong Kong public offering. If the initial public
offering price per ADS in the U.S. offering, the European offering and the Asia offering is less than the
equivalent initial public offering price per shaz~e in the Hong Kong public offering, the purchasers of shares in
the Hong Kong public offering will receive a refund such that their effective price per share (including a I.0%
brokerage fee and a .010% transaction levy payable in respect of offerings of securities listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange) will be effectively equivalent to the price per ADS in the U.S. offering, the European offering
and the Asia offering. The Hong Kong public offering is conditional upon, among other things, the Listing
Committee of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange granting the listing of and permission to deal in the shares offered
in the global offering.

In the intersyndicate agreement among U.S., European, Asia and Hong Kong underwriters, sales may be
made among the U.S. underwriters, European underwriters, Asia underwriters and Hong Kong underwriters of
any number of ADSs or shares as may be mutually agreed. The price of any ADSs sold by the underwriters shall
be the public offering price listed on the cover page of this prospectus, in United States dollars, less an amount
not greater than the amount of the concession to dealers described below.

The underwriters initially propose to offer part of the ADSs directly to the public in the United States at the
public offering price listed on the cover page of this prospectus and part of the ADSs to certain dealers at a price
that represenu a concession not in excess of $.36 an ADS under the public offering price. Any underwriter may
allow, and such dealers may reallow, a concession not in excess of $.10 an ADS to other underwriters or to
certain dealers. After the initial offering of the ADSs, the offering price and other selling terms may from time
to time be varied by the representatives. Shares may be delivered instead of ADSs at the op~ion of purchasers in
the U.S. offering, the European offering and the Asia offering and initial purchases of shares will settle in Hong
Kong dollars.

The offering price and aggregate underwriting discount and commissions per ADS for each of the U.S.
offering, the European offering and the Asia offering are the same, except that the aggregate underwriting
discounts and commissions per ADS to be sold to the strategic investor as part of the Asia offering sha11 be the
lesser amount indicated on the cover page of this prospectus. The offering price (when increased by a 1.0%
brokerage fee and a .O10% Hong Kong Stock Exchange transaction levy) in the Hong Kong public offering is
effectively equivalent to the initial public offering price per ADS in the U.S., European and Asian offerings,
based on an exchange rate of HK$7.7940 ~ US$1.00 and adjusted for the ratio of 10 shares per ADS. The
aggregate underwriting discount and commissions in the Hong Kong public offering is not the same as in the
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U.S., European and Asian offerings. The number of ADSs or shares allocated.to each offering may diff:r from
the amount offered due to reallocation among the U.S. offering, the European offering, the Asia offering and the
Hong Kong public offering. The closing .of each of the offerings is conditioned upon [he closing of the others.
The Hong Kong public offering is expected to become unconditional at 6:00 a.m. Hong Kong time on the date
that dealings commence on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

The U.S. underwriters, European underwriters, Asia underwriters and Hong Kong underwriters have agreed
that, at the sole direction of the joint global coordinators, if the number of shares validly applied for in thy; Hong
Kong public offering exceeds:

• 1,844,340,000 shares, being 15 times the number of shares initially available in such offering,

~ 6,147,800,000 shares, being 50 times the number of shares initially available in such offering, or

• 12,295,600,000 shares, being 100 times the number of shares initially available in such offering;,

then an additional 61,478,525 shares, 184,434,875 shazes and 368,869,400 shares, respectively, will be al':~.ocated
to the Hong Kong public offering such that the additional shazes, when aggregated with the shazes i:litially
available in such offering, will represent 7.S~lo in the case of the first bullet point above, 12.5% in the case of the
second bullet point above and 20.0°lo in the case of the third bullet point above, respectively, of the total number
of shares initially available under the global offering, excluding shares which may be issued under the
underwriters' over -allotment option. In such case, the number of ADSs allocated to the U.S. offeruig, the
European offering and the Asia offering will be correspondingly reduced, in such manner as the joint global
coordinators deem appropriate. Any unsold shares in the Hong Kong public offering may be reallocated to the
U.S. offering, the European offering or the Asia offering. The joint global coordinators shall also have dis~:retion
to reallocate additional shares to the Hong Kong public offering from the U.S., European and Asian offerings.

We have granted to the U.S. underwriters, European underwriters and Asia underwriters an ~~ption;
exercisable at the discretion of the joint global coordinators, at any time during the 30 day period from t}~~e date
of this prospectus, co purchase up to an aggregate of 36,886,905 additional ADSs at the public offering price set
forth on the cover page of this prospecws, less underwriting discounu and commissions. The joint global
coordinators, on behalf of the underwriters, may exe~ise this option solely for the purpose of covering
overallotmenu, if any, made in connection with the offering of the ADSs. To the extent the option is exe ~cised,
each underwriter will become obligated, subject to certain conditions, to purchase the same percentage of the
additional A.DSs as the number listed next to the underwriter's name in the preceding table bears to thy: total
number of ADSs listed next to the names of ail underwriters in the preceding table. Shares may be delivered in
place of additional ADSs at the option of the underwriters. If the underwriters' options are exercised in fi~.11, the
total price to the public would be US$5,407,375,060, the total underwriters' discounts and commissions would
be US$143,374,395 and total proceeds, before expenses, to us would be US$5,264,000,665.

The underwriters have informed us that they do not intend sales to discretionary accounts to exceed five
percent of the total number of ADSs and shares offered by them.

Subject to notice of issuance, the New York Stock Exchange has approved the ADSs for listing under the
symbol "CHU". To meet NYSE distribution standards for the U.S. offering, the underwriters have unde.-taken
to disvibute the ADRs in a manner so as to:

~ create a minimum of 2,000 round lou of ADSs, and

• offer a minimum public float of 1.1 million ADSs in the United States with an offering value in excess
of US$60 million.

Approval in principle has been granted for the listing of and permission to deal in shares on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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Each of China Unicorn (BVI) Limited and us has agreed that, without the prior written consent of the joint
global coordinators on behalf of the underwriters, it will not, during the period ending 180 days after the date of
this prospectus:

• offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or
contract to sell, grant or agree to grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend or otherwise
transfer or dispose of directly or indirectly, any ADSs, shares or any securities convenable into or
exercisable or exchangeable for A.DSs or shares, or

• enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the
economic consequences of ownerskup of the ADSs or shares,

whether any ~ansaction described above is to be settled by delivery of ADSs, shares or such other securities, in
cash or otherwise.

In addition, Hutchison Whampoa Limited has agreed that, without the prior written consent of the joint
global coordinators on behalf of the underwriters and our consent, it will not, during the period ending six months
after the date of commencement of trading of the shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, directly or
indirectly, offer, sell or otherwise dispose of any shazes.

The restrictions described in this pazagraph do not apply to:

• the sale of ADSs or shares to the undenvntets and the Hong Kong underwriters,

• the issuance by us of ADSs or shares upon the exercise of an option or a warrant or the conversion of
a security ouutanding on the date of this prospectus of which the underwriters have been advised in
writing, or

• transactions by any person other than us relating to ADSs, shares or other securities acc?uired in open
market transactions after the completion of the offering of the ADSs and shares.

In order to facilitate the offering of the ADSs and the shares, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited, or their affiliates, on behalf of the underwriters, may engage in
transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of ADSs or shares. Specifically, the underwriters
may over -allot in connection with the offering, creating a short position in the ADSs or shares for their own
account. In addition, to cover over-allotrnents or to stabilize the price of the ADSs or shares, the underwriters
may bid for, and purchase, ADSs or shares in the open market Finally, the underwriting syndicate may reclaim
selling concessions allowed to an underwriter or a dealer for distributing the ADSs or shares in the offering, if
the syndicate repurchases previously distributed ADSs or shares in transactions to cover syndicate short
positions, in stabilization transactions or otf~erwise. The underwriters have reserved the right to reclaim selling
concessions in order to encourage underwriters and dealers to distribute the ADSs and sharEs for investment,
rather than short-term profit taking. Increasing the proportion of the offering held for investment may reduce the
supply of ADSs or shares available for short-term trading. Any of these activities may stabilize or maintain the
market price of the ADSs or shares above independent market levels. The underwriters are not required to engage
in these activities, and may end any of these activities at any time.

We and the underwriters have agreed to indemnify each other against certain liabilities, including liabilities
under the Securities Act.

In connection with this global offering, we have agreed to pay the joint global coordinators a financial
advisory fee of US$8 million for financial advisory services rendered in connection with our reswctunng and
US$800,000 as partial reimbursement of certain expenses of the underwriters relating to the offering.
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China International Capital Corporation Limited is not a U.S. registered broker -dealer and, therefore, intends
to effect any sales in the United States of ADSs and shares through one or more U.S. registered broker-d~:alers.

Some of the underwriters have in the past provided, and may in the future provide, investment banking and
underwriter services to us and our affiliates for which they have received customary compensation.

Selling Restrictions

Under the intersyndicate agreement, each U.S. underwriter has represented and agreed that, with certain
exceptions:

• it is not purchasing any ADSs for the account of anyone other than a United States or Canadian Person
(as defined below), and

• it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any ADSs or distribute any
prospectus relating to the ADSs outside the United States or Canada or to anyone other than a United
States or Canadian Person.

Under the intersyndicate agreement, each European underwriter has represented and agreed than, with
certain exceptions:

~ it is not purchasing any ADSs for the account of anyone other than a European Person (as defined
below), and

• it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any ADSs or distribute any
prospectus relating to the ADSs except in countries outside Europe or [o anyone other than a Eu~~opean
Person.

Under the intersyndicate agreement, each Asia underwriter has represented and agreed that, with certain
exceptions:

• it is not purchasing any ADSs for the account of any United States, Canadian or European Person, and

~ it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any ADSs or distribute any
prospectus relating co the ADSs in the United States, Canada or Europe or to any United :hates,
Canadian ar European Person.

With respect to any underwriter that is simultaneously a U.S. underwriter, a European underwriter ant/or an
Asia underwriter, the foregoing representations and agreemenu:

• made by it in its capacity as a U.S. underwriter apply only to it in its capacity as a U.S. underwriter,

• made by it in iLs capacity as a European underwriter apply only to it in its capacity as a European
underwriter, and

• made by it in its capacity as an Asia underwriter apply only to it in is capacity as an Asia underHriter.

The foregoing limitations do not apply to stabilization transactions or to certain other transactions specified
in the in[ersyndicate agreement.

United States or Canadian Person means any national or resident of the United States or Canada, <~r any
corporation, person, profit-sharing or other trust or other entity organized under the laws of the United States
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or Canada or of any poiiticai subdivision thereof but not including a branch located outside the United States
and Canada of any United States or Canadian Person, and includes any United States or Canadian branch of a
person who is otherwise not a United States or Canadian Person. European Person means any national or
resident of any member state of the European Union, Norway or Switzerland, or any corporation, pension,
profit-sharing or other trust or other entity organized under the laws of any member state of the European
Union, Norway or Switzerland or of any political subdivision thereof but not including a branch located
outside Europe of any European Person, and includes any European branch of a person who is otherwise not a
European Person.

Under the intersyndicate agreement, each U.S. underwriter has represented and agreed that:

~ Canada. it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any ADSs, directly or indirectly, in any
province or territory of Canada or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of any province or territory of
Canada in contravention of the securities laws thereof and has represented that any offer or sale of
ADSs in Canada will be made only pursuant to an exemption from the requirement to file a prospectus
in the province or territory of Canada in which such offer or sale is made, and

• it will send to any dealer who purchases from it any of the ADSs a notice stating in substance chat,
by purchasing such ADSs, such dealer represents and agrees that it has not offered or sold, and will
not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any of such ADSs in any province or territory of Canada or
to, or for the benefit of, any resident of any province or territory of Canada in contravention of the
securities laws thereof and that any offer or sale of ADSs in Canada will be made only pursuant to
an exemption from the requirement to file a prospectus in the province or territory of Canada in
which such offer or sale is made, and that such dealer will deliver to any other dealer to whom it
sells any of such ADSs a notice containing substantially the same statement as is contained in this
sentence.

Under the intersyndicate agreement, each European underwater has represented and agreed that:

• Denmark. it has not offered or sold and will not offer, sell or deliver any ADSs directly or indirectly in
Denmazk except in accordance with the provisions in Chapter 12 of the Danish Act on Trading in
Securities and Executive Order No. 229 of 20 Apri] 1998;

• France. neither this prospectus nor any offering material relating to the shares or ADSs has been or
will be submitted to the Commission des Operations de Bourse for approval in France, and

• it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any shares or ADSs or dis~ibute or caused to be
distributed any copies of this prospectus or any offeruig material relating to the shares or ADSs,
directly or indirectly, in France, except

with the prior authorization of the French Ministry for Economy and Finance in accordance with
Articles 9 and 10 of the Decret of 29th December, 1989 regulating financial relations between
France and foreign couna -ies, and

— to qualified investors or to a restricted group of investors, consisting of either a group of no more
than 100 persons or a group of persons, other than qualified investors, having professional or
family ]inks with the management of Unicorn, all as defined in Articles 6 and 7 of Ordonnance n°
b7-833 dated September 28, 1967 (as amended) and in Decret n° 98-880 dated October 1, 1998,

in each case acting for their own account;

• Germany. this prospectus is not a Securities Selling Prospectus within the meaning of the German
Securities Prospectus Act of December 13, 1990 and has not been filed with and approved by the
Federal Supervisory Authority, and

• it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any ADSs or distribute copies of this prospectus or
any document relating to the ADSs directly or indirectly in Germany except to persons falling within
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the scope of paragraph 2 numbers 1, 2 and 3 of the German Securities Prospectus Act of Decemt~er 13,
1990;

• Italy. it has not offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or deliver, any ADSs or distribute
copies of this prospectus or any other document relating to the ADSs in Italy except to Professional
investors, as defined by CONSOB, the local stock market regulator in Italy, in compliance with the
terms and procedures provided by Legislative Decree no. 58 of February 24, 1998, or the Finance: Law,
or in any other circumstance where an express exemption to comply with the solicitation restrictions
provided by the Finance Law or CONSOB Regulation no. 11971 of May 14, 1999, or the Issuers
Regulation applies, including those provided for under Art. 100 of the Finance Law and Art. 33 of the
Issuers Regulation, and

• any such offer, sale or delivery of the ADSs or distribution of copies of this prospectus or any other
document relating to the ADSs must be made

— by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries authorized to carry out such activi~ies in
Italy in accordance with the Finance Law, Legislative Decree no. 385 of September 1, 19'3, or
the Banking Law, CONSOB Regulation no. 11522 of July 1, 1998 and any other applicable laws
and regulations,

— in compliance with Art. 129 of the Banking Law, as supplemented by Bank of Italy's instructions,
under which the issue or placement of securities in Italy is subject to a prior notification, sinless
an exemption, depending, among others on the amount of the issue or placement applies, and

— in compliance with any other applicable notification requirement or limitation which may, from
time to time, be imposed by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy;

• Netherlands. it has not offered, distributed, sold, transferred or delivered, and will not offer, distribute,
sell, transfer or deliver any ADSs, directly or indirectly, in the Netherlands, to any person other than
employees of Unicorn and/or its subsidiaries, and individuals who or legal entitles which trade or invest
in securities in the conduct of their profession or business within the meaning of article 2 cif the
Exemption Regulation issued pursuant to the Securities Transactions Supervision Act 1995, which
includes banks, brokers, pension funds, insurance companies, securities institutions, roves ~ment
institutions and other institutional investors, including, among others, treasuries of large enterprises,
who or which regularly trade or invest in securities in a professional capacity;

• Norway. this prospectus has not been approved by or registered with the Oslo Stock Exchange , ender
Chapter 5 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act 1997, and

• it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any ADSs to any persons in Norway in any wa:~ that
would constitute an offer to the public other than to persons who invest in securities as part of their
professional activity and who are registered with the Oslo Stock Exchange in this capacity, or oche wise
only in circumstances where an exemption from the duty to publish a prospectus under the Norw,:gian
Securities Trading Act shall be applicable;

• Sweden. this prospectus has not been registered or approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory
Authority, and

• it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any ADSs to persons in Sweden except to a "c iosed
circle" of not more than 200 pre -selected, non-substitutable investors, under [he Swedish Financial
Instruments Trading Act;

• United Kingdom. it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any ADSs to persons in the United
Kingdom except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managi:~g or
disposing of investments, as principal or agent, for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in
circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United
Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securiries Regulations 1995 or the Financial
Services Act 1986,
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• it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services Act with
respect to anything done by it in relation to the ADSs in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom, and

• it has not issued or passed on and will only issue or pass on in the United Kingdom any document
received by it in connection with the issuance of the ADSs to a person who is of a kind described in
Article 11(3) of the Financial Services Act 1986 (Investment Advertisements) (Exemptions) Order
1996 or is a person to whom such document may otherwise lawfully be issued or passed on.

Under the intersyndicate agreement, each Asia underwriter has represented and agreed that;

• Australia. it has not directly or indirectly offered for subscription or purchase or issaed invitations to
subscribe for or buy nor has it sold,

• it will not directly or indirectly offer for subscription or purchase or issue invitations to subscribe for
or buy nor will it sell,

• it has not distributed and will not distribute aay draft or definitive offering memorandum, advertisement
or other offering material relating to, any ADSs in the Commonwealth of Australia, its territories and
possessions or to any resident of Australia except pursuant to an exemption from the requirement to
lodge a prospectus with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission and otherwise in
compliance with all applicable laws, and

• it shall send any dealer who purchases from it any ADSs a notice stating in substance that, by
purchasing the ADSs, such dealer represenu and agrees in the same terms as the foregoing clause, and
that such dealer will send to any other dealer to whom it sells any ADSs a notice in the same terms;

• HoRg Kong, it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any
document, any ADSs other than to persons whose ordinary business it is to buy or sell shares or
debentures, whether as principal or agent, or in circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the
public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap 32) of Hong Kong, and

• except as permitted under the securities laws of Hong Kong, it has not issued and will not issue in
Hong Kong any document, invitation or advertisement relating to the ADSs other than with respect to
ADSs which are intended to be disposed of to persons outride Hong Kong or oNy to persons whose
business involves the acquisition, disposal or holding of securities, whether as principal or agent;

• Japan. it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any shares or ADSs in
Japan or to or for the account of any resident of Japan, except pursuant to any exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan'and otherwise in compliance
with applicable provisions of Japanese law and with the prior written approval of the joint global
coordinators,

• ~ it has not offered or sold any of the securities in the distribution contemplated hereby in any form other
than shares, and

• it will send any dealer who purchases from it any of the shares or ADSs a notice stating in substance
that, by purchasing such shares or ADSs, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to or for [he account of any
resident thereof except pursuant to any exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Law and otherwise in compliance with applicable provisions of Japanese law, and that
such dealer will send to any other dealer to whom it sells any of such shares or ADSs a notice to the
foregoing effect;

• Korea, it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, in Korea or to or for
the account of any resident thereof, any of the ADS acquired in connection with the dis~ibution
contemplated hereby, except
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— pursuant to any exemption from the registration requirements of the Korean 5ecuriGies and
Exchange Law,

— if it is not licensed to conduct securities business in Korea, through a duly licensed securipes
company in Korea, and

— in compliance with applicable provisions of Korean law, including, without limitation, the ]~oreign
Exchange Transaction Law and Regulations;

• New Zealand. at the time any ADS is issued, it will not have offered for subscription any ADS, or
distributed any advertisement in relation to any ADS, to the public in New Zealand and will not acquire
any ADS with a view to selling it to the public in New Zealand, nor will it sell or offer for stile any
ADS to the public in New Zealand within six months after the issue of such ADS, all such conduct to
be interpreted in accordance with the Securities Act 1978, and may therefore enter into such conduct
only with

— persons whose principal business is the investment of money or who, in the course of and for the
purposes of their business habitually invest money,

— close business associates of Unicorn, and

— any other person who in all the circumstances can properly be regazded as having been s~:lected
otherwise than as a member of the public in New Zealand within the meaning of the Securieies
Act 1978;

• Singapore. it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any ADSs or circulate or distribc.te any
document or other ma[erial relating to the ADSs, either directly or indirectly to the public or any
member of the public in Singapore other than:

— to an institutional investor or other person specified in Section 106C of the Companies Ac[.
Chapter 50 of Singapore,

— to a sophisticated investor, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 106D of the
Singapore Companies Act,

— otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other provision ~f the
Singapore Companies Act, and

— in each case subject to compliance with conditions set forth in the Singapore Companies Ac:r and

~ II.A.E. it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any ADSs in the
United Arab Emirates, except

— in compliance with al] applicable laws and regulations of the United Arab Emirates, and

— through persons or corporate entities authorized and licensed to trade in securities in the tlnited
Arab Emirates.

Pricing of the Offering

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for the ADSs or shares. The initial public offering
price was determined by negotiations between us and the representatives of the underwriters. Among the factors
considered in determining the initial public offering price are our future prospects and our industry in general,
our sales, earnings, and certain other financial operating information in recent periods, and the price -earnings
ratios, price -sales ratios, market prices of securities and certain financial and operating information of com~~anies
engaged in activities similar to ours.
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VALIDITY OF THE ADSs

The validity of the ADSs under New York law will be passed upon for us by Sullivan &Cromwell and for
the underwriters by Davis Pollc &Wardwell. The validity of the shares under Hong Kong law will be passed
upon for us by Freshfields. Certain legal matters as to Hong Kong law will be passed upon for the underwriters
by Slaughter and May. Certain legal matters as to Chinese law will be passed upon for us by Haiwen &Partners
and for the underwriters by Commerce &Finance Law Office.

EXPERTS

We have included our financial statements as of December 31, 1998 and 1999, and for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 1999, which have been audited by Arthur Andersen & Co.,
independent public accountanu, as indicated in their report with respect thereto, and are included herein in
reliance upon the authority of Arthur Andersen & Co. as experts in giving such reports.

In connection with our reswcturing, Sallmanns (Faz East) Limited, an independent valuer, has valued our
property interesu in our buildings and real properties as of March 31, 2000.

Each of Arthur Andersen & Co. and Sallmanns (Far East) Limited has given and has not withdrawn its
respective written consent to the issue of this prospectus with inclusion of its reports and the reference to its
name in the form and context in which they are respectively included.

WHERE YOU CAN FINll MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form F-1 under
the Securities Act, with respect to the shares, and a registration statement on Form F-6 under the Securities Act
with respect to the ADSs. This prospectus does not contain all of the information in the registration statements
and their exhibiu. We have omitted certain portions of the registration statement from this prospectus in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

As a result of the global offering, we will become subject to the periodic reporting and other informational
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, applicable to a foreign
private issuer. In accordance with these requirements, we will file reports and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt under the Exchange Act from,
among other things, the rules prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements and annual reports to
shareholders and requiring reporting of insider piuchases and sales.

We will furnish to the ADS depositary annual reports in English. Our annual reports will include a review
of operations and annual audited financial statements prepared in conformity with International Accounting
Standards, together with a reconciliation of US GAAP of certain financial information. We will also furnish the
depositary with semi-annual reports in English which will include unaudited interim financial information
prepared in conformity with International Accounting Standards. Once the depositary receives this information
and reports, it will promptly mail such reports to all holders of record of ADRs. ~Ve also will furnish to the
depositary in English all notices of shareholders' meetings and other reports and communications that are made
generally available to our shareholders. The depositary will make such notices, reports and communications
available to holders of ADRs and will mail to al] record holders of ADRs the information contained in ar~y notice
of a shareholders' meeting received by the depositary.

For further information with respect to us and the shares and ADSs being offered hereby, please refer to the
registration statemenu, including their exhibits. You can inspect and copy the registration statements and their
exhibits as well as other reports and information at the public reference facilities maintained by the Securities
and Exchange Commission at Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifrh Smeet, N.W., Room 1024, Washing[oa, D.C. 20549; and
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at the regional offices of the Securities and Exchange Commission at Seven World Trade Center, 13th Floor,
New York, New York 10048; and at Citicorp Center, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1400, Chicago, Illinois
60661. You can obtain copies of these materials from the Public Reference Section of the Securitif:s and
Exchange Commission, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 at prescribed rates. The telephone
number of the Securities and Exchange Commission is 1-800 -SEC-0330. You may also inspect these reports and
other infonr€ation at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, 11 Wall Street, New York, New York10005,
Our principal executive office is located at ]0-1?lF Office Tower 1, Henderson Center, 18 Jian Guo Mf:n Nei
Avenue, Beijing, China and our telephone number is (8610) 6518-1800.

ENFORCEABII,ITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a company organized under the laws of Hong Kong, and substantially all of our assets are l~xated
outside the United States. We have appointed CT Corporation System, 1111 Eighth Avenue, New York. New
York 10019, our agent to receive service of process with respect to any action brought against us in the 1Jnited
States District Court for the Southern District of New York under the secunues laws of the United Stacey or of
any State of the United States, or any action brought against us in the Supreme Court of the State of New York
in the County of New York under the securities laws of the State of New York. However, it may be difficult for
investors to enforce outside the United States judgments against us obtained in [he United States in an~~ such
actions, including actions predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the 1Jnited
States or of the securities laws of any State of the United States. In addition, other than Craig O. McCaw, all of
our directors and officers and certain of the experts named herein are resident outside the United States, end all
or a substantial portion of the assets of such persons are or may be located outride the United States. As a result,
it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon such persons, or to
enforce against them or us judgments obtained in United States courts, including judgments predicated up~~n the
civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or of the securities laws of any State
of the United States. We have been advised by our Hong Kong counsel, Freshfields, and our Chinese counsel,
Haiwen &Partners, that in the opinion of such counsel there is doubt as to the enforceability in Hong Kong and
China, in original actions or in actions for enforcement of judgments of United States courts, of civil liat~ilides
predicated solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States or the securities laws of any State of the
United States.

In making an investment decision relating to our shares or ADSs, you should rely only on the inforn~auon
contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information different fm~n that
contained in this prospectus. We are offering to se11 shares or ADSs and seeking offers to buy shares or ADSs
only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contained in tivs prospectus is
accurate only as of the date this prospectus, regazdless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of
shares or ADSs.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To China Unicorn Limited,

We have audited the accompanying balance sheen of China Unicorn Limited (established in the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China) and its subsidiaries ("Unicorn") .as of
December 31, 1998 and 1999, and the related statemenu of income, owner's equity and cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, expressed in Chinese Renminbi. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the management of Unicorn. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fin~~.ncial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audio in accordance with the auditing standards established by the Hong Kong Sccieey
of Accountants which are substantially similar to generally accepted auditing standards in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance ~ibout
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statemenu. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the o~~erall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Unicorn as of December 31, 1998 and 1999, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 aad 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accf~pted
in Hong Kong ("HK GAAP").

Certain accounting principles used by linicom in preparing the accompanying financial statements conform
with generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong, but do not conform with the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. A description of the significant differences between those
two generally accepted accounting principles and the effects of those differences on net income and ow;~ers'
equity is set forth in Note 31 to the financial statements.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN & CO.
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
May l2, 2000
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CHINA LJNICOM LIMITED AND IT5 SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999

Year Ended December 31,

Revenue:
Cellular ................ . ........... .

Paging .............................
Long distance and data ................ .

Total services revenue ............. .

Sales of SIM cards, handsets,and pagers .... .

Total revenue .................... .

Operating expenses:
Leased lines ........................ .
Interconnection charges ................ .
Depreciation and amortization ........... .
Personnel ...........................
Selling and marketing ................. .
General, administrative and other expenses . .
Cost of SIIvi cards, handsets and pagers sold. .

Total operating expenses ........... .

Operating income ........................ .
Net financial charges ..................... .
Loss arising from terminations of CCP

arrangements ..........................
Other expenses, net ......... ........... .

Income before taxation and minority interests ... .
Taxation ................................

Income before minority interesu ............. .
Minority interests ........................ .

Net income .............................

Net income per share (Note 3(s)) (RMB} ....... .

Number of shares outstanding (in million) ...... .

Net income per ADS (Note 3(s)) (RMB) .. , .... .

Number of ADSs outstanding t~ ~iltion} ...... .

NWe9 1997 1998 1999 1999
RMB RMB RMB US$

(in thousands)

810,391 2,125,732
7,272,678 8,422,711

8,083,075 10,548,443

5,314,249 641,856
9,046,911 1,092.688

79,159 9,561

14,440,3 ] 9 1,744,105

5,290,523 3,480,2b5 3,009,688 363,511

4 13,373,598 14,028,708 17,450,007 2,107,616

1,083,551 1,301,648 1,099,251 l 32,768
] 12,120 260,0] 1 693,090 83,712

1,300,285 2,259,744 3,691,019 445,802
1,085,063 1,278,239 1,713,172 206,917

693,365 l ,041,849 1,557,259 l 88,086
1,708,617 2,355,650 2,586,402 3 ] 2,386
5,774,597 4,178,509 3,293,984 397,848

5 11,757.598 12,675,650 14,634,177 1,767,514

1,616,000 1,353,058 2,815,830 340,097
6 266,707 413,Q95 703,211 84,934

9 - - 224,270 27,087
7 28,564 64,808 129>343 15,623

1,320,729 875,155 I ,759,006 212,453
8 468,831 310,663 555,659 67, ] 13

851,898 564,492 1,203,347 145,340
251,949 191,507 364,200 43,988

599,949 372,985 839,147 101.352

0.06 0.04 0.09 0.01

9,725 9,725 9,725 9,725

0.62 0.38 0.86 0.]0

973 973 973 973

Translations of amounts from Renminbi into United States Dollars for the convenience of the reader have been made at the Noon Buying
Rate in New York for cable vansfers payable in foreign currencies as cerofied for cus~oms purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York on December 31, 1999 of US51.00-RMB8.2795. I3o representarion is made that the Renminbi amounts could have been or could be
converted into US5 at tbat rate on December 3l, 1999 or at any other particular rarc:
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CHINA LINICOM LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

BALA,'~TCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 1998 and 1999

As of December 31,

Notes 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB US$
(in thousands)

ASSETS
Current users

Cash and cash equivalents ........................................... 4,336,750 6,002,361 724,967
Shore-[erm bank deposi[s ............................................ — 208.500 25,183
Trading securities ................................................. 10 50,000 456,385 55,122
Accounts receivable ............................................... 11 638.808 895.501 178,159
Inventones ...................................................... 12 1.117,824 .734.406 88.702
Prepayments and other cwxent assets ................................... 13 545,853 803,982 97,105
Amoua[s due from China Telxom ..................................... 27(~ 2,148.097 1,276,095 154,127
Amounts due from relatrd pazties ..................................... 27(c) 66.451 105,815 12,781
Cwieni portion of deferred tax asseu ................................... 8 41,592 13,68 7 1,652

Total current assets .............................................. 8.945.375 10.496,732 1.2.57,798
Property, Plant and equipment .....................................~. , ... 14 19.853.030 33,226,608 G,O13.118
Goodwilt ......................................................... 15 405.896 359,845 43,462
Deferred expenditures ................................................ 16 443,857 683,242 32.521
Deferred tax assets .................................................. 8 366,302 485.833 18,679
Investment securities ................................................. 17 91,107 84.854 !0.249
Investment in associated companies ...................................... I8 50.5 70 28.9 51 3.497

Total assets ........................................................  30,156.137 45.366.065  5.4  ?9.32 4

LIABILTfIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Payables and accrued liabilities ....................................... 19 4,366.505 8,518,024 1,O:t8,809
Short-term bank loans .............................................. 24 420,410 1,673.564 2i)2.13a
Advances from customers ........................................... 2,342.680 2,647.646 3 ! 9,783
Taxes payable .................................................... 372,142 483.509 :;8.398
Current portion of long-term bank loans ................................. 21 78,266 20.232 2.444
Amounu due ta(from) Unicorn Group .................................. 27(d) (6,755) 505,367 111,038
Amounu due to C}ssna Telecom ....................................... 27(~ 2,051,416 1,553,320 1l~7.610
Amounts due to related parties ........................................ 27(c) 8.425 41,878 5,058
Loans from CCFjoint venw~es ....................................... 9 1,777.250 6,200,L02 718,850
Dividend payable ................................................. 153,158  200,909  ::4,266

Total current liabilities ............................................ 11,563,497 21,844,551 2,6:8.390
Long-[erm liabilities

Long -teen bank loans .............................................. 21 43,b90 1,732.240 209.220
Loans from Unicorn Group .............................:............ 27(b) 3,026,986 1 ,502,245 1,?.t~8,464
Loans from CCF joint venwres ....................................... 9 6,300,910 — —
Other long-term liabilities ........................................... 297,]49 218.401 :'6.379
Contingencies and commitmen[s ...................................... 25 — — —

Totalliabilities ..................................................  21,232.?32 34,297,43 7 4,1~'~2,453

Minority interests ...................................................  2,515.963 2,530,282  3(15.608

Owner's equity .................. . ..................................  6.407.922 8.538.345  I.O: ~ 1,263

Total liabilities and equity ............................................. 30,156,137 45,366,065 5,4;'9,324

Translations of amounts from Renminbi into United States Do11azs for the convenience of the reader have been made at she Noon Buying
Rate in New York for cable trmsfers payable in foreign currencies as certiSed for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank o:' New
York on December 31, ]999 of USS1.00—RMB8.2795. No representation is made that the Renminbi amounu could have been or could be
convened into USS at that rate on December 31, 1999 or at any other particular rate.
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CHII~iA UNICOM LIMITED A1V'D TTS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CASK FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999

Net cash inflows from operating activities .... .
Return on investments and servicing of finance

Interest received ..................... .
Interest paid ........................ .
Dividend received ................... .
Dividend paid co minority owners of

subsidiaries .......................
Distributioas to owners ................ .

Net cash outflows from return on investmenu and
servicing of finance .................... .

Taxation
PRC income tax paid ................. .

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment.. .
Acquisition of minority interests ....... , . .
Proceeds from disposals of minority

interests ......................... .
Purchase of investment in associated

companies ....................... .
Proceeds from disposals of associated

companies ........................
Increase in short-term bank deposits ..... .
Purchase of trading securities ........... .
Proceeds from disposal of trading

securities .........................
Purchase of investment securities ........ .
Proceeds from disposal of investment

securities .........................
Addition of deferred expenditures ........ .

Net cash outflows from investing activities ..... .

Year Ended December 31,

Notes 1997 1996 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMB US$
{in thousands)

(a) 2,152,491 5,400,401 6,855,710 828,034

78,511 70,907 105 ,S 95 12, 75 4
(130,289) {197,684) (852,114) (102,919)

6,578 11,101 6,202 749

(94,566) (115,487) (102,922) (12,431)
(412,509 ) (1,349,727 ) (963,241 ) (116,340 )

(552,275 ) (1,580,890 ) (1,86,480 ) (218,18'7 )

(550,120 ) (365,528 ) (538,285 ) (65,014 )

(4,598,125) (8,289,884) (12,696,729) (1,533,514)
- (1,701,159) (228,212) (27,SSI)

- 1,998,148 - -

(42,909) - - -

4,210 21,618 2,611
- - (208,500) (25,183}
- (50,000) (456,385) (55,122)

1,300 - 50,000 6,039
(20,555) (75,844) (4,321 j (522)

4b,453 16,545 7,184 868
(166,994 ) (304,411 ) (414,360 ) (50,047 )

(4,780,830 ) (8,402,395 ) (]3,929,605 ) (1,682,421 )
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CHINA iJ1vICOM LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999

Year Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999 fl! €99

RMB RMB RMB C'S$
(in thousands)

Financing activities
Capital contributions fmm owners ...... . ......... 684,962 2,208,919 2,254,518 272,301
Additional contributions from minority owners of

subsidiaries ............................... 119,249 542,111 — —
Proceeds of loans from CCF joint ventures .......... 3,153,994 1,973,695 302,674 3~i,557
Repayment of loans from CCF joint ventures ........ (56,144) (99,518) (2,361,693) (28:1,246)
Proceeds of loans from Unicorn Group ............. — 3,026,986 7,475,258 90:?,863
Increase in amounts due to Unicorn Group .......... — — 529,843 63,996
Proceeds from short-term and long-term bank loans ... 227,686 409,654 3,123,210 37'%,Z22
Repayment of short-term and long-term bank loans ....  (65,486 ) (273,877 ) (239,539 ) (23 ,932)

Net cash inflows from financing activities ..............  4,064,261 7,787,970 I ],084,271  1,33!3,761

Increase in cash and cash equivalents .................. 333,527 2,839,558 1,665,611 20:'.,173
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ..........  1,163,665 1,497,192 4,336,750  52:1,794

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ...............  1,497,192 4,336,750 6,002,361 72~t,967

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances ...........................  1,497,192 4,336,750 6,002,361 7211,967
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CHIl~1A UNICOM LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999

(a) The reconciliation of income before taxation and minority interests to net cash inflows from operating
activities is as foilows:

Year Ended December 31,

Income before taxation and minority interests ............ .
Depreciation and amortization .................... .
Interest income ................................
Interest expense .............................. .
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ..... .
Write-off and provision for doubtful debts ........... .
Dividend income from associated companies ......... .
Realized gain on trading securities ................. .
Unrealized gain on wading securities ............... .
Realized gain on investment securities .............. .
Provision for permanent diminution of investment ..... .
Gain on disposal of interests in subsidiaries .......... .
Loss arising from terminations of CCF arrangements ... .
Amomzation on ~+evenue from Internet protocol cazd

sales ......................................
Increase in accounts receivable ................... .
(Increase) decrease in inventories ................. .
Increase in prepayments and other current asseu ...... .
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from China

Telecom ...................................
Increase in amounts due from related companies ...... .
(Decrease) increase in payables and accrued liabilities .. .
Increase in tax payable ......................... .
Increase in advances from customers ............... .
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to China Telecom ... .
(Decrease) increase in amounts due w related parties ... .

Net cash inflows from operating activities ............... .

(b) Significant non-cash ~ansacuons:

1997 1998 1999 1999

RMB RMB RMB US$
(in thousands)

1,320,729 875,155 1,759,006 212,453
],300,285 2,259,144 3,691,019 445,802

(78,511) (70,907} (1 Q5,595) (l 2,754)
345,218 484,002 808,806 97,688

41,368 129,945 129,347 15,623
67,445 295,242 286,666 34,624
(6,578) (11,]01) (6,202) (749)
(5,218) (3,344) (3,387) (409)
- - (l ,35?) (164)

(5,735) (2,968) (11,274) (1,362)
- 10,000 15,858 1,915
- (98,732) - -
- - 224,270 27,088

- - 86,026 10,390
(116,060) (480,284) (468,909) (56,635)
(128,042) 725,91 S 383,418 46,309
(132,154) (8,231) (258,129) (31,177)

X384,593) (1,476,321) 877,586 105,995
(]4,304) (54,275) {57,086) (6,895)

(645,990) 686,675 (251,015) (30,318)
2,409 43,306 2,367 286

455,367 448,806 218,940 26,444
137,305 1,645,883 (498,097) (60,160)

(450) 1,838 33,452 4,040

2,152,491 5,400,401 6,855,710 828,034

Unicorn incurred payables of approximately RMB 913 million, RMB 1,773 million and RMB 4,402 million
from equipment suppliers for additions of construction -in -progress during the years ended December 31, 1997.
1998 and 1999, respectively.
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CHINA UNICOM LIMITED AND TTS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF OWNER'S EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999

Year Ended December 31,

Balance, beginning of yeaz .... . ................ .
Contributions from owners ..................... .
Net income for the year .......................
Distributions to owners ........................ .

Balance, end of year .......................... .

1997 1998 1999 1<, ~99

Rt~iB RMB RMB US$
(in thousands)

4,303,343 5,175,745 6,407,922 77.3,950
684,962 2,208,919 2,254,518 272,301
599,949 372,985 839,147 101,352

(412,509) (1,349,727) (963,241) (11~i,340)

5,175,745 6,407,922 8,538,346 1,03 I ,263
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CHINA iJ1vICOM LIMTI'ED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO Tf~ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Principal Activities

China Unicorn Limited was incorporated in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the People's
Republic of China on February 8, 2004 to engage in the provision of cellular, paging, long distance, data and
Internet services in the People's Republic of China Prior to the formation of China Unicorn Limited, the paging
business was carried on by China Telecom Paging Corp. and its subsidiaries, or Guoxin whereas the cellular and
other telecommunication businesses were carried on by the head office and the various branches of China United
Telecommunications Corporation, or Unicorn Group. These entities are hereinafter collectively referred to as the
Predecessor Entities. All such businesses were transferred to China Unicorn Limited and its subsidiaries
("Unicorn"} in accordance with the restrucruring, as described below, in preparation for a public offering of
China Unicorn Limited's shares (the "Resaucturing").

Unicorn Group and Guoxin are under the supervision and regulation of the Ministry of Information Industry,
or the MII. The MII is a body established in 1998 under the direct supervision of the State Council of the
People's Republic of China to take over the regulatory responsibility for the telecommunications industry in she
People's Republic of China from its predecessor, the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications, or the MPT. A
significant portion of the transactions undertaken by Unicorn for the duee years ended December 31, 1997, 1998
and 1999, or herein referred to as the Relevant Periods was effected on terms determined 5y the MII (or the then
MPT, as the case may be) and other Chinese authorities. The MII is also responsible for implementing major
strategic decisions and policies for the telecommunication industry in the People's Republic of China developed
by the State Council, including industry res~vcturing and the resulting combination or segregation of state-owned
entities in the telecommunications Industry, which directly affects the operations of Unicorn Group and Guoxin.

Unicorn Group was established as a state-owned enterprise is the People's Republic of China in 1994 under
the approval of the State Council to build and operate cellular networks and fixed line local and domestic long
distance networks in the People's Republic of China. Unicorn Group is currently 79.18% owned directly by the
government and the remaining equity interests are held by fifteen shareholders most of which are state-owned
enterprises.

Guoxin, a subsidiary of China Telecom (as defined below), was established as a limited liability company
in September 1998. China Telecom then contributed the following asseu into Guoxin in return for 99.67% of the
equity interest in Guoxin:

(i) China Telecom's wholly -owned provincial paging businesses which were formerly controlled and
operated by China Telecom through its Provincial Posts and Telecommunications Administrations
or the PTA.

(ii} The entire equity interests in various local paging businesses which had been aperaCing under the
control of China Telecom. In preparation for the transfer of these local paging businesses to
Guoxin, China Telecom had acquired the minority interests in these local paging businesses (see
Note 15 for further information).

(ui) 58.88% of the equity capital of Shanghai Guomai Communications Co., Ltd., or Guomai, which
were originally held by China Telecom through [he former MPT. The class A ordinary shares of
Guomai are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Guoxin and iu predecessors as described above are hereinafter collectively referred to as the Paging
Business. China Telecom originally comprised the Directorate General of Telecommunications or the DGT,
provincial Post and Telecommunications Administrations or the PTA and municipal ar~d county Post and
Telecommunications Bureaus or the PTB. All these entities were state-owned entities established under the
ownership of the government. As ministries of the government, the then MPT and subsequently the MII
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CHINA IJNICOM LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO 7'~~ FIlVANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

exercised actual control over the operations of China Telecom. After the establishment of Guozin, the Paging
Business continued to operate under the control of China Telecom and the MII through Guoxin. Then ire July
1999, pursuant to a State Council decision, the 99.67% ownership interest in Guoxin was transferred from ~~hina
Telecom to Unicorn Group at no consideration.

In accordance with the Restructuring, Unicorn Group injected its entire equity interest in Guoxin together
with the following businesses into a limited liability company established in the People's Republic of China on
April 21, 2000 under the name of China Unicorn Corporation Limited:

(i) the GSM cellular businesses in 9 provinces in the People's Republic of China, namely, Guang bong,
Fujiaa, Anhui, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Shandong, Liaoning, Hebei and Hubei; and 3 municipal ~:ities,
namely, Beijing, Shanghai and Tianjin (originally undertaken by various branches of Unicorn Ciroup
and hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Cellular Business");

(ii) the nationwide domestic and international long distance telephony business including Internet proiocol-
based telephony businesses in 12 major cities in the People's Republic of China, namely, Beijing,
Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Tianjin, Dalian, Nanjing, Hangzhou, Fuzhou, Xiamen, Chon;;ging
and Chengdu originally undertaken by various branches of Unicorn Group, hereinafter referred to as
the Long Distance Business;

(iii) nationwide data and Internet businesses (hereinafter referred to as the Data Business).

Immediately following the injection of the equity interest in Guoxin and the above telecommunic~~.tions
businesses (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Relevant Branches of Unicorn") into China Unicorn
Corporation Limited, China Unicorn Limited, Unicorn Group, China Unicorn (Hong Kong) Group Limited (a
wholly owned subsidiary of Unicorn Group)("Unicorn HK"), and China Unicorn (BVI) Limited (a wholly owned
subsidiary of Unicorn HK)("Unicorn BVI") entered into an equity transfer agreement whereby Unicorn Croup
transferred its entire interest in China Unicorn Corporation Limited to China Unicorn Limited. China Unicoan
Limited then issued shares to Unicorn BVI which in turn issued shares to Unicorn HK which in turn issued s'Zares
to Unicorn Group.
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CHINA UIVICOM LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

After the Restructuring, China Unicorn Limited has direct or indirect interests in the following principal
subsidiaries. All of these subsidiaries are privately held limited companies except Guomai whose class A shares
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Place Percentage of Issued and
and date of equity fiilfy paid Principal

Name incorporadoa interest field capital activities
Direct Induect Rl€'IB

(in thousands)
China Unicorn Corporation Limited ................ 'Ibe PRC, 100% — 6,502,490 Ttlecommunication

April 21, 2000 operation
China Telecom Paging Corp . ..................... The PRC, — 99.57~Yo 6,130,308 Investment holding

September 17, 1998
Anhui Guoxin Paging Co., Ltd . ................... The PRC, — 80.004b 263,150 Paging operation

October 28. 1998
Beijing Telecommunications

Paging Co.. Ltd . ............................ "Ilse PRC. — 76.4896 133,661 Paging operation
April 10, 1998

Chongqing Guoxin Teleco*++R+~~~~catiOAS Co., Led.
("Chongqing Paging ,.) ....................... 'the PRC. — 83.5996 121,913 Paging operation

September 21, 1998
Fujian Guoxin

Teiecommunicadons Co., Ltd ................... i'he PRC, — 70.0096 825,302 Paging operation
November 27, 1998

Gansu Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd ................... The PRC, — 77.98% 90,463 Paging operation

November 13, 1998
Guangdong Guoxin Telecommunications Co., Ltd. ..... The PRC, — 84.9096 1,473,802 Paging operation

September 30, 1998
Guangxi Guoxia

Telecommunications Co., Ltd ................ . .. 7T~e PRC, — 70.00% 175,752 Paging operation
Ocwber 16, 1998

Guizhou Guoxin
Telecommuaicadoas Co., Ltd ................... The PRC, — 80.00410 62,622 Paging operation

December 8, 1998

Hainan Guoxin Telecommunications Co., Ltd.("Hainan
Paging „) .................................. 'Ihe PRC. — 80.0096 102,029 Paging operation

October 8, 1998
Hebei Guoxin

Telecommunications Co., Ltd ................... The PRC, — 80.02Rb 196,683 Paging operation
November 24, 1998

Heilongjiang Guouin Paging Co., Ltd . ........... . .. 71~e PRC, — 79.49% 349,628 Paging operation
November 10, 1998

Henan Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd ................... The PRC, — 80.00'fe 257,9(9 Paging operation

October 26, 1998

Hubei Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., LW . ............... . .. The PRC. — 80.0096 124,396 Paging operation

November 9, 1998

Haman Guoxm Teleoomm~micaaoos Co., I,od. ("H~man
Paging") .................................. The PRC, —

November 20, 1998
78.409'0 236.331 Paging operation
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NOTES TO TIME FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—{Continued)

Piece Pereeatage of Issued and
and date of equity fully paid Principal

Name incorporation interest held capital activities

Dfrect Indirect RNIB
(in thousands)

Inner Mongolia Guoxin Telecommunications Co., Ltd. .. 'Ihe PRC. — 80.0090 113,305 Paging oEKraaon
October 28, 1998

Jiangsu Guoxin Telecommunications Co., Ltd. ("Jiangsu
Paging ..) .................................. The PRC. — 64.5896 769,595 Paging oE~eration

March 25, 1998

Jiangxi Guoxin Telccommunicauons Co., Lfd.......... 'Ibe PRC, — 80.00' 152,140 Paging oFerauon
December 3, 1998

Jilin Guozin
Telecommunications Co., Lui . .................. 7t~e PRC, — 70.01 ~9a 129,825 Paging operation

October 8, 1998

Liaoning Telecommunication Paging Co., Ltd. ........ 'ihe PRC, — 68.8596 372,000 Paging oFeraaon
November 11, 1998

Ningxia Guoxin
T'elecommunicasions Co., Ltd . .................. 'Ibe PRC, — 79.9790 25,066 Paging oFerauon

October 15, 1998

Qinghai Guoxia
Telecommunications Co.. Ltd . ............ . ..... The PRC, — 100.009c 27,784 Paging operation

November 27, 1998

Shanxi Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . .................. The PRC. — 65.00% 202,752 Paging operation

December 11, 1998

Shandong Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . ............... . .. '[be PRC, — 70.00'To 341,674 Paging op:rauon

November 16, 1998

Shanxi Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . .................. 'Ibe PRC, — 79.029E 104,76! Paging op:ration

November 18, 1998

Sichuan Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . .................. 'ihe PRC, — 68.9096 386,628 Paging op;ration

September 30, 1998

Tianpn Guoxin Paging Co., Lui .................. 71~e PRC, — 7p.0045 ')0,219 Paging op;ration
October 29, 1998

Tibet Guoxin Paging Co., Lcd . .................... The PRC, — 94.3890 26,669 Paging operation
November 18, 1998

Xinjiang Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . .................. 'Ibe PRC, — 72.82~Yo 116,711 Paging op:naon

October 27. 1998

Yunnan Guoxin ~,
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . .................. 'Ihe PRC, — IQ0.00'l0 198,923 Paging ope~recion

Sep[ember 28, 1998

Zhejiang Guoxin
Telecommunications Co., Ltd . .................. The PRC, — 100.00'Yo 648,927 Paging operation

November 4, 1998

Shanghai Guomai
Communications Co., Ltd ...... . . .............. The PRC, — 58.88'10 364,683 Paging op~:ntioo

November 24, 1992
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CHINA UMCOM LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The reorganization of the Paging Business which resulted in the establishment of Guoxin and the subsequent
vansfer of the ownership interest in Guoxin to Unicorn Group were completed in accordance with reswcturing
plans for the telecommunications industry of the People's Republic of China approved by the State Council and
implemented through the MII. Unicorn Group, Guoxin and its predecessor paging business are all governed by
the strategic -planning artd policy -making mechanism of the State Council and the MII. Accordingly, the
reorganization of the Paging Business and the combination of Unicorn Group and Guoxin are considered to be a
reorganization of businesses under the common control of the State Council. In addition, upon the transfer of
ownership interest in Guoxin from China Telecom to Unicorn Gronp, Unicorn Group controlled all the
Predecessor Entities prior to the Restructuring and continues to control Unicorn after the Reswcturing.
Accordingly, the series of combination of the various telecommunications businesses and the transfer of these
businesses from Unicorn Group to Unicorn as described in Section I above have been accounted for as a
reorganization of businesses under common control in a manner similar to a pooling of interests.

On the basis described above, the financia3 statements have been prepared to present the results of operations
of the Predecessor Entities, now comprising Unicorn, for each of the three years ended December 31, 1997, 1998
and 1999 (the "Relevant Periods") and the financial position of Unicorn as at December 31, 1998 and 1999 as if
the state-owned interests in Unicorn and its subsidiaries had been held continuously by Unicorn since January 1,
1997 and the business activities had been conducted by Unicorn throughout the Relevant Periods. Consequently,
the asseu, liabilities, revenues and expenses that were clearly applicable to the businesses and operations
transferred to Unicorn are included at their recorded amounts. Other amounts for which the specific identification
method was not practical are not material and are allocated on the following basis:

[tams allocated Allocation basis

Salaries Number of employees
Accounting and legal services Number of employees
Training Number of employees
Pension costs Number of employees
Rent and depreciation Floor area
Other selling, general and administrative expenses Number of employees/revenue

Management believes that the above is a reasonable basis of estimating what Unicorn's expenses would have
been on a stand-alone basis.

All material intragroup transactions have been eliminated on combining the financial statemen[s of the
Predecessor Entities.

Unicorn Group has committed that is will provide continuous financial support to Unicorn when necessary.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong ("HK GAAP"). This basis of accounting differs from that used in the management accounts or
audited financial statemenu, which were prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to enterprises established in the People's Republic of China ("PRC GAAP").

The principal adjustments made to conform to HK GAAP include the following:

• Restatement of depreciation of property, plant and equipment based on estimated useful lives.

• Additional provision for doubtful debts.

• Reversal of expenses included in deferred assets.
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NOTES TO T'HE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

• Writedown of inventory to net reali2able value.

• Writedown of property, plant and equipment to recoverable amount.

• Reversal of revaluation surplus and related depreciation and amortization charges arising from the
revaluation of Guoxin's assets in 1998. The revaluation was performed by independen[ valuers
registered in the PRC for the establishment of Guoxin in accordance with the PRC regulations.

• Additional accrual for retirement benefits.

• Additional provision for housing subsidies.

• Provision for deferred taxation.

3. Principal Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by Unicorn in preparing the financial statements, which conform
to HK GAAP, are as follows:

(a) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and
expenses and the disclosure of contingencies. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions.

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally charged to expense in the year in
which they are incurred. When the expenditure results in an increase in the future economic benefits expect~;d to
be obtained from the use of the asset, the expenditure is capitalized.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into consideration their estimated residual value. The estimated useful lives
of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Depreciable R~:idual
life  v~~tue

Land use righu ............................................ Over the period of grant --
Buildings ................................................ 8-40 years :3%
Leasehold improvements ..................................... Over the lease term --
Telecommunications equipment ................. . ............. . 41l years :S%
Office furniture and fixtures and other ........................ . .. 4-14 years .l%

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment stated at depreciated cost is reviewed periodically in
order to assess whether the recoverable amount has declined below the carrying amount. When such a de~:line
has occurred, the cazrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount The amount of reductions is recognized
as an expense in the statement of income. In determining the recoverable amount, expected future cash flows
generated by the property, plant and equipment are discounted to their present values.
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A subsequent increase in the recoverable amount is written back to the statement of income when the
circumstances and events that led to the write -down or write-off cease to exist The amount written back is
reduced by the amount that would have been recognized as depreciation had the write -down or write-off not
occurred.

When assets are sold or retired, their costs or valuation and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from
the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposals is included in the statements of income.

(c) Construction -in progress

Construction -in -progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cosy Costs include construction and acquisition costs, and interest chazges arising
from borrowings used to finance the assets during the period of construction or installation and testing. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction -in -progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for use.

{d) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase consideration over tYte fair values of the separa~ely identifiable
assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over the
economic lives of the acquired businesses, estimated to be five to seven years. When later events and
circumstances have occurred which indicate the remaining balance of goodwill may not be recoverable, the
unamortized balance is written down to its estimated recoverable amount Estimated recoverable amount is
determined based on the estimated undiscounted net future cash flows of the related business over the remaining
life of the goodwill.

(e) Deferred expenditures and amortization

Deferred expenditures represent (i) expenditures on faciliries for interconnection with other operators, for
which Unicorn has a permanent use right, and (ii) housing subsidies arising from selling staff quarters to
employees at preferential prices lower than cost, computed based on length of service and position. Expenditures
on interconnection facilities are amortized using the straight-line method over the expected period of benefit of
five years. Housing subsidies are amortized to expense using the straight-line method over estimated service lives
of the employees.

(fj Investments

Investment securities

Equity securities intended to be held on a continuing basis are classified as investmen[ securities and
recorded at cost less provision for diminution in value.

'The carrying amounts of investment securities are reviewed at the ertd of each year to assess whether the
fair values have declined below the carrying amounts. If such a decline has occurred, the carrying amounts are
reduced and the reduction is recognized as an expense unless there is evidence that the decline is temporary.

Provisions against the carrying value of investment securities are reversed to the statements of income when
the circumstances and events that led to the writedowns or write-offs cease to exist and there is persuasive
evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future.
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Profit or loss arising from disposal or transfer of investment securities is accounted for in the statements of
income.

Trading securities

Trading securities represent government bonds and marketable securities held for dealing purposes acid are
carried at market value in current asseu in the balance sheets. Unrealized holding gains and losses are recognized
in the statements of income in the year when they arise.

(g) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an enterprise in which China Unicorn Limited holds, directly or indirectly, more than SO~Io
of the equity interest as a long-term investment and/or otherwise has the power to control the financial and
operating policies of the enterprise.

(h) Associated companies

An associated company is an enterprise, not being a subsidiary, in which China Unicorn Limited golds,
directly or indirectly, not less than 20°Ic nor more than 50% of the equity interest as a long-term investment, and
over whose financial and operating policies China Unicorn Limited is able to exercise significant influence.
Investments in associated companies are stated at cost plus China Unicorn Limited's proportionate share of
undistributed post -acquisition reserves, which is the same as the post -acquisition undistributed income or loss.

'The share of profit from associated companies represents China Unicorn Limited's proportionate share of the
post -acquisition profits earned by the associated companies. Such amounts were insignificant for the Rel:vant
Periods.

The carrying amount of an investment in associated companies is reduced to recognize a decline, other than
temporary in the value of the investment, such reduction being determined and made for each investment
individually. The amount of such write -down is charged as expense.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash on hand and liquid investmenu with original maturities of three
months or less.

(j) Inventories

Inventories, which principally comprise handsets, SIM cards, pagers and accessories, are carried at the lower
of cost or net realizable value. Cost is based on the weighted average method and comprises all costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realizable ~~alue
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion anal the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, their carrying amount is charged to expense in the year in which the revenue is
recognized. Writedowns for declines in net realizable value or for losses of inventories are recognized ~~s an
expense in the year the impairment or loss occurs.

(k) Advances from custorreers

Advances from customers are monthly fees paid by subscribers in advance or amounts paid by customers
for Internet protocol telephone cards which cover future telecommunications services (over a period of thn:e to
twelve months). Customer advances are stated at the amount of proceeds received less the amount already
recognized as revenues upon the rendering of services.
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(l) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of the assets remain with the lessor aze
accounted for as operating leases. Rental payments under operating leases are charged to expense based on the
straight-line method over the period of the leases.

(m) Borrowing costs

Interest is expensed as incurred, except for interest directly attributable to the construction projects, which
is capitalized as part of the cost of those projects. Interest is capitalized at the weighted average cost of the related
borrowings up to the date when the project is completed and ready for iu intended use. The capitalized interest
rate represents the cost of capital from raising the related borrowings externally and vanes from 9.18% to
12.42%, 6.93°/o to 10.53% and 5.85°lo to 8.64°lo for the three years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999,
respectively. Other borrowing costs are recognized as expenses when incurred.

(n) Revenue and income recognition

(1) Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will accnie to Unicorn and when
it can be measured reliably on the following bases:

• Usage fees are recognized when the service is rendered;

• Monthly fees are recognized as revenue in the month during which the services are rendered;

• Connection fees are recognized as revenue upon activation of service for subscribers;

~ Revenue from Internet protocol card sales, which represents prepaid service fees received from
customers for Internet protocol telephony services, is recognized when caliing service is rendered upon
actual usage of the Internet protocol cards by customers; and

~ Sales of equipment, such as handsets, SIM cards and pagers, are recognized when the title is passed to
the buyers.

(2) Interest income

IntErest income from deposits in banks or other financial institutions is recognized on the accrual basis.

(o) Foreign currency translation

Unicorn maintains iu books and records in Reaminbi, which is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
Transactions denominated in currencies other than Renminbi are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the ~ansactions. Monetary asseu and liabilities denominated in other currencies are
translated into Renminbi at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains or losses arising
from changes in exchange rates subsequent to the transaction dates are included in the statements of income.

(p) Retirement scheme

The cost of providing retirement benefits under defined benefit schemes is charged to expense over the
expected service lives of the employees. The fixed contributions for retirement benefiu made under defined
contribution schemes are charged to expense as incurred.
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